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Arla is a farmer owned cooperative group with owners
in Denmark, Sweden and Germany. Providing natural,
milk-based products, we are working to be the best
dairy company for 250+ million consumers in northern
Europe and the UK.
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To make this report more manageable and user friendly Arla Foods group has chosen to
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Sound basis for
continued growth

Performance price

DKK per kg cooperative
owners milk

SEK per kg cooperative
owners milk

EUR-cent per kg
cooperative owners
milk

Million kg milk, total

Owners, total

The year in brief

Net revenue, bDKK

54.9
Revenue growth, %

12

Profit for the year, bDKK
1.3
Equity, bDKK
9.3
Carbon footprint, kt CO,-e
1,403

Employees

17,417

2011 has been an eventful year for Arla when it comes to

cooperations, mergers and investments.

e Mergers with the German dairy company, Hansa-Milch,
and Swedish Milko were completed in April and November
respectively. Arla is now a Danish-Swedish-German dairy
cooperative. In November, Arla acquired German

Allgduland-Kdsereien.

e Arla issued bonds to a value of 1.5 billion SEK on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange in June. As a supplement to the
cooperatives financing sources, Arla’s British dairy farmers
in March decided to invest a further 600 million DKK in Arla

UK over the coming years.

¢ In October, the UK authorities approved the construction
of one of the world’s largest fresh milk dairies in Aylesbury

near London.

Closer to Nature
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Five keys to
understanding Arla

r) With world population growing,
@ global demand for dairy products
ison therise

L Meeting consumer needs by
t&) unlocking nature’s potential

Farmers in cooperation
secure future local production

in Arla’s search for growth

G
Globalisation leads the way
( .

C Securing an efficient and sustainable
value chain —from cow to consumer

By being Closer to Nature™ we believe
we will be able to fulfil our commitments...
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Consumer preferences go beyond price.
Ethical and environmental considerations are
increasingly important to ensure a sustainable
lifestyle. While demand for food is increasing,
sois awareness of food quality. Consumers do
not only want filling food, they want food that
looks good, tastes good, and makes them feel
good, in body and mind.

...to all our stakeholders,
including nature itself.

With world population growing, global
demand for dairy products is on the rise

In October 2011, the world population reached

7 billion. This growth will continue, with estimates
of 8 billion people by 2025. At the same time, many
finite resources are becoming scarce. This poses a
grave challenge to our lifestyles, and we now need
to find sustainable solutions to meet an increasing
demand for efficient nutrition on a global scale.

Dairy is one of the most nutritious food categories
inthe world, and Arla believes dairy products have
akey role to play in the global diet. As one of the
world’s leading dairy companies, Arla is driven by
an aim to make healthy, natural dairy products
available to everyone.

Meeting consumer needs by
unlocking nature’s potential

Always focused on the natural raw material,
always rooted in nature itself, Arla aims to be
the most natural dairy company in the global
food market. This position does not exclude
product development —quite the contrary.
Arla believes that nature holds the answer to
the global resource challenge, and as a dairy
company we want to unlock nature’s best in all

our traditional, as well as newly invented,

products.

Farmers in cooperation
secure future local production

As dairy products are turning into a global
commodity, itis increasingly difficult for local
dairies to develop. Some of our most familiar local
dairy products are under threat as rationalisation
and increased international competition challenge
local and national production by pushing down
margins for farmers.

Arlais a cooperative owned.by Danish, Swedish,
and German farmers. And as one of the leading
dairy companies in Europe, we see it as our basic
responsibility to secure high-qualitylocal milk
production, ensure the survival and continued
well-being of our owners, and assure our owners
are paid the highest possible milk price. A viable
and productive local community secures continued
prosperity of our regional areas — extending far
beyond milk production.

ARLA Annual Report 2011



ARLA Annual Report 2011

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Five keys to understanding Arla

Management report

Statement by the management and auditors
Consolidated financial statements
Management overview

Globalisation leads the way
in Arla’s search for growth

The global economy is increasingly interwoven.
Today the market for dairy products is highly
competitive and players have to be large to
succeed. Globalisation rapidly changes the
conditions for the dairy industry, which is
especially apparentin the development of
cheese and innovative dairy products such as
whey proteins. At the same time, authenticity
and origin have become major consumer
concerns —reflecting consumers’ questioning of
the speed of development.

To be able to compete on the global market, and
take advantage of growth in other parts of the
world, Arla has set ambitious growth targets.

To assure profitable growth, it is essential to
understand the different local markets. Arla
believes the key to success is combining the
best of local with the best of global —developing
healthy, innovative and tasty dairy products
close to the consumers, wherever they are.

Securing an efficient and sustainable
value chain —from cow to consumer

Consumers want dairy/products that are fresh,
of high quality and affordable —and they want
fresh dairy production to remain local. Our
challenge is to secure all this while at the same
time paying the highest possible milk price to
farmers, allowing them to develop their
businesses sustainably and get a satisfactory
return on their investment and daily work.

Arlaisin’business to secure good, long-term
earnings for its farmers. To deliver the best
value for money at all price-points, we must
have a highly efficient value chain, all the way
from cow to consumer. An efficient value chain

ey

also protects the environment, minimising
the carbon footprint all the way from farm
operation, through product development,
production plants, packaging and
transportation, to consumer enjoyment.
By continuously working an efficient and
sustainable value chain, we believe that we
best serve our farmers, our employees, our
customers, our consumers, and our
environment alike.

b Stay tuned for the keys throughout the report.
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Ake Hantoft

The involvement of our owners

ensures a steady hand in pursuing
our long term strategies, aiming to become
the best and most natural dairy company
in northern Europe and the UK.”

A letter from the chairman

The cooperative

model proves itself

I’m a milk farmer. For me, as for all 8,000 Arla owners in Denmark, Sweden and
Germany, the price of milk is of utmost importance. Every month we see the result of
our work in the price for the milk we deliver. On a yearly basis, 10 gre more or less a
litre can turn our business from loss to profit or the other way around. This is why we

keep a steady eye on the milk price.

As the chairman of Arla Foods, | believe we have to
accept milk as acommodity traded worldwide at a
daily market price. But as part of one of the world’s
most nutritious food groups, milk and dairy
products certainly belong on the political agenda.

Today Arla has owners in three countries and
contract suppliers in several others. Arla must have
aclear overview of the political decisions that could
impact on our business in various countries, and
also a firm grasp of the issues that affect these
political decisions. In 2011, Denmark introduced a
fat tax in spite of conflicting research around the
effects on health. Arla has an extensive and growing
range of low and mixed fat products. We work hard
to continuously improve the health benefits of our
products, which is why we invest heavily in research
and development.

The health of people and the environment are
prime concerns for Arla. Advancing on both of these
front lines, we can secure a healthy business for our
farmers and the Arla Group alike. In 2011, we took
important steps to improve the environmental
performance of our farms.
Arla will develop a
standard for sustainable
dairy farming to help
farmers reduce the CO,
footprint on farm, and our
farmers are already
investing in new
technology to further
improve their—and Arla’s —
environmental performance. For us, ‘Closer to
Nature’is not a slogan, it’s a faith — driven by
knowledge.

In this crucial issue, as well as many others, the
cooperative model has proven advantages. The
involvement of our owners ensures a steady hand in
pursuing our long-term strategies, aiming to
become the best and most natural dairy company in
northern Europe and the UK.

In 2011, we welcomed around 1,200 new
owners: 650 through the merger with German
Hansa-Milch and another 550 through Swedish
Milko. In addition, we added around 1,350 new
contract farmers through acquisitions. The Bavaria-

based Allgauland-Kasereien was particularly
important in our efforts to advance our position as
one of the major dairy companies in Germany.

In the Board of Directors, we have developed a
deep understanding of the differences of the
various countries in which we operate. Owners or
milk suppliers, we are all dairy farmers, operatingin
the EU and united through a common agricultural
policy, quota systems and rules and regulations that
are basically the same. But local conditions are still
not identical. Arla has a Code of Conduct to follow,
butin Germany we apply it the German way and in
the UK, in a UK manner. When it comes to
governance, as in most other areas, we believe in
combining the best of global and local.

Arla aims to grow further, supported by the
owners’ increased consolidation into the
cooperative: from revenues of around 55 billion
DKK by the end of 2011 to 75 billion DKK in 2015.
This will only be possible through an intensified
mergers and acquisitions agenda. For me, as a
chairman, it’s a clear advantage to be a dairy farmer
when | engage in merger discussions. The
companies can meet on many levels, and it
becomes apparent that we can always learn from
each other. Basically, we are all farmers and want to
get the highest possible price for our milk.

Most important is to ensure that any addition
is successfully and happily integrated into Arla, and
I highly value keeping an ongoing dialogue with our
old and new farmers. Currently, | know a lot of our
owners are experiencing a harsh financial situation.
With the economic climate hardening and the
future uncertain, itis even more important to
support each other. | want to thank you all for this
year.

Aarhus, 22 February 2012

M&w(

Ake Hantoft
Chairman

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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Well on track towards

our 2015 targets

As we all know, 2011 was a difficult year in general, at times offering a tumultuous
business environment. This was especially true for Europe, where the debt crisis
and its repercussions resulted in turmoil on many markets. Considering that Europe
accounts for over 80 per cent of our business, Arla came out very satisfactorily, with

a strong revenue growth, even better than expected, and an accelerating value growth.

Solid revenue growth

The top-line has grown by 12 per cent, reaching 55
billion DKK, and we have been able to deliver on our
Key Performance Indicator, ‘performance price’,
which is what we pay our owners overall per litre
milk, plus consolidation. The performance price has
improved by 11 per cent to 2.80 DKK, almost on par
with the best amount we have delivered ever, and
allin line with our vision to deliver the highest
possible milk price. At 1.3 billion DKK, our net result
is slightly ahead of last year’s (1.3 billion DKK),
however the performance price increase during the
year is equivalent to an additional 1.6 billion DKK
value creation for our owners.

6 per cent of our top-line growth was organic,
to alarge extent driven by price increases but also
an effect of our brands performing wellin the
marketplace. The total growth driven by our three
global brands: Arla® brand, Lurpak® and Castello®
was 9 per cent.

The dairy industry was not without its
problemsin 2011. During an economic crisis more
consumers choose to buy discount products and
less branded products. This has an effect on Arla’s
earnings. At the same time we see a growth in
demand in markets outside Europe and that will to
some extent offset the flattening growth in Europe.
It must be concluded that the dairy industry fared a
lot better than many other industries in the tough
business climate. Milk-based products, being a
basic nutrition source, show a fair resiliencein a
downturn economy.

Price increases in Europe —in spite of a
distressed economy —are a result of dairy products
truly becoming a global commodity, which affects
retail prices. Increasing demand from the BRIC
countries and other emerging economies has
impacted more evidently than before. On a global
level, some drivers are pushing prices up, while
counter tendencies hold them back or even press
them down —resulting in an increased volatility.
This is a development we must learn to live with and
preferably take advantage of. From 3 April 2012,
Arla will begin to offer dairy products on
GlobalDairyTrade, a global internet auction, which

ARLA Annual Report 2011

will broaden our customer base in the business-to-
business market.

Our top-line growth was fuelled further by a
busy mergers and acquisitions (M&A) programme,
adding a net revenue of 2.7 billion DKK. The
acquisition of Allgduland-Kasereien in Germany and
the mergers with Hansa-Milch in Germany and
Milko in Sweden were the mostimportant ones,
contributing to 2011 with revenues of 2.6 billion
DKK. In fact, we over-delivered on our M&A target
forthe year and are well on track for the long-term
target of a 75 billion DKK total revenue by 2015,
which will be achieved through a combination of
organic growth and M&A activity.

Taking an active part in the consolidation of
the European dairy industry is one of the
cornerstones of our strategy. It will stay on top of
the agenda for 2012 and all the way through to
2015.

Peder Tuborgh

Growing outside Europe,
and consolidating our position inside
While maintaining a status quo on the European
markets, we have continued to improve our market
penetration outside Europe. We have been highly
successful in emerging markets, especiallyin MENA
(Middle East and North Africa) and Russia, where
we have expanded with 27 and 33 per cent
respectively over the last year.

The Hansa-Milch merger is a breakthrough
for usin Germany, and a critical step in our
development to become
asignificant playerin the
country by 2015.
Through the merger we
have positioned
ourselves strongly in the
production of raw milkin
Germany, which was a
necessity to accomplish
acredible German strategy. Now we can develop
our position from this very strong departure point
in northern Germany, broadening our scope to
retailers across fresh products, butter, spreads and
cheese. The acquisition of Allgduland Kasereien was

Adopting Closer to Nature™ as our

basic belief was to recognise and
reaffirm our historic origin, which we believe
holds the key to our future as well.”



6

MANAGEMENT REPORT
A letter from the CEO

In order to achieve the highest
possible milk price for our owners,
and simultaneously offer consumers the best
value for money in a highly competitive
market, we have to develop the most efficient  ;nd Germany, demand
supply and value chain in our industry.”

another important step in building our German
platform, with its geographic base in southern
Germany, as well as adding high quality products to
our global cheese offering.

Arla Foods UK is another success story from
the year. In spite of the very tough market
conditions, we managed to gain market share, grow
our revenues and restore profitability, exiting the
year with earnings above the level of 2010. We also
received the go ahead for the construction of a new
Arla dairy in Aylesbury,
outside London, set to
become one of the
world’s largest fresh milk
dairies whenitis
completed in mid 2013.

In our core markets,
Denmark, Sweden, UK

was more or less flatin
2011, offering very limited
growth opportunities.

The necessity to increase the efficiency of the
dairy industry in Sweden has been obvious for many
years, but no one has been able to make significant
moves to shape the necessary structures. In
November 2011, we did precisely this through the
Milko merger. The post-merger integration process
will have a top priority for the Swedish organisation
in 2012, with the potential to establish a very
efficient operation based on a broad geographic
platform.

Finland is performing well on top-line and
market share development, but not so well on the
bottom line due to tough price conditions. We see
good potential in the Finnish market, and will
continue the implementation of a rationalisation
programme to improve efficiency and profitability.

Accelerating value growth

Improving value creation was a major priority for
2011, and it continues to be for the years to come.
In 2011, our global brands have grown faster than
the company overall, which reflects our continuous
migration to value-added products, a sign of quality
in our organic growth.

Some of our business groups have performed
very well by accelerating value growth, and this was
particularly the case with Arla Foods Ingredients.
The progress was partly due to favourable market
conditions, but to an even larger extent it was the
result of successfully offering innovative high value
products and high performance solutions. In
addition, excellent customer relations, very strong
technological platforms on the supply side and well

invested factories enabled us to deliver a top-line
growth of 24 per cent.

In 2011 we launched an ambitious working
capital programme to free up cash for additional
investments. We expect to see a significant impact
of this programme going forward.

To take alead in innovation is a key strategy to
boost value-added growth. In 2011, on a group
level, our share of net revenue from innovation was
8 per cent. Thisis a step in the right direction but
not enough. We have to accelerate progress on
innovation further.

To advance innovation output in the entire
group we’re now creating an industry-leading
innovation platform, amplifying our research and
development (R&D) and innovation capabilities. In
Arla Foods Ingredients, we have already achieved
breakthrough innovations. In 2011 we
strengthened our research and development
capacity of other milk-based substances through
the gathering of all our resources in the field under
asingle business group: Global Categories &
Operations. This forms a strong platform for our
continued work, especially as this organisation is
alsoin charge of developing and marketing our
global brands.

Internal efficiency continually in focus

To secure that top-line expansion effectively
converts to the bottom-line, we work on all fronts
to improve our internal efficiency. Our business
groups have delivered considerable savings due to
efficiency initiatives. However, to a large extent,
inflation, exchange rates and increased costs
associated with migrating towards a value-added
product mix have counteracted these measures.

For the Arla Group as a whole, we are focusing
on establishing a scalable business model, aiming to
grow revenues significantly faster than capacity
costs. We have made progress in this direction, but
there is still some way to go.

We have a Lean programme in place to
streamline our processes and take out unnecessary
complexities throughout the supply chain. Annually
we have saved approximately 400 million DKK,
getting more capacity out of the existing equipment
and other resources instead of adding new capacity.
Starting in the last quarter of 2012, we will focus on
amore structured approach regarding operational
excellence, procurement and simplification, aiming
to sustainably reduce our cost base by 500 million
DKK peryear.

In order to achieve the highest possible milk
price to our owners, and simultaneously offer
consumers the best value for their moneyin a

ARLA Annual Report 2011



highly competitive market, we have to develop the
most efficient supply and value chain in our
industry.

The advantage of being Closer to Nature™
Focusing on streamlining the supply chain has the
additional benefit of decreasing our environmental
impact in everything from sourcing, logistics and
production to packaging and marketing. We have
made significant progress in reducing our footprint,
and these efforts continue.

Adopting Closer to Nature as our belief was to
recognise and reaffirm our historic origin, which we
believe holds the key to our future as well. We know
that consumers are concerned about their health
and well-being, and increasingly also about the
health of the planet.

Consumer research in 2011 confirmed that the
perception of Arla is continuously improving,
reaching its best approval and preference levels so
far. The Arla brand is also progressively associated
with being ‘closer to nature’.

We are very proud of the sustainability work in
Arla, and believe this to be a strong competitive
advantage that will only grow in importance. We
now have a broad range of environmental initiatives
within the Closer to Nature programme that we
continued to roll outin 2011, and that will gain
further energy and momentum in 2012.

One initiative that makes us particularly proud
is the ‘Sustainability on farm’ programme that we
started during 2011. It was several years ago that
we identified that 80 per cent of the environmental
footprintin our supply chain comes directly from
our farmers’ farms. However, these being individual
legal entities and operations, it was difficult to do
anything without a strong owner mandate and
cooperative backing. We are now pioneering this
field through dialogue and education, and the
response is very promising.

Looking and going forward

Despite the fact that 2011 was a good year, the last B

quarter showed a slight pressure on performance,
reflecting a deteriorating business environment in
Europe. Again this was an industry phenomenon,
and it has obviously continued into early 2012.
Much uncertainty remains about how 2012 will
evolve, and again Europe especially offers bleak
prospects. In fact, a full recession cannot be ruled
out.

Regardless of how the economy turns out, it is
my conviction that our main focus going forward
must be twofold: continue to take an active role in
the consolidation of the industry and taking the

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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lead in innovation. Both will require investment. In
2011 we had the highest CAPEX ever; 2.2 billion
DKK, and in 2012 we will accelerate investing in our
future further.

We expect significant growth in our top-line
and our earnings to be on par with 2011, however
with a fluctuating milk price. And we firmly believe
in the many business prospects offered in the dairy
industry, and we will do our utmost to secure its
future and unlock its vast potential.

Aarhus, 22 February 2012
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Peder Tuborgh =
CEO
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Financial ratios

Netinterest bearing debt:
Short-term debt - cash and
securities + long-term debt.

Net interest bearing debt cannot
be derived directly from the
balance sheet.

Net working capital:
Inventory + Trade receivables -
Trade payables

Leverage:
Net interest-bearing debt,
including pension obligations

EBITDA

Interest cover:
EBITDA

Interest expense, net

Solvency ratio:
Equity
Balance sheet total

Organic growth:

Growth in net revenue adjusted
for acquisitions, disposals,
changesin currencies and
changes in accounting policies.

Performance price:

Average on-account price paid
(standardised at 4.2 per cent
fat/3.4 per cent protein) plus
profit/loss for the year translated
into gre per kg milk from
members.

EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortisation

Key figures

Financial highlights

DKK million 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Income statement
Net revenue 54,893 49,030 46,230 49,469 47,742
Operating profit 1,665 1,684 1,412 1,149 1,520
Net financials -305 -294 -232 -862 -562
Profit for the year 1,311 1,268 971 556 938
Balance sheet
Total assets 34,903 30,097 30,094 29,280 30,725
Total fixed assets 18,497 17,004 16,782 15,205 17,473
Investments in property, plant
and equipment -2,165 -1,508 -1,618 -1,447 -1,895
Total current assets 16,406 13,093 13,312 14,075 13,252
Equity 9,328 8,580 8,281 7,797 8,145
Consolidation:
Reconsolidation according to
Articles of Association - - - 121 121
Capital account 547 466 0 0 0
Delivery-based owner certificates 0 0 311 176 174
Contributed capital 273 233 - - -
Strategy fund 0 -462 0 122 140
Supplementary payments 491 1,031 660 137 503
Total provisions 2,002 1,982 2,101 2,064 3,161
Total long-term liabilities 9,031 7,359 7,816 7,793 7,208
Total short-term liabilities 14,374 12,060 11,768 11,482 12,064
Net interest bearing debt incl. pension
liabilities 11,455 10,041 10,257 11,441 11,757
Net working capital 6,213 4,691 4,546 5,626 5,330
Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities 2,301 2,552 3,402 1,388 3,285
Cash flow from investing activities -2,482 -1,626 -2,392 -1,082 —4,298
Purchase of enterprises -149 0 -729 -181 -3,293
Cash flow from financing activities 1,374 -2,392 -526 733 2,835
Financial ratios
Leverage 3.2 2.7 3.2 3.7 3.2
Interest cover 10.1 10.0 9.0 3.4 6.3
Solvency ratio 27% 29% 28% 27% 27%

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 Total owners

. Hansa Arla Milch eG is formally is
Performance price 1 member of Arla Foods amba.
DKK per kg cooperative owner milk 2.80 2.52 2.14 2.82 2.47 This cooperative has 645 owners
SEK per kg cooperative owner milk 3.74 3.49 2.91 3.61 3.07 at 31 December 2011.
EUR-cent per kg cooperative owner milk 37.3 - - - -
Inflow of raw milk
Total million kg milk weighed in by the
group 9,241 8,713 8,660 8,243 8,360
Owners in Denmark 4,320 4,345 4,253 3,911 3,976
Owners in Sweden 1,819 1,829 1,894 1,943 1,957
Owners in Germany 369 - - - -
Other 2,733 2,539 2,513 2,389 2,427
Total owners at 31 December
In Denmark 3,514 3,649 3,838 3,906 4,170
In Sweden 3,865 3,529 3,787 4,090 4,352
In Germany 645 - - - -
Total 8,024 7,178 7,625 7,996 8,522

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 Consumers’ perception
Emplovees In Denmark, Sweden and Finland
ploy Arla measures consumer
Employees, full time 17,417 16,215 16,231 16,233 16,559 perception of the company and
Employees by gender. Men/women, per cent 73/27 72/28 73/27 - - its products annualy. The table
shows the total score on a scale
where 100 is the best.

Consumers' perception of Arla
Denmark, index 0 to 100 64.9 61.0 58.6 57.6 -
Sweden, index 0 to 100 77.7 71.3 74.3 75.5 -
Finland, index 0 to 100 73.1 69.5 71.7 73.0 -
Recalls
Product recalls from customers and/or
consumers 4 0 4 2 7
Environment
Energy consumption, GWh 2,625 2,653 2,559 2,636 2,658
Carbon footprint, kt CO,-e 1,403 1,443 1,441 1,435 1,432

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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WORLD MARKET
COMMODITY PRICES
€/tonnes
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Market outlook

A volatile market, but favourable
prospects long-term

The long-term outlook for demand for dairy products is positive, gaining from basic
global needs and more sophisticated consumer demand patterns. This is particularly
the case in the quickly maturing emerging markets. Short-term, market conditions
can be expected to stay volatile, reflecting a weakened global economy following the
Eurozone debt crisis.

The global dairy commodity market comprises five mainly by developing countries - especially China,
main product categories: whole milk powder Russia, and the MENA region (Middle East and
(WMP), skimmed milk powder (SMP), cheese, North Africa). Between 2011 and 2020, developing
butter, and whey proteins. The market for regions are expected to show a general

consumer products is mainly local, butincreasingly ~ consumption growth of around 30 per cent, and
global when it comes to processed products suchas  dairy will have its share of this.

cheese. The economic prospect for the EU, and its
impact on food consumption and expenditure, was
uncertain at the end of 2011. It will largely depend
on the policies chosen to address the debt crisis.
The export dependent nations of Northern Europe

A bumpy five year period

In 2007, global dairy commodity prices started to

boom, doublingin value in avery shorttime. The

price spike prevailed over a couple of years, and rely heavily on developmentsin the eurozone,

then quickly returned to pre-boom levels in the where the economic crisis in recent years has

beginning of 2009. Since then, the price has steadily  helped discount products gain market share at the

increased, although with a higher volatility than expense of branded products.

previously. With increasing worldwide demand and the

Despite the overall positive trend, 2011 was a globalisation of the dairy market, the competitive

year of declining dairy commodity prices. This can landscape for dairy companies is getting tougher.

be explained as a combination of market correction, During 2011, retailers further advanced their

economic stagnation in the US and Europe slowing positions within the dairy category, aggressively

down western demand, and Russia and China pushing own labelled discount products. With dairy

relying on inventories rather than purchasing. products being a price sensitive commodity,
success for dairy companies in this environment

A positive outlook depends greatly on the ability to reduce the cost of

Looking ahead, global demand for dairy productsis = production. The ongoing consolidation of the

expected to grow over the coming five years, with European dairy industry is a response to these

an estimated growth rate of 2.4 per cent per year. drivers, creating a new market landscape with

While high consumption in mature markets is fewer and larger players.

expected to prevail, the growth will be driven

Drivers and obstacles of the global dairy market

Drivers

¢ Rising global demand for highly

efficient nutritional products

e Dairyindustry consolidation

e Search for new value markets/search

for growth

Obstacles

e EUrecession lowering short-term

demand on mature markets

e Increasing milk production/
increased competition

¢ Increasing retail competition/
price wars

ARLA

Annual Report 2011



Latin

America

. Expected demand in billion kg,
milk during the period 2010-2020

Production in a volatile environment

In recent years, the operating environment for
dairy farmers in Europe has become increasingly
complex. The cost of raw milk and commodity
ingredients has doubled since 2008, and price
volatility has increased significantly. This has led to
political interventions, on EU and national levels. At
the same time, competition has increased from
suppliers in countries such as New Zealand,
Australia, Argentina, and Brazil.

Increased volatility contributes to a lower total
return on asset (ROA) for milk producers. Future
growth might well be negatively affected by the
new risk/return profile. Increased risk tends to
impact negatively on investment appetite, leaving
farmersin avulnerable and insecure position —
forced to cut operational costs in order to protect
operating margins. In this environment, the
benefits of belonging to a large dairy cooperative
grow increasingly clear.

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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New products create new markets

Since the 1990s, health trends and rising incomes in
the west have driven anincreasing demand for
nutritional and customised wellness products. This
has sparked a focus on innovation within the food
and beverage industries, as seen for example in the
development of high-protein sports drinks and
protein supplements. In the dairy industry,
development has centred around the evolution of
whey proteins —a product category answering up to
demand patterns in developed markets, as well as
the need for cheaper dairy products in lower
income regions.

Statement by the management and auditors
Consolidated financial statements

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Market outlook

Management report

Management overview

The rest
of Asia

Arla Foods
joins the GDT

Arla Foods will begin to offer
dairy products on the
GlobalDairyTrade.com auction
(GDT) from April 2012. With Arla
Foods participating as a seller on
the global site, the Group’s
exposure to bidders around the
world has been significantly
increased. Arla will start by
offering skimmed milk powder
(SMP), with plans to expand the
product range in the future.

11
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Strategy

Arla’s positioning goals

We aim to be the best dairy
company for 250+ million
consumersin Northern Europe
and the UK.

Arla’s positioning goals 2015.
(Current position within
brackets.)

*No.1inUK(2)

e No.1linSweden (1)

¢ No. lin Denmark (1)

e No.2inFinland (2)

¢ No. 2 inthe Netherlands (2)
¢ Top 3in Germany (7)

Arla also aims for a strong
presence in the company’s
growth markets:

¢ Russia, USA, China, The Middle
East/North Africa, and Poland

r
Strategic ambition 2015 L

Strategy

‘Strategy 2015’ update

To stay ahead of an ever-changing business environment, and to maintain clear
focus of its vision, Arla develops distinct targets and strategies to guide its daily

operations.

Continued progress on ‘Strategy 2015’

The first five years of this century was an eventful
period for the European dairy industry. New market
conditions saw retailers grow stronger, increased
disposable income empowered consumers, and
new consumer trends and heightened competition
emerged. Together, these factors called for a drastic
re-evaluation of strategies in the industry.

To proactively meet these developments, Arla
launched ‘Strategy 2015’ in 2008. Organised under
five key headings, Arla’s strategy —supported by
financial as well as non-financial targets — helps all
levels of the company navigate this new business
landscape.

‘Strategy 2015’

—activities 2011 and mid-term results

The best dairy in Northern Europe and the UK
Status 2011:In 2011, Arlaincreased its presence
in Germany by merging with Hansa-Milch and
acquiring Allgauland-Kasereien. Following the
deals, the product range on the German market
expanded, with revenue doubling during the year
toreach close to 4 billion DKK. In the UK, Arlais
building a new fresh milk dairy which, when built,
will be one of the world’s largest. In Sweden, the
Competition Authority approved a merger with
Milko —the third largest dairy in the country —in
October.

Three strong global brands

Status 2011: Arla has now launched the trademark
Arla® and the positioning statement Closer to
Nature™ in all core markets, as well as on a number
of value and growth markets. Consumer surveys
indicate a growing awareness of the positioning
statement, as well as its growing identification with
Arla.

During the year, sales under the Arla® brand
have increased on some markets, but have fallen
slightly on others; the latter mainly due to
increased demand for discount products. Arla
actively positions itself as a quality brand, with
House of Castello® offering premium cheeses,
Lurpak® offering high-quality butter and spreads
and Arla® offering, among other things, a large
number of organic products. Despite temporary
setbacks, Arla believes that the quality positioning
promotes the company’s market position in the
long run.

Doubled sales of refined protein products

and a global leader in whey proteins

Status 2011: Arla’s expertise in milk-based
components and products is concentrated A(g'yz
in Arla Foods Ingredients (AFl), a fully-owned
subsidiary. Aiming to address nutritional and
functional challenges in the food industry, the
company is aninnovation leader within protein and
lactose products for such diverse areas as infant

Three strategic focus areas

¢ Best dairy for the 250+ million
consumersin Northern Europe
and the UK

¢ Three global brands

¢ Doubled sales of refined protein
products and a global leader in
whey proteins

¢ Arevenue of 75 billion DKK
¢ Highest possible milk price

VALUE ADDED GROWTH

* Generate sustainable top-line
growth

¢ Build a strong Arla brand based
on naturalness and build global
brand positions for Castello
and Lurpak

¢ Develop market-leading
category positions across core
and growth markets, and
maximise returnsin value
markets

 Build best-in-industry
innovation capabilities

STRUCTURALDEVELOPMENT

¢ Pursue mergersand
acquisition and consolidation
opportunities

¢ Seek industry consolidation to
build core markets

e Invest to build revenue growth
and value creation in growth
markets

¢ Build leading global whey
business

INTERNAL EFFICIENCY

* Generate sustainable margin
improvement

¢ Accelerate Lean throughout
Arla Foods

e Implement group efficiency
programme across entire
supply chain

¢ Develop commercial
excellence in marketing, sales,
brand building, and innovation

ARLA Annual Report 2011




nutrition, ready meals, sport nutrition and bakery.
Arla Foods Ingredients grew rapidly in 2011: its
revenue increased by 25 per cent. AFl has major
investments projects underway, including
upgrades and expansions to its whey processing
plantin Denmark (due to become operational in
2012), which will significantly increase its capacity
to produce speciality proteins.

A revenue of 75 billion DKK
Status 2011: Arla’s ambitious growth is fuelled by
organic development, mergers, and acquisitions.
Since the volume target of 75 billion DKK was setin
2008, Arla has grown, especially during 2011 when
Arla completed several important mergers. In 2011
Arla’s revenue was 55 billion DKK. Nevertheless,
Arla’s geographic strategy aims to mix stable,
mature positions in core markets with
expansion and rapid growth in selected
value and growth markets. In 2011, Arla
successfully completed several strategic mergers
within core markets.

Ke
no.y4

Highest possible milk price

Status 2011: Arla’s vision captures the overriding
goal and essence of cooperation: to pay Arla
owners the highest possible milk price. All Arla’s
targets and strategies support this goal. The price
of milk is affected by a range of factors far beyond
the reach and influence of Arla. Nevertheless, Arla
aims to keep the financials sound and strong so that
Arla can—as much as possible — protect farmers
against short-term market fluctuations. In 2009,
Arlaimplemented a substantial savings package
that successfully smoothed the ride through the
difficult years. In 2010, Arla owners agreed to an
increased consolidation —a critical step for Arla to
be able to support the acquisition strategy.

Mergers and acquisitions

Company, market

Type, date

Boxholm, Sweden

Faurholt & Thrane, Denmark
Hansa-Milch, Germany
Milko, Sweden

Allgduland-Kaserien,
Germany

ARLA Annual Report 2011

Acquisition, 1 March
Acquisition, 1 April
Merger, 1 April
Merger, 1 November

Acquisition, 1 November

Next step - Three strategic priorities for 2012

Now at the midpoint of the journey towards
‘Strategy 2015’, Arla can be pleased that overall it
has delivered well on the targets set. Nevertheless,
in some areas there isample room for improvement
and a need for special efforts to ensure that Arla
fully reaches its targets. To this end, each year, Arla
identifies strategic focus areas for management to
prioritise. In each area, Arla systematically monitors
and evaluates performance against targets.

For 2012, Arla has identified

four areas requiring special attention:

e Establishing a competitive cost position —
sustainably reducing the cost base further by at
least 500 million DKK within 18 months. A growth
agenda demands cost control. This can only be
done through a structural approach, soin 2012
Arla will identify areas for sustainable cost savings
and begin to implement the necessary changes.

e Accelerating innovation —fuelling volume growth
of brand business on the existing cost base.

e Building momentum around the Closer to Nature
campaign —leveraging consumer acceptance of
the commitment to being the most natural dairy
company in the market.

e Establishing Germany as a core market
—advancing from seventh to fifth position through
organic growth and mergers and acquisition
activity.

Financing the growth strategy

To finance Arla’s growth strategy and spread risks, Arla
decided in 2011 to widen its financing platform. The
bond issue proved animmediate success: in less than
24 hours, the bonds issued on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange were fully subscribed. With a maturity of five
years, 60 per cent of the bonds were bought by
Swedish pension fund providers and professional
wealth managers, with banks also featuring as large
buyers.

Arla’s ability to attract capital on the public market and
borrow on such favourable terms is made possible
through the consolidation given by its owners (see
more on pp. 28-29).

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Strategy

Management report

Statement by the management and auditors
Consolidated financial statements
Management overview

REVENUE ARLA FOODS
Million DKK

CAGR
+8.4%

/’

40,000 — — —

80,000

60,000

20,000

0
09 10 11 12 13 14 15

Arla’s strategic target: Arevenue
of 75 billion DKK. During the
period 2009-2011 CAGR was +9
per cent. The period 2011-2015
would be CAGR +8,4 per cent.
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Organisation

Business group Global Categories
and Operations, GCO, with the
overall responsibility for the
brands Castello®, Lurpak® and
Arla®, has in several core markets
undertaken a widescale relaunch
of Castello®.

Organisation

Securing an upper hand
by changes in organisation

Arla is a growing company operating in a
dynamic environment. To realise goals
and strategies, Arla continually evaluates
the organisational structure, securing
the ability to deal with challenges and
take advantage of opportunities.

Arla’s structure comprises both corporate functions
and business groups for regional markets. The
business group, Global Categories & Operations
(GCO), focuses on global brands, products, and
innovation. The business groups, Consumer UK,
Consumer Sweden, and Consumer Denmark, focus
on identified core markets where the aim is to build
and retain a strong position. Such a national setup
brings decisions closer to the source and the
organisation closer to the consumers. Arla is also
presentin alarge number of growth and value
markets, managed by the business group,
Consumer International. Read more about Arla’s
business groups on pages 16-27.

New organisation 2011

These past few years have provided ample proof of
the need to improve efficiency in decision-making
and execution. On 1 October 2011, Arla

implemented a number of organisational changes,
with the main purpose of shortening the distance
between decision and execution.

The new set-up primarily affects the core
markets of Denmark and Sweden. From having
formed one common business group — Consumer
Nordic (CNO) —these two national markets now
represent separate business groups: Consumer
Denmark (CDK) and Consumer Sweden (CSE)
(including Finland).

Denmark, Sweden, and Finland together
represent circa one third of Arla’s revenue and
Consumer Nordic was originally formed to exploit
synergies between the neighbouring countries. The
Danish and the Swedish markets are mainly driven
by demand for fresh products, a product category
Arla previously offered only in the Nordics and the
UK. But as the fresh product market has expanded —
and continues to expand —so too does the offering,
with the segment now including Germany and the
Netherlands.

Focus on brands and products gathered in GCO
With global competitors and global products,
product development must also be driven globally.
Research and development is expensive and
requires critical mass for successful execution.
With this in mind, GCO is the focus for all
competence in innovation. Also on an operational
level, research and development of fresh products
was, in 2011, concentrated in the new Arla Strategic
Innovation Centre (ASIC). GCO has the overall
responsibility for the three global brands —
Castello®, Lurpak®, and Arla® —and is realising the
efficiency and quality gains that flow from
gathering all market communication in one unit.
Arlais characterised by a balance between
local and global organisations, enhanced by
cooperation and a productive division of Ke'
labour. Arla’s strategy is to be close to the
customer — with sales, production and logistics
handled on a national level, like other agile and
efficient companies.

Restructuring in Consumer International
Consumer International (CIN) is responsible for the
sale and marketing of cheese, butter, and milk
powder outside Sweden, Denmark, Finland, the UK,
and (until January 2012) Germany and the
Netherlands.

Having acquired two dairy companies in
Germany during 2011, Arla is now the seventh
largest dairy company in the country. Germany now
has core market status in Arla and, as of 1 January

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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Corporate Centre and Global Business Services
Global tasks, which extend across the entire organisation,
are handled by four global business service functions
which are responsible for long-term development and
provide operational support.

Corporate Human Resources

Executive Board

Corporate Affairs

Corporate Finance & IT

Corporate Supply Chain
I | I

Glob?I Consumer Consumer
CELEElEa International UK
Operations

2012, is served by the new business group,
Consumer Germany & Netherlands (CNG). Arla sees
great potential in Germany as it continues to grow
and takes market share on the continent.

Arla Foods Ingredients —an own company

From 1 April 2011, Arla’s whey-related business was
hived off to a subsidiary — Arla Foods Ingredients
group P/S. The purpose was to ensure the necessary
growth and business focus. The new company is
established with its own development department,
production, application centres, marketing and
sales, and joint venture collaboration.

ARLA Annual Report 2011

_________ .
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Arla Foods
Ingredients*

Consumer
Denmark

Consumer
Sweden

*Subsidiary

Changes in the management group

The Nordic restructuring also affects the formation
of the Arla Executive Management Group (EMG).
The Executive Vice Presidents of the two new
business groups — Christer Aberg (CSE) and Peter
Gigrtz-Carlsen (CDK) — have joined the EMG, which
now totals 10 executives including Finn S. Hansen,
whoisin charge of CIN from January 2012. Arla
considers direct dialogue between the EMG and the
operational leadership essential for the successful
implementation of its strategies.

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Organisation

Management report

Statement by the management and auditors
Consolidated financial statements
Management overview

Global Categories & Operations, GCO,
has overall responsibility for the global
brands Arla®, Lurpak® and Castello®.
GCO is the main driver of innovation
and also handles milk planning,
logistics, B2B and production of butter,
cheese and milk powder.

Consumer International, CIN, covers
market and sales outside the other
business groups for cheese, butter and
milk powder. From 2012, Germany and
the Netherlands form a new business
group, CGN, which covers production,
logistics, market and retail sales in the
two countries.

Consumer UK, CUK, covers production
and logistics of milk, butter, cream and
arange of fresh dairy products in the
UK, as well as marketing and retail
salesin the UK. Consumer UK
comprises the subsidiary Arla Foods
UK plc and handles exports from
Denmark and Sweden to the UK.

Consumer Sweden (and Finland), CSE,
covers production and logistics of
fresh milk and fermented productsin
Sweden, as well as market and retail
sales responsibility in Sweden. CSE also
comprises Finland and the Finnish
subsidiary Arla Ingman.

Consumer Denmark, CDK, covers
production and logistics of fresh milk,
ultra-high-temperature and
fermented productsin Denmark, as
well as market and retail sales
responsibility in Denmark.

Arla Foods Ingredients, AFI,
specialisesin the development and
application of functional and
nutritional ingredients derived from
natural milk whey. AFlis a subsidiary of
Arla Foods.

2011 HAS BEEN AN INTENSE YEAR FOR ARLA
Read more about the developments within our

five business groups, and our strategic subsidiary
Arla Foods Ingredients, on the following pages.
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Business Group Global Categories & Operations

Key figures 2011

REVENUE BRANDS,
million DKK

Lurpak® I +13%

Castello® I +7.8%

0 10,000 20,000 30,000

W 2011
| 2010

Revenue from products under
Arla’s three global brands
expanded during the year.

Global Categories & Operations

Growing the global brands
through continuous innovation

Arla Foods’ business group Global Categories & Operations (GCO) strives to create
growth by ensuring customers and consumers receive the market’s most innovative,
high quality products within BSM, cheese and milk powder, produced competitively
and efficiently, and promoted through the best concepts and brands in the market.
GCO is responsible for Arla’s innovation, research, supply chain and global marketing
development —and for the three global brands Arla®, Lurpak® and Castello®.

Strategic activities 2011

Innovation

Radical as well as incremental innovation will be
one of the main drivers of Arla’s future growth.
Therefore, Arla Strategic Innovation Centre (ASIC),
with facilities in Denmark and Sweden, was
inaugurated in 2011 as part of GCO.

Arla’s innovation strategy evolves around the
consumer and is brought to life through ASIC’s five
focal areas: sustainability, new food forms,
manufacturing efficiency, milk power, and
microbiology. ASIC will play a leading role in
converting ideas into products to be offered on the
market —and will work as a bridge between the
marketing department and innovation.

ASICincludes Arla’s pilot plant in Brabrand
which, among numerous other projects, has played
acrucial role in developing Arla’s first Danish raw

milk cheese, that will be launched in 2012 as part of
the Arla Unika cheese line.

Product categories and brands

In 2011 the Arla brand was included in GCO aside
Castello® and Lurpak® in order to optimise global
brand synergies and let the Arla brand take the lead
in driving category growth. The development of the
Arla brand will be accelerated by consolidating the
right competences and by bringing the Arla brand
closer to innovation and the markets. The Arla
brand demonstrated a significant growth of 8 per
centin 2011 with a revenue of 20,600 million DKK
(19,008 million DKK).

The launch of Castello® as a global brand for
premium cheeses was completed in 2011 Key
and was a promising kick-off for Castello®asa  19-4
powerful platform for growth. By the end of

ARLA Annual Report 2011



2011, Castello® had a revenue of 1,374 million DKK
(1,274 million DKK) and grew by a substantial
8 per cent.

Other significant cheese releases in 2011 were
Arla Klovborg® Nettles & Rosemary, the Arla
Apetina® salad solutions, grilled cheese, Arla Buko®
Rucola pesto as Arla Buko® ‘des jahres’ and the
Paneer cheese as part of the Savera line, a range of
Indian inspired dairy products.

In BSM (butter, spreads and margarine)
Lurpak® grew with an impressive 13 per centin
2011, reaching a revenue of 2,926 million DKK
(2,589 million DKK). The most significant launch was
the Arla Kaergarden 43%.

Supply chain
GCO’s supply chain consists of 28 butter, cheese
and powder production sites in Denmark (21) and
Sweden (7), all focused on producing top quality,
competitive products for the global market.

During 2011 GCO continued to rationalise its
yellow cheese production in order to maintain
competitive prices and a varied product range. A
new structure for yellow cheese production has
been decided, with implementation started in
2011.

An investment of approximately 670 million
DKK includes development of the two dairies
Nr. Vium and Taulov in Denmark, and the closing
down of the facility in Falkenberg (SE), to be fully
implemented by 2014. An analysis of a presumed
benefit of the closure of the units in Klovborg and
Hjgrring (both Denmark) was conducted in 2011,
and a closure decided in the beginning of 2012.

During the year GCO continued its focus on
production efficiency by implementing Lean
production techniques on a number of sites and by
the end of 2011 totalled 10 sites.

Business Group Global Categories & Operations

Trade & Planning

GCO T&P isresponsible for Arla’s overall trading
and business-to-business sales, which mainly
consist of milk powder and mozzarella for the food
industry. T&P operates in a volatile environment,
howeverin 2011 the unit succeeded in trading the
milk volume and product mix at a very
satisfying level. During the year, it was
decided that as of 1 April 2012, Arla will
begin to offer its products on GlobalDairyTrade.
com, an auction platform for internationally-traded
commodity dairy products.

no.'1

Sustainable business

Since 2011 Arla has been involved in the running of
a biogas plant on Gotland, Sweden. The plant
produces methane from agricultural animal
manure and waste products from Arla’s
production. With environmental, economical and
social gains made - the plant has been a success.
Arlais now looking to set up a similar plantin
Videbaek, Denmark. The extensive project is
calculated to resultin a yearly production of 16
million cubic metres of methane — making it the
largest biogas plantin Denmark. The plant will
supply biogas energy to Arlas facilities, Denmark
Protein and Arinco, reducing CO, emission from
the production.

Looking forward

Continued development of the three global brands
will be a top priority for Arlain the years to come. In
2012, efforts will be made to further boost the
brands’ profiles and sales. The strong focus on
innovation will prevail, and there will be more
ventures to increase the dialogue with consumers
and customers. Increased structural efficiency and
Lean techniques will also continue to be focus areas
for supply chain, with nine sites expected to
implement Lean in 2012.

Some products under the three global brands Arla®, Lurpak® and Castello®.

=

..
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Jais Valeur

Q&A with Jais Valeur, Executive Vice
President, Global Categories &
Operations

How was 2011
for GCO overall?

“I’'m pleased with our performance
and activities during the year. We have
carried through a range of efficiency
projects, and we are making good
progress in driving Arla’s general
strategy through focusing on the
bottom-line.”

What will be the
main focus in 20127

“To continue the ongoing good work to
establish our three global brands as
global leaders in their respective fields.
We will continue to have a strong focus
on growth, with GCO being a key player
when it comes to Arla’s organic
growth. Another focal area will be
operational excellence as we continue
the drive towards developing and
strengthening a cost competitive and
efficient production set-up.”

Which are GCO’s
main strengths?

“I'd say our main strength is the broad
combination of capabilities we bring
together. GCO covers most of the value
chain and we combine strong abilities
within logistics, supply chain,
innovation and marketing. This quite
unusual mix makes us efficient and well
suited to meet and answer to the
needs and demands that will be placed
on companies such asoursin the
future.”

GLOBAL CATEGORIES

& OPERATIONS

Executive Vice President: Jais Valeur
Head office: Aarhus, Denmark
Number of colleagues: 5,106
Product categories: Yellow cheese,

speciality cheese, butter and spreads
and powder

28 production sitesin Denmark and
Sweden
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Business Group Consumer International

Consumer International

Expanding our business worldwide

Key figures 2011
REVENUE,

million DKK
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Arla operates in five continents, and business group Consumer International (CIN)
handles business outside Denmark, Sweden, Finland and the UK. To increase focus on
REVENUE CATEGORIES, Germany, and take advantage of the opportunities offered in the German market,
million DKK ‘ Germany together with the Netherlands has become a separate business group as of
1January 2012. With dairy consumption increasing on a worldwide level, CIN aims to
increase its market volume share — especially in growth regions.

Market outlook volume share has expanded during the year, with
The international dairy market expanded during an overall organic growth of 10 per cent.

2011. Even if dairy consumption on mature markets

has been stable or, in some areas, even declined for ~ Products and production

years, this was countered by an increased In Africa, Asia and South America, Arla’s
consumption in regions such as the Middle East, performance in 2011 was satisfactory. In these
B Freshdairy products 1,772 Asia and many African states. The general outlook areas, Arla focuses on offering high nutritional
h 6554 for global dairy consumption is positive, with products at affordable prices. Benefitting Key
I Cheese ! growth expected to continue as the general welfare  from a growing market, sales of consumer Mol
Butter and spreads 1,277 increases. milk powder have been well over target in the
I wilk powder 1,632 Middle East and in Africa, where Arla has identified
Other 250 Strategic activities 2011 continued good business opportunities in the years
CIN delivered strong results for 2011, with revenue  to come. The fresh product range was extended in
of 11.485 million DKK (10.506 million DKK). Sales North Africa and the Middle East, where there has
rose especially within milk powder, butter and the been growth within all product categories. The
cream cheese categories, and Arla’s three global revenue of the brands Dano® (milk powder) and
brands all showed improved performance. The Puck® (cream, cream cheese and white cheese) are
Arla® brand grew by 12 per cent, Lurpak® by 21 per expanding — Puck® with 41 per cent over the year,
cent and Castello® by 8 per cent. CIN’s market and 51 per cent for Dano®.
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Developmentin Arla’s joint venture Mengniu Arlain
China showed a growth in revenue in 2011 and
earnings are on track. Dairy is not a part of the
traditional Chinese diet — but with Western habits
now spreading, great growth opportunities are
offered.

Russia continued to grow in 2011 and Arla
strengthened its branded growth through better
distribution and investments in marketing spent on
products under the Arla® brand and Lurpak®.

In Europe and the US, consumers showed
increased price sensitivity during 2011. In this
context, retailers are key competitors, many having
launched their own private label dairy products,
offered mostly in the low-price segment. Arla
opened its newly extended dairy in Wisconsin, in
north-central USA in August. The American market
has shown good growth rates for Arla, however
earnings have been challenged by a higher milk
price paid back to American farmers.

Mergers and acquisitions

During 2011, Germany was a strong focus for CIN.
With around 80 million consumers, high average
milk consumption and a strong economy, the
German market is strategically important to Arla.
With effect from 1 January 2012, Germany will form
anindependent business group, Consumer
Germany and the Netherlands, as Arla is looking to
exploit synergies within and between the
neighbouring countries.

In April 2011, Arla merged with the German
dairy company, Hansa-Milch, located in the north
of the country. Hansa-Milch produces fresh milk
products both under its own brands and for private
labels. From 2012, Hansa-Milch will contribute to
revenue of approximately 2 billion DKK on a yearly
basis. The trademark Hansano®, strong within fresh
dairy products, is an important complement to Arla
products sold in Germany, such as fresh cheese Arla

Buko® and white cheese Arla Apetina®. In 2011, the
Hansano® trademark had revenue of 429 million
DKK (420 million DKK in 2010).

In November 2011 an acquisition was
completed in Germany, with Allgduland-K&sereien,
based in the south of the country. Allgduland-
Kasereien produces specialty cheeses and their
products will be a good complement to Arla’s
existing cheese range.

With these two additions, Arla is the seventh
largest dairy company in Germany (as of 31
December 2011). Arla has set a strategic goal of
becoming the third largest dairy in Germany, and
continues to be the second largest in the
Netherlands.

With the formation of an independent
business group, the responsibility for the sales and
marketing of Arla in Germany will be centred at
Arla’s local headquarters in Dusseldorf. Key
Integration of the newly added businesses, no.’5
production sites and products will be a major
focus for 2012.

Investments and restructuring
CIN runs production sites on four continents —in
Europe, Africa, South America and North America.
During the year, Arla has built a new
organisation for sales and marketing in Russia. In
Poland, Arlais in the process of divesting the
production plant in Goscino, moving the
production of mozzarella cheese to the
Redkaersbro plantin Denmark.

Looking forward

The lead focus for 2012 is to secure Arla’s strong
development in growth markets outside Europe
such asin North Africa, the Middle East and Russia.
As growth rates in Europe are flattening, future
growth is expected mainly from markets outside
the region.

Some of CIN’s brands and products
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Tim @rting Jorgensen

Q&A with Tim @rting Jgrgensen,
Executive Vice President, Consumer
International

How was 2011
for CIN overall?

“It was a good year with strong growth
on several markets. Sales have grown
in markets outside Europe and despite
tough market conditions in the
Eurozone, we managed to deliver both
organic growth and growth through
mergers and acquisitions. Our three
core brands also developed well.”

What will be the
main focus in 2012?

“Three important focus areas
immediately come to mind: Expanding
the milk powder business in retail and
child nutrition; taking the next steps
towards fulfilling our strategic
ambition in Germany and Russia; and
keeping a strong focus on growth
especially of our branded business.”

Which are CIN’s
main strengths?

“We have developed a strong and
dedicated organisation which has
managed to double revenue in CIN
over the past five years. This
organisation is committed to growth
and is well prepared to meet demands
from different parts of the world. To
this can be added a strong
management portfolio and a business
culture that allows delegation, making
us agile and efficient.”

CONSUMER INTERNATIONAL
Executive Vice President: Tim @rting
Jgrgensen. From January 2012:
FinnS.Hansen

Head office: Aarhus, Denmark
Number of colleagues: 3,290

Product categories: Sales and
marketing of consumer-related
products on international markets.

Eleven production sites in Europe,
North America and the Middle East.
Ajointventure milk powder plantin

China and two powder packaging sites
in Africa.
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Consumer UK

Continued growth

despite a difficult market

Arla is the second largest dairy company in the UK. Arla’s fresh dairy products, as
well as butter, are produced in the country, but Arla also complements the British
offering with products from dairies in Sweden and Denmark.

Market outlook

The UK market remained weak in 2011. The country
was affected by the pressure on the global
economy, struggling with a lack of job security, high
costs of living, and various austerity measures. In
this environment, price has become a major
consumer concern and discount retailers have
continued to gain market share. This development
has resulted in significant price competition on
staple products, such as fresh milk.

While price has been a focus, the
environmental agenda is also growing increasingly
important in the UK. Even though most British
consumers think environmental issues are the
responsibility of the retailers and manufacturers -
rather than that of the individual consumer —
people are becoming increasingly interested in
knowing what goes into their food. As ingredients
are becoming an important factor in product
choices, natural products are increasingly valued,

creating incentives for retailers and manufacturers
to offer high quality articles.

Strategic activities 2011
Despite the tough trading conditions, Consumer UK
(CUK) performed well in 2011. Total revenue rose by
5 per cent. Most of the growth is related to general
price increases, but higher sales volumes also made
a significant contribution to the bottom line. Arla
also achieved growth in many of its own key brands,
notably Lurpak®, Castello®, Arla Lactofree®, and
Arla Apetina®. Cottage cheese has been another
important source of growth. Production in the UK
started in August 2010. By the end of 2011, Arla has
more than half of the market share in this sector.
CUK has four main strategic priorities: to build
new platforms for growth and profitability, to
secure raw milk supply, to maximise growth of core
value-added products, and to improve the
performance of Arla’s standard milk business and
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operations. During 2011, these priorities were
supported by a range of activities.

Products and production

Arla launched several new products during the
year, including Lurpak® Sea Salt and Olive Oil,
Castello®in a new black pepper flavour, two
speciality yellow cheeses, Prast® and Herrgard®,
and a new flavour of Arla Apetina® cubes.

Furthermore, the expansion of Stourton dairy
was completed, and the Ultra High Temperature
(UHT) capacity in Settle dairy increased. In October,
Arla received planning permission for a new dairy in
Aylesbury, outside London. When completed in
2013, this will be one of the largest fresh milk
dairies in the world, able to process and package up
to one billion litres of fresh milk per year. Aylesbury
dairy will also create approximately 700 new jobs
and, in line with Arla’s Closer to Nature™ message,
the new dairy will also set new standards
environmentally.

In August, Westbury began production of own
label retail packet butter. This extension will allow
Arla to supply more of the UK market with retail
packet butter, made from British cream.

Farmer investment

At the start of 2011, the board of Arla Foods Milk

Partnership (AFMP, see page 28) agreed on the next

stage of investment in Arla Foods UK. This means
that all members will increase their
investment from one pence per litre to five

pence per litre, to be paid out during a period

of 8-10 years.

Ke
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Sustainable business

During the year, much has been done in the
environmental field. All of Arla’s UK sites achieved
zero waste to landfill before the end of 2011. CUK
also focuses on improving sustainability along the
whole supply chain with a target of gaining a carbon
reduction of 34 per cent by 2020. Other
environmental activities include continued work on
a microbial fuel cell - which will convert cow
manure and dairy by-products into electricity and
biogas - and activities for more efficient packaging.
Arlais the first UK dairy company to address
on-farm operations, with activities such as
environment workshops and free carbon
assessments for AFMP members.

Looking forward

Many ongoing activities will continue in 2012. In
operations, a new pipe cleaning technology will be
implemented on fresh and cultured cream lines in
Stourton dairy.

“Lurpak Spreadable Lightest”: launched in
January, has a 40 per cent fat content and will be
the lowest fat version of Lurpak®. A key UK growth
strategy is to increase Lurpak sales. In line with the
global aim of increased production of Castello by
67 per cent, CUK will strive to increase sales
volumes of this brand, with a targeted growth rate
of 20 per cent a year.

Further work with the Closer to Nature™
message will continue both internally and
externally, to secure Arla as a household name.

Some of CUK’s brands and products
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Peter Lauritzen

Q&A with Peter Lauritzen, Executive
Vice President, Consumer UK

How was 2011
for CUK overall?

“CUK has made good progressina
challenging year, and we are pleased
that we have received planning
consent to build a one billion litre fresh
milk dairy in Aylesbury, outside
London.”

What will be the
main focus in 20127

“Projects ranging from building the
new dairy, to strengthening customer
relations, to increasing volume for our
brand of filtered milk, Arla Cravendale®.
We will continue efforts to increase
awareness of the Arla brand and Closer
to Nature in the UK. And, of course, we
always strive to improve internal
efficiency and reduce costs across the
business.”

Which are CUK’s
main strengths?

“At CUK, we have a clear strategy in
place for meeting our targets and we
can build on the strength of our
established key brands, while
continuing to grow emerging brands.
Arla has a strong workforce
throughout its UK sites, committed to
delivering the company’s
commitments and targets. In addition,
Arla’s facilities throughout the country
arevery well run. Using Lean
techniques, colleagues ensure efficient
operations across the supply chain.”

CONSUMER UK
Executive Vice President:
Peter Lauritzen

Head office: Leeds
Number of colleagues: 2,656

Product categories: Fresh dairy
products, speciality cheese and butter.

Eight production sites.
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Consumer Sweden (incl. Finland)

Geographical

expansion in Sweden

Consumer Sweden (CSE) became a separate business group in October 2011, having
previously formed part of the business group Consumer Nordic. It comprises two of
Arla’s core national markets, Sweden and Finland (Arla Ingman). Sweden is one of
the group’s major markets and the country where the company’s image is at its best.

Market outlook

Many significant changes took place in 2011 in the
Swedish dairy industry. As a result of the
increasingly internationalised market and the
increased competition across regions, two major
structural changes arose. In November, Arla
merged with a financially pressured Milko and, in
December, French Lactalis announced plans to
acquire Skanemejerier. As a result, by the end of
2011, the three largest players - Arla, Skanemejerier
(Lactalis), and Norrmejerier - together accounted
for 70 per cent of the retail market.

In Finland, the dairy market is following a
different route from Sweden. Currently, Valioisin a
dominant position, controlling 86 per cent of the
Finnish milk supply. The retail market is showing
stronger consumer demand than in Sweden, and
the market is still experiencing volume growth.
However, the pricing situation in Finland, especially
for consumer milk, is at an unhealthy level — which
creates significant pressures on profitability.

Strategic activities 2011

Consumer Sweden came in below its growth
ambition, due to overall softer than expected
market and volume pressures, reaching an organic
revenue growth of 4 per cent. The improvement in
profitability was mainly driven by price increases
and the implemented cost saving programme.

As the market leader in Sweden, Arla’s aim is
to drive development in the dairy sector as a whole.
Strategic focus remains on increasing value-added
growth and gaining market share by growing across
the entire Swedish market. In January 2011, a new
growth strategy for Sweden was launched;
delivering on this strategy has been a major priority
for Consumer Sweden throughout the year. Key.
Our ambition to become ‘The food inspirer of no.2
Sweden’ continues to develop well.

In Finland, Arla faces tough price competition.
Rising to this challenge, we have worked hard to
implement a number of measures aimed at
increasing efficiency and sales. Finland is today the
market where Arla has the fastest growth through
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new product introductions. Continued focus on
value-added dairy products is an important part of
the future growth strategy. The Arla Ingman
business will continue its emphasis on further
efficiency initiatives to ensure that it remains cost
competitive. However, for long-term strategic
success, the milk market as a whole needs a
healthier price development.

Mergers and acquisitions

Arla has taken an active partin the consolidation of
the Swedish dairy industry, and by the end of 2011
enjoyed market leadership in Sweden.

During the spring, two smaller acquisitions
were completed: Boxholm Mejeri AB, a Swedish
producer of yellow speciality cheeses with a
revenue of 84 million DKK; and Milko’s Sundsvall
dairy, Arla’s first dairy in the strategically important
northern region of Sweden.

InJune, Arla announced that it was discussing
amerger with Sweden’s third largest dairy
cooperative, Milko. With a revenue of
approximately 2 billion DKK, Milko covers a critical
part of the lower northern region. In October, the
Swedish Competition Authority approved the
merger, with some remedies, which resulted in yet
another 554 farmers becoming associated with
Arla: an important addition to the company’s raw
milk base, and an important step in delivering on
the geographic growth strategy.

Products and innovation

The challenging sales environment of 2011 was
clearly seen within fresh dairy products, with milk
market volumes decreasing by three per cent from
2010 levels. Despite the unfavourable market
conditions, Arla continued to show stable volume
growth within other product categories such as
cooking, butter, and spreads. Also the lactose-free
assortment continued to grow in line with the
strategic ambition.

In 2011, Arla achieved a number of successful
launches in the Swedish market, including low-fat
butter ‘Arla Bregott® 43%’ and the snack solution
‘Arla KESO® Cottage Cheese Mellanmal’.

In Finland, focus during the year was on
organic products with Arla Ingman launching its
first domestic skimmed and semi-skimmed organic
milk and cream. Other exciting launches during the
year include Ihana Yoghurt products, Ingamarini
spreads, and God Morgon Juices.

Production, restructuring and organisation

In 2011, Arla made a range of organisational
changes. It dismantled the Nordic structure and
thereafter restructured the Swedish organisation,
introducing a number of changes effective from

1 December.

On the production side, a Lean program is
currently being implemented across the business
group. During the year, production of cottage
cheese (Arla KESO®) in Finland has been moved to
the Swedish production site in Skévde —and the
capacity at Skévde dairy has been extended by
30 per cent.

Looking forward
The outlook for 2012 is similar to the development
in 2011 with international financial uncertainty
continuing to affect consumer confidence. While
decline in raw milk volumes in Sweden is flattening
out, the competition for consumers as well as for
farmers and Swedish raw milk will continue. Several
smaller players have financial challenges and will
need to rely on a turning trend back to profitability.
CSE aims to focus more on improving
profitability but expects modest volume growth in
both Sweden and Finland.

Some of CSE’s brands and products (incl. Finland)
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Christer Aberg

Q&A with Christer i\berg, Executive
Vice President, Consumer Sweden

How was 2011
for Consumer Sweden?

“Our revenue of five per cent growth is
acceptable, but we did aim for more.
However, in light of the challenging
market conditions, we are fairly
pleased with our performance. Even if
we have not achieved the growth we
aimed for, our earnings have improved,
which is absolutely vital.”

What will be the
main focus in 20127

“Integration of Milko will be a major
focus. Having carried through one of
the largest mergers in Swedish dairy
history, we now need to ensure that
the integration is carried out smoothly.
For both Finland and Sweden, the work
to drive down costs will also remain
top of the agenda. The specific
situation in Finland means that
improved profitability is central and
continuing the current growth through
consumer relevant innovations is also
vital.”

Which are CSE’s
main strengths?

“Something we really value is the
dialogue we have with our key
stakeholders—farmers, employees,
customers, and consumers. On the
consumer side, digital media has
grown into a vital channel for us, and
the knowledge, insights, and closer
relations we gain from our digital
presence create strong platforms for
our food inspiration programme.”

CONSUMER SWEDEN
(INCL. FINLAND)
Executive Vice President:
Christer Aberg

Head office: Stockholm, Sweden
Number of colleagues: 2,681

Product categories: Fresh dairy
products, cheese, juice and butter.

Eight dairiesin Sweden, three in
Finland.

(The production sites for butter, yellow
cheese and milk powder in Sweden are
part of business group Global
Categories & Operations.)
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Consumer Denmark

Inspire to increase
dairy consumption

Arla has its headquarters in Denmark, which is one of the Group’s most important
markets. As the national market leader, Arla products are being consumed by most
Danes every day, and we are proud that during 2011, Arla’s image among consumers
was improved significantly.

Market Outlook

Market conditions in Denmark have been
challenging throughout 2011. With low consumer
confidence at the start of the year, household
consumption continued to fall between July and
December. For the dairy sector, a positive
development has been a slightincrease in volume
growth in certain dairy categories, such as fresh
cooking products, yoghurt and speciality cheese.
However, the new Danish tax on fat products,
implemented in October, threatens this
development. The ‘fat tax’ covers basic products
such as butter and cheese, significantly raising their
price.

The dairy sector is expected to grow modestly
in 2012 and it is expected that consumer
polarisation towards value-added and budget
positions will continue. Due to the weak economic
outlook, pressures to develop strong brands and
improve efficiency will increase in 2012. In addition,

further Danish taxation of basic dairy products
could further challenge the outlook of the industry
in 2012 and onwards.

Strategic activities 2011
With satisfactory performance in product
categories such as milk, yoghurt, and cooking -
despite the tough market conditions - business
group Consumer Denmark (CDK) suffered from a
weak development in cheese during 2011, affecting
the overall result. All together, revenue remained
flat with no value growth from 2010 levels.
However, having been named
“Best supplier of the year 2011” by Danish
retailers in May, CDK can rejoice in strong
category positions. Consumer research
confirms improved image and increased
recognition of the Arla brand in the country,
allowing for a continued development of the
already broad range of products.

Ke
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Products and innovation

As market leader it is Arla’s main objective to
increase the Danish dairy consumption. Arla
believes this is possible through bringing Passion
for Diary to customers and consumers. Currently
the Danish food scene is developing fast thanks to

the focus on the Nordic Kitchen and thisis a

strong opportunity for dairy products and
for Arla.

In 2011, the business group had an active
year, with many market activities and product
launches, such as the healthy fruit yoghurt
alternative ‘Arla® A38 hindbaer’ and the low-fat
butter ‘Arla Keergaarden® 43%'. Also, the organic
segment has been expanded, with @kologgerne —a
number of organic and ‘key hole marked- products
for kids lunch packs, under the trademark Arla
Harmonie®. At the premium end, the UNIKA
concept further proves the demand, for premium
cheese, although this remains limited to
restaurants in Denmark.

The Arla brands enjoy strong positions in
Denmark, and even if demand grows for budget
products, due to the economic climate, there is still
demand for brands that offer new and innovative
products and solutions. As an example, in 2011,
Arla successfully launched a liquid mixture of butter
and canola oil branded as ‘Arla Keergaarden®
Steg&Bag’, ideal for frying and baking.

Ke
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Production and efficiency

During the past year, Consumer Denmark worked
to improve efficiency and excellence throughout
the organisation, with a special focus on
streamlining the supply chain. The implementation
of Lean has started in the Slagelse, Brabrand, and
Christianfeld facilities, with a focus on optimising
the use of assets and resources.

New technology is another focus area. For example,
Esbjerg Dairy is investing in PET technology, with
bottles moulded on site, for products such as milk,
cream and fruit juice. The first bottles will be filled
in April 2012.

Unfortunately, during 2011, declining sales
made it necessary to cease production at the local
fresh milk dairy in Hirtshals.

Sustainable business

Together with a range of other large Danish
companies, Arla has signed a Charter with the
Danish Ministry of Environment to reduce food
waste. Recognising that a large amount of food is
thrown away every year, Arla aims to treat waste as
aresource. Initially, the agreement will run until the
end of 2012.

Mergers and acquisitions

In the first half of 2011, Arla acquired the small
Danish dairy Thrane and Orbaek, which has a
particular speciality in smoked cheese.

Looking forward

As the national market leader, Arla is determined to
offer new dairy products to Danish consumers. Arla
is experiencing increased demand for healthy,
natural, and tasty dairy products. To succeed,
innovation and continued strong category
management are prerequisites. Arla will continue
to bring passion for dairy to consumers and
customers. In the context of the current economic
climate, Consumer Denmark’s key focus area for
2012 will be to increase international competition,
growing the discount sector to continue focus on
building brands, improving efficiency and
introducing new products.

Some of CDK’s brands and products
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Peter Gigrtz-Carlsen

Q&A with Peter Gigrtz-Carlsen
Executive Vice President, Consumer
Denmark

How was 2011 for
Consumer Denmark?

“The Danish market has been
characterised by weak consumer
confidence, slow overall growth with
focus on discount, and products within
the budget category. In this context,
Arla’s performance has been
satisfactory with strong results in most
key categories. Arla Denmark is very
satisfied with the improved image,
especially given the tough market
conditionsin2011.”

What will be the
main focus in 20127

“Dairy has many of the qualities
currently in demand by consumers—it’s
healthy and natural. The dairy sector
has great opportunities to grow in new
channels and product sectors. With our
positioning and the Closer to Nature™
concept, | believe we are well placed to
build on the increasing consumer focus
on health, nature, and taste.”

What are CDK’s
main strengths?

“We have a strong market position
with many leading brands —such as
ArlaKaergaarden®, Arla Harmonie®,
Arla Karolines Kgkken®, Arla Yoggi®
and Arla A38®. Our product quality is
high, and during 2011, Arla Klovborg®
was awarded ‘The best cheese’ in the
Nordic region by the Danish dairy
exhibition Landsmejeriudstillingen.
This goes hand in hand with our
position within the organic sector.”

CONSUMER DENMARK
Executive Vice President:

Peter Gigrtz-Carlsen

Head office: Aarhus, Denmark
Number of colleagues: 2,358

Product categories: Fresh dairy
products, cheese, butter and spreads.
Five dairies.

(The production sites for butter, yellow
cheese and milk powder in Denmark
are part of business group Global
Categories & Operations.)
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Arla Foods Ingredients

The Global Leader in
whey protein technology

I

Arla Foods Ingredients (AFl) is responsible for Arla’s global whey business. Whey is a
by-product from cheese production and AFl is one of the world’s leading producers of
highly refined whey proteins and lactose products — with strong ambitions to grow
further in Europe, South America, and the US.

Market outlook

AFI’s products are used in the nutrition, dairy, meat,
and ice cream industries, and also for speciality
foods, such as infant formula. With highly refined
products fulfilling a range of needs, the overall
outlook for the whey protein industry is favourable,
with increasing demand on mature markets as well
asin growth regions.

Strategic activities 2011
Having reaffirmed great growth prospects for the
whey protein market, Arlaimplemented a
reorganisation in April 2010, gathering all its whey-
related business in a newly established affiliate:
Arla Foods Ingredients Group P/S (AFl). This ensures
the necessary business focus, recognising whey-
based food ingredients as a significant element of
the Arla Group’s overall strategy and long-term
development.

AFl operates in four business areas - Bakery,
Functional Milk Proteins, Nutrition, and Lactose &
Permeate. The company developed strongly in

2011, gaining from favourable market conditions,

and ending 2011 as one of Arla’s most profitable
business units. With a range of products Key
successfully launched, AFI - despite an no. 4
increase in raw material prices - managed to

exceed the yearly targets, and growing revenues by
25 per cent.

Products and innovation
Operating in the food industry, Arla is well aware of
the extent to which consumption patterns are
trend driven. Quality nutrition is crucial for health
and well-being, and the colleagues at AFl are
committed to increasing the knowledge about and
around food. The ambition is to help close the
nutritional gap - apparent for different reasons on
both mature and developing markets - with
fortifying ingredients derived from milk and whey.
Milk proteins provide effective solutions to
replace eggs —the most expensive raw material
used within the bakery industry. AFl develops
functional bakery solutions for products ranging
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from pasta to muffins and, in 2011, the customer
portfolio continued to grow.

Functional Milk Proteins work to optimise the
quality and processing effectiveness of countless
applications focusing on the dairy industry. In 2011,
Arla launched several new applications of the
products, e.g. ingredients for high quality, low fat
cheeses.

For the bakery and functional milk protein
business, AFl runs two main application centres,
located in Argentina and Denmark. The centres are
used for both research and product trials,
reinforcing close collaboration with our customers.

AFl also produces a range of lactose products
and free flowing and non hygroscopic permeate
powder for food. Lactose is used in infant formulas
and arange of foods. Lactose and permeate
powders are manufactured in the facilities in
Denmark, Germany, and Argentina.

Research and development

The backbone of AFI’s processes and competences
liesininnovation and in research and development
(R&D). By investing heavily in R&D, AFl is also able to
establish and develop strong relations between
supply chain and customers, delivering superior
value.

Organisation

During 2011, AFl has strengthened its
organisational resources, including the finance
function and the business development
department. In customer care, AFl has
implemented a new concept—"How we work’ —
aimed at improving the quality of customer
relations. In the supply chain department, with a
firm focus on building global supply chain

capabilities, AFl kicked off several significant
projects during 2011, such as the joint venture with
Germany’s largest dairy, DMK (Deutsches
Milchkontor).

Joint venture

At the beginning of the year, Arla Foods and DMK
formed the joint venture company ArNoCo GmbH &
Co. KG, which will produce whey proteins for
customers in the global food industry. The joint
venture isin line with Arla Group’s overall strategic
ambition to double revenue from whey and
ingredients activities before 2015.

Looking forward

With an overall target for 2015 of double the 2010
volume, and a margin of 10-12 per cent, AFl is well
on track. Our focus on targeted partnershipsin
strategic supply regions on a global level will go a
long way to help us reach this target.

Well aware of the uncertain market situation —
in large part due to the Euro crisis - AFI still views
2012 with a sense of cautious optimism. Despite the
uncertainty, the outlook for the sector remains
positive and AFl plans for growth through a number
of projects in various regions across the world.
Investments of approximately 450 million DKK are
in process, ready to go into operationin early 2012.

AFl’s ingredients are used by the food
industry in a broad variety of products.
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Henrik Andersen

Q&A with Henrik Andersen,
CEO Arla Foods Ingredients

How was 2011 for
Arla Foods Ingredients?

“It was our first full financial year as an
independent company and we have
delivered a very satisfactory result.
Today, our organisation is significantly
stronger in all dimensions than it was
when AFl started its operations.”

What will be the
main focus in 20127

“We will continue our successful work
to become a world-leading provider of
high quality protein and lactose
products. We have a range of
important projects in the pipeline,
such as our expansion of Denmark
Protein and the joint venture with
DMK. Allin all, the stage is set for
another challenging and exciting year.”

Which are AFI’s
main strengths?

“Our strong focus on innovation
remains key. We have a global strategy
—meaning we are well suited to meet
demand from big global customers.
We also have an organisation in place
thatis well set for the future. We
operate in an exciting market—a
market | believe will grow larger and
offer even more exciting opportunities
in the years to come. We believe that
we are well positioned to capitalise on
these opportunities.”

ARLA FOOD INGREDIENTS
CEO: Henrik Andersen

Head office: Aarhus, Denmark
Number of colleagues: 423

Product categories: Products within
the whey segment, including highly
refined whey proteins.

Two Arla sites in Denmark plus five

partnerships and joint venturesin
Europe and South America.
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The Swedish branch

The parent company, Arla Foods
amba, has a branch in Sweden,
whichis solely responsible for
weighing deliveries from Arla
Foods amba’s Swedish
cooperative owners when the
milkis sold to Arla Foods AB. This
arrangement ensures that
Danish and Swedish cooperative
owners are paid in accordance
with common guidelines and
that they exercise influence in
the cooperative system,
including elections to the parent
company’s governing bodies —
the Board of Representatives
and the Board of Directors—in
accordance with the provisions
of the Articles of Association for
Arla Foods amba.

Different grades
of ownership

Inthe UK, Arla’s dairy farmers are
not owners, but have formed
Arla Foods Milk Partnership
(AFMP) through the British
affiliate Arla Foods UK (Business
Group Consumer UK). In 2011,
the UK farmers decided to
increase their ownershipin the
UK affiliate through an
investment programme
scheduled for a period of 8-10
years, starting from January
2012.Through ajoint venture,
AFMP currently owns 3.2 per
cent of Arla Foods UK Plc. When
the investment is complete, this
share will total circa 15 per cent,
bringing the British farmers
closer with Arla. This
distinguishes the UK farmers
from other non-owner farmers
in, for example Finland and South
Germany, who deliver milk to
Arla without holding an
ownership share.

Governance

A company of

cooperative democracy

Arla is a democratically-run farmers’ cooperation, owned and governed by 8,000
milk producers in Denmark, Sweden, and Germany. Arla’s main purpose is to create
value for owners by offering natural milk-based products that meet consumer
demands, now and in the future. Arla believes that the cooperative business model
delivers the greatest benefits to the owners’ economic interests and to our corporate

governance.

Farmers in cooperation

All Arla’s cooperative owners have a say in the
governance of the organisation. Every other year,
the cooperative owners nominate individuals to
serve as trustees for Arla’s governing bodies: the
District Councils and the Board of Representatives.
In April 2011, Arla —through a merger with the
German cooperative Hansa-Milch — pe;
welcomed its first German owners. no,yg

Corporate governance

At Arla, corporate governance is evaluated by the
level and quality of the relationship between
owners, management, and co-workers. Within
well-established management processes and
structures, Arla maintains clear protocols for the
governance of the company.

The Board of Directors sets the strategic
direction of the company, and is responsible for
decisions relating to (among others):

—Long-term strategies

—Large investments

—Mergers and acquisitions

—Succession planning and recruitment of top
management

Control refers to all acts necessary to follow
up on management’s performance, and the
strategic decisions taken. Relationship between the
governing bodies refers to the interactions
between owners, the Board of Representatives and
the Board of Directors, and management.

At all levels of Arla’s corporate governance
structure, roles, requirements, responsibilities,
mandates, and expectations of each body are
clearly defined.

Governing bodies
The Board of Representatives is the highest
decision-making body in Arla, including 85 farmer
elected commissioners from Denmark, 60 from
Sweden, 5 from Germany and 10 chosen by and
among Danish and Swedish co-workers. The Board
of Representatives appoints the Board of Directors.
The Arla Board of Directors (the Board) is
Arla’s highest executive body, responsible for the
overriding strategies of the organisation, ensuring

that Arla is managed in the best interest of our
owners. The Board has 20 members — of which 4
are employee representatives —who met eight
timesin 2011.

The work of the Board in 2011

The development of the dairy industry and Arla’s
growth strategy has, in recent years, led to
increased international cooperation and increased
complexity, which, in turn, has raised demands on
the Arla Board. To further secure strategic business
control and advance the owners’ interests, the
Boardin 2011 reviewed its responsibilities, duties,
tasks, and organisation.

In August, the Board presented its new
operation mode, under which it focuses on
business-related issues and strategies. Owners’
issues are handled by seven internal working
groups, which meet regularly. Several groups
include a trustee from each region, the smaller
units are able to function as a link between the
Board and Arla’s individual owners.

In September, the Board introduced a new

model for handling the milk price paid to
,’,(gys the owners. Under this model, the Board
delegates settlement of the milk price to the

Arla Executive Management Group (EMG). A
new routine for the monthly milk price quotations —
now published on the Arla website on the first
workday each month—isin place.

In April, Arla’s chairman since 2007, Ove
Mgberg (from Denmark), announced his decision to
retire. His last formal duty was to Chair the Board of
Representatives meeting in May. Ake Hantoft, a
Swede and former vice-chairman, was elected to
succeed him as Chairman.

Expanded ownership
From an ownership perspective, 2011 was an
historic year for Arla. In particular, the mergers with
Hansa-Milch (Germany) and Milko (Sweden) added
1,200 new owners, and milk volume increased by
5 per cent from 2010.

The 554 farmers in the north of Sweden, who
previously delivered their milk to Milko, now
represent a new region in the Swedish organisation.
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Arla’s basic principle is to treat all owners equally,
and this applies for the farmers who became
owners through the merger with Milko. However,
the rules are applied with regional considerations
for the German farmers as they are owners via the
company Hansa Arla Milch eG.

Welcoming German owners into the
organisation requires special attention in
communication, training, and coordination,
especially in areas such as the Arla quality
programme. All material related to ownership is
scheduled to be translated and fully integrated by
2012, with some regional differences due to, for
example, country specific laws.

As adirect response to the expanded
ownership, Arla has decided to review its
cooperative democratic systemin 2013.

During March 2011, elections for the Arla
Board of Representatives and District Councils were
held. Arla’s standard procedure is to invite all newly
elected representatives to anintroduction
programme. Of Arla’s 370 commissioners, on
average around 60 per cent take partinthe
programme.

Internal and external reporting
Inthe last year, Arla has strengthened both its
internal and its external reporting.

The internal management reporting provides a
basis for decisions, allowing transparency to
supportinformed decision making. All reporting is
gathered in one report, covering all performance
units: business groups, markets, product
categories, etc. The report contains analysis trailing
anumber of importantissues and trends.

In 2011 the first full half-year report was
published. External reporting now contains
information regarding the business groups, as well
as other additional disclosures, which are
considered to be of interest to external audiences.

Arla currently reports according to the
accounting principles stated in the Danish Financial
Statements Act. As of 1 January 2012, the company
will use the International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS). The transition will make it easier to
compare Arla’s accounts with those of other
international companies.

In line with IFRS, the Board of Representatives
has made a technical change in Arla’s consolidation
policy. Until 2015, the new policy will be used in
connection with the annual profit appropriation.
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Following changes to the consolidation policy

has been decided effective from 2012:

¢ Arla’s target profit has increased from 2,5 per cent
to 3 per cent of net revenue

e Arla’s consolidation has increased from 4.5 per
cent to 6 per cent of Performance price.

e Overall consolidation will unchanged comprise
one-third individual consolidation and two-thirds
collective consolidation.

e Future consolidation on collective capital will not
subject to the deterioration clause.

The changes above have been decided upon with
the objective that the transition to IFRS should not
effect the milk price to owners.

Arla currently has a limit of deterioration of
equity in the articles of association, according to
which no payments from equity that could
deteriorate the total equity should be made.

In addition to the changed consolidation
policy, the deterioration clause has been revised, so
that it only covers the existing capital account. All
future consolidation will not be subject to the
deterioration clause.

Read more about Arla’s risk management on the
following pages.

Member and owner democracy

8,024 cooperative owners in three countries

54 district councils
(25 in Denmark and 29 in Sweden)

8regions (4 in Denmark and 4 in Sweden)

The Board of Representatives: 150 owners
and 10 employee representatives

The Board of Directors: 16 owners
and 4 employee representatives

The Board of Representatives is Arla’s top decision-making
body. Arla’s Board of Directors is elected by the regions and
the Board of Representatives. All elections and polls are held
according to the ‘one member, one vote’ principle.
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Risk management

Managing risks and

opportunities proactively

As Arla continues to grow, the number of risks and opportunities to which the

Group is exposed also rises.

The tone of Arla’s control environment is set by top management and in the
Code of Conduct, the Group has defined ethical and correct behaviour at Arla.
This creates a clear framework for the operations and the Group’s character.

Strategic risks

With world population
growing, global demand
for dairy products is on the rise

Risks With growing population comes growing
demand for food. From a basic demand and supply
perspective, this is essentially a future opportunity
for the food industry seen as a whole. At Arlawe
strongly believe that the demand for healthy,
natural dairy products will increase significantly
along with this development in world population.
The risk for Arlais if we are not able to position
ourselves as one of the leading dairy companies, in
finding innovative solutions on how to use the
nutritional resources available as efficiently as
possible.

Risk mitigation At Arla, we invest heavily in
innovation in order to find answers to the global
nutrition challenge. We conduct research to ensure
continued productinnovation and development of
raw milk as a resource. In this sense, innovation
assures our continued progress up the value ladder,
securing our ability to offer high-quality products
at competitive prices.

Meeting consumer
needs by unlocking
nature’s potential

Risks Associety develops, so do consumer
preferences. Increased knowledge and new
conditions leads to new demands, such as the
current interest for organic products. This puts
pressure on companies to be attentive and
responsive to shifting consumer needs and
preferences.

Risk mitigation At Arla, product quality and food
safety are major priorities. We see high quality as a
part of our value-added product strategy and, with
the concept of Closer to Nature™, we have a strong
identity, which enriches our work and ensures
progress.
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Farmersin
cooperation secure
future local production

Risks Dairy companies depend on the
sourcing of raw milk. In recent years, dairy
farmers in many regions have been under
pressure. This has led to a reduction in the
numbers of milk producers in many
countries, which poses a challenge not
only for dairy farmers, but also for
consumers demanding locally-produced
milk.

Risk mitigation Arlaisafarmer
cooperative, highly dependent on the
ability to source raw milk. We need to
attract new farmers and retain current
farmers —and at the same time offer high
quality products to consumers at
attractive prices.

Our vision drives us to work for the
highest possible milk price to the farmers.
This, we believe, is a key message to our
farmers. They need to be reassured of
their continued ability to run their farms.
Consumers want the opportunity to drink
fresh, locally produced milk. Together,
they have a shared interest in retaining
local milk production.
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Globalisation leads
the way in Arla’s

—

“search for growth

Risks The financial crisis in the western
world might well be the beginning of a
longer period of much slower growth than
we witnessed during the 1990s and early
2000s. Furthermore, in the coming years,
growth is likely to come mainly from
Africa, Asia, and South America. This
drives western companies, and investors,
to search for growth in new markets,
presenting opportunities as well as posing
risks.

Risk mitigation Arla has named
Northern Europe and the UK as its core
markets. With our ownersin Denmark,
Sweden, and Germany —and given the
importance of the fresh dairy segment —
we aim to further increase our market
share in Europe, benefitting from the
stable demand in the region. Pursuing an
active mergers and acquisition strategy,
Post-Merger Integration (PMl) is an
important aspect of our business. If we
fail to integrate our newly merged and
acquired companies, our entire
organisation risks disruptions. We are
developing a PMI-model following a
structured process for integration on
different levels, ranging from financial to
cultural unification.

Arla recognises the importance of
also being present in growth markets. To
assure our members continued financial
safety, we need to accelerate sales of our
processed and branded productsin
growth regions

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Risk management
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Consolidated financial statements
Management overview

Securing an

efficient and
sustainable value chain
—from cow to consumer

Risks With increased pressure on
operating margins and efficiency —
companies are pushed to reduce costs
and rationalise their production. At the
same time, quality must be secured, and
the pressure to comply with different
frameworks and standards for sustainable
production increases.

Risk mitigation Low cost and high
quality are often seen as two ends on a
scale. Working to establish sustainable
efficiency, implementing Lean techniques
across the entire organisation, we both
increase the quality of our processes and
lower the cost of our production.

Currently about half of the dairies in
Denmark operate according to Lean
principles, and in Sweden the first dairies
have started implementing Lean.
Denmark is expected to be finalised by the
end of 2013, and the Swedish dairies
during 2014.

Read more about Arla’s operational and
financial risk management on the following pages...
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...and see also the Group’s
tool box for risk and compliance.

Operational risks
Product quality
To successfully operate a food company, product
quality must remain an ever-important issue. With
the Arla quality programme for dairy production on
farm and raw milk, increased scrutiny from the
dairies to demonstrate the integrity of their
practices across the whole supply chain is required.
The quality programmes are updated on an
ongoing basis, and in 2011, a number of
adjustments were made to ‘Arlagarden’ —the
quality programme applied in Denmark and

,’fg”z Sweden. Similar programmes exist for the

Group’s core markets in the UK, Finland, and
Germany.

Arla continuously works to ensure that its
programmes comply with international standards,
and the Group has received a conformity statement
from the independent Bureau Veritas Certification
organisation.

Arla works with the HACCP-system (Hazard
Analysis and Critical Control Point), a methodical
tool used to evaluate and control hazards in
relation to food safety across the entire food chain.
All Arla facilities are food safety certified in
accordance with HACCP.

Price volatility

In order to maintain its market share, Arla may
from time to time need to reduce or raise its prices
to customers in response to competitive and
customer pressures. This may, in turn, affect the
Group’s profit margins.

Arla’s Global Procurement department —
responsible for overall sourcing —also mitigates
price volatility by pooling orders with fewer
suppliers, working to establish long-term contracts
onthe supply side. In 2011, 69 per cent of Arla’s
total spend, excluding milk, were made on the
Global contracts.

Legal and regulatory risks

Increasing local and governmental duties
represents a material risk for Arla. Such increases
can have a considerable effect on the demand for
milk products on the national markets.

In 2011, Denmark implemented a new tax on
saturated fats. The result was a significant price
increase on cheese, butter, and meat for consumers
—and an extra administrative burden on food
manufacturers.

Arlais closely monitoring the development of
regulations on the markets where we operate and
acts to reduce the potential impact.

Pension plan risks

Arla has entered into pension plans with a significant
number of its employees. The pension plans comprise
both defined contribution plans and defined benefit
plans. Under the defined contribution plans, the
Group pays contributions to independent pension
companies on a regular basis. The Group is not
obligated to make any additional payments. The
provision comprises defined benefit schemesin the
UK, Sweden and the Netherlands. The defined
benefit schemes ensure pensions to the employees
covered, based on seniority and final salary.

IT risk

The Group operates a highly integrated global
business and relies on complex information
technology to do so. As a result of the increasing
complexity of information technology, the Group is
exposed to various risks in this context, ranging
from the loss or theft of data, stoppages and
interruptions to the business, to systems failure,
each of which may have a negative impact on the
Group’s results and financial condition.

To mitigate the above mentioned risk, a
strategic IT project called Phoenix, was launched in
2011. In parallel a tender process for IT suppliers is
running, which will be finalised during 2012. This is
part of normal evaluation of the IT suppliers.

Currency and interest rate risk
Arla operates in many different countries and has
significant investments in operations outside
Denmark and the euro area, of which the UK and
Sweden represent the largest part of the business
by turnover, profit, and assets. As a large part of
Arla’s production (particularly that from Denmark)
is exported outside the euro area, the US dollar will
also contribute to the Group’s currency exposure.
Significant exchange rate fluctuations may have an
impact on Group’s results and financial status.
Key Of Arla’s total revenue of 54,893
no. 1 million DKKin 2011, approximately 86
per cent was accounted for by currencies
other than DKK (compared to 83 per centin 2010).

Liquidity risk

Arla manages liquidity risk by ensuring the
availability of sufficient operating liquidity and
credit facilities for operations. The financing of
acquisitions and major investments is assessed
separately.

The management of the day-to-day liquidity
flow is, for the vast majority of the Group,
conducted through Arla Foods Finance A/S, via
cash pool arrangements with the Groups banks.
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Within Arla, the companies with excess liquidity
finance the companies with liquidity deficits. As a
result, the Group achieves a more cost-efficient
financing.

Financial reporting risks

Aiming to ensure the quality and consistency of the
internal and external financial reporting, and
reducing the risk of material misstatements, Arla
established a Corporate Risk and Compliance
function (CR&C) in 2011. The function has two main
purposes: To support all entities within the Arla
group and the corporate functions in the context of
reporting, and to reduce risks by strengthening the
internal control culture.

Departing from the international COSO
framework (Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission), Arla
has established an internal control model following
a structured process for identifying, monitoring,
mitigating, and controlling risks. Applying a top-to
bottom risk assessment, the work of the CR&C is
based on an analysis of risk and materiality of
individual accounting items as well as overriding
policies and processes.

From the risk assessment, a set of minimum
requirements for internal controls is currently
being defined together with the business. During
2011, the implementation of these minimum
requirements commenced, particularly in the
financial shared services centre, handling around
80 per cent of Arla’s financial transactions. Over the

Corporate Risk and Compliance tool box

coming years these minimum requirements will be
implemented through-out Arla.

Based on a structured approach, the CR&C-
team on a regular basis visits the different Arla
business entities to review compliance with for
example the Arla finance manual, segregation of
duties, IT security, etc.

CR&C reports regularly to the Executive
Management Group and the auditors, and once
ayear to the Board of Directors. These reports
include findings from the control visits made
around Arla sites.

Most core markets, except the Netherlands,
are running on a common SAP R/3 platform, which
enables Arla to have a standardised solution on
system-supported controls, as well as a large
degree of harmonised processes. During 2011, a
housecleaning project on the SAP R/3 chart of
accounts was implemented, resulting ina
significant reduction in the numbers of accounts.
This has given increased transparency and reduced
the risk of errors.

Whistle-blowing

Arla encourages dialogue around risks and
opportunities throughout the organisation, and
values the feedback provided to top management.

The Group has formulated a whistle blowing-policy,

which will be implemented at the beginning of
2012. This and similar initiatives ensure a focus on
fraud and hazards across the organisation.
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Ke
no.y5

Generic components Country specific
P components

Internal Internal systems External
compliance and processes compliance
Internal controls Segregation of duties IFRS from 2012

Finance manual

IT security

Reporting process

Documentation, controls,
reporting etc.

Financial policies

Local regulations

Other relevant legislation

Current
focus areas

Management requests
Business group requests
Fraud
Consolidation tool

Net working capital

Potential for standardization/centralization
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Performance price and settlement to owners

Allocation of value

As a cooperative, Arla always strives to pay the owners the highest possible milk
price, and for increased recognition of the value of milk on the global market, as

stated in the company’s vision.

Milk is a global commodity, traded on international
commodity exchanges. As with all commodities,
the bulk product is standardised and its price fixed
beforehand through mechanisms known as
“forward contracts”. This set price is affected by a
range of factors, often hard to predict or even to
subsequently specify. For individual farmers, it is
important to have safe, regular, incoming
payments. However, market fluctuations do not
always allow forward planning. Within the
cooperative format, Arla farmers have joined
together to raise a stronger common voice.
Throughout the years, Arla has developed a
settlement model based on the ideas of
cooperation and fair distribution. It includes a
number of concepts specially developed to
determine the price of their milk. K
ey
no.’5
Performance price
Performance price is a measure establishing the
total performance per kilo of milk during a certain
period (usually a year). The measure consists of two
main factors: what has been paid for the milk (the
prepaid milk price and the supplementary
payment) and all consolidation — divided per kilo of
owners’ milk. The measure enables Arla and our
owners to compare milk performance against other
dairy companies.

Prepaid milk price

The prepaid milk price is the cash compensation
farmers receive for milk delivered during the
settlement period. The amount is calculated on the
basis of the milk’s quality and composition of fat
and protein. This money is paid every other week to
owners in Denmark and Sweden and monthly to
ownersin Germany.

The Arla Quotation

When it comes to milk price, Arla aims to be as
transparent as possible. Every month Arla gives the
‘Arla Quotation’ which discloses Arla’s current
highest milk price (based on a delivery of 5,000
tonnes of milk per year). The quotation is given in
DKK per kilo of milk (to be recalculated into SEK and
EUR). In general calculations, Arla’s milk price refers
to milk standardised at 4.2 per cent fat and 3.4 per
cent protein. Moreover, the quotation for
conventional milk differs from the quotation of
organic milk, which is priced higher.

The Arla Quotation includes a range of add-ons that
the owners in Denmark and Sweden can receive in
addition to the basic value of the milk (see a full list
on the next page). It includes the prepaid milk price,
but also supplementary payments and
consolidation.

In Germany, the company receives a milk
payment for the full amount of milk collected from
German owners. The owners then get paid
accordingly, in line with their old Hansa-Milch
system.

Owners and suppliers 2011 2010 2009
Owners, totally 8,024 7,178 7,625
-Denmark 3,514 3,649 3,838
-Sweden 3,865 3,529 3,787
- Germany 645 - -
Suppliersin Germany 1,338 - -
Members through AFMP

in the UK 1,330 1,362 1,400
Suppliersin Finland 1,000 1,060 1,113

During 2011, the number of owners in Arla has risen
by 12 per cent from 2010, largely due to the
mergers with Swedish Milko and German Hansa-
Milch. The amount of weighted-in milk from owners
has increased by 5 per cent compared to 2010.

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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Arla quotation
conventional milk
SEK ére

Arla quotation
conventional milk
DKK gre

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun (13)  Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Arla quotation
conventional milk
EUR-cent

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun(13)  Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

During the year, the milk price has changed several times, upwards as well as downwards. The Arla Quotation is

set in DKK and the milk price is the same for all owners. The national differences are due to currency fluctuations.

Glossary of milk price terms

SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENT —The supplementary
payment is the stake of the result that is paid to the
owners after the end of the year. The supplementary
payment is calculated in per cent on the basis of the
eligible supplementary payment of each individual

farmer. The eligible supplementary payment equals the
value of the raw milk and the value of the add-on quality

payments.

CONSOLIDATION - Consolidation is the stake of the
result thatis keptin the company, in order to finance
Arla’s growth and further development. Consolidation
can be individual or collective (see below).

OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE — Prior to 2010, individual
consolidation was given on the basis of a supply-based
ownership certificate. The certificate represents the

individual member’s share of Arla’s equity —a share that

is paid back over a period of three years, with one
payment each year, when the specific member decides
to leave the cooperative. (Subject to approval by the
Board of Representatives.)

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL - Individual consolidation
The ownership certificate has now been replaced by a

ARLA Annual Report 2011

new instrument called contributed capital. Contributed
capital is remunerated following the discount rate of the
Copenhagen Interbank Offered Rate (CIBOR) + 1.5 per
cent. Ifamember decides to leave the cooperative, the
contributed capital will be disbursed over a period of
three years, with one payment each year. (Subject to
approval by the Board of Representatives.)

COLLECTIVE CONSOLIDATION —keptin the company
to ensure strong capital resources for future growth.

YEARLY SETTLEMENT — Result/outcome 2011

The Board of Representatives endorsed the Board

of Directors’ proposed disposition of Arla’s result of
1,311 million DKK. This equals 0.201 DKK per kilo raw
milk, to be appropriated on supplementary payment as
well as individual and collective consolidation.

YEARLY SETTLEMENT COMPOSITE:

* Supplementary payments

¢ Individual consolidation on contributed capital

e Interest on contributed capital

¢ Final settlement of seasonal add-ons

¢ Add-ons for GMO-free feed in Sweden (due to
agreement within Swedish dairy association)

Management overview

Included in the
Arla Quotation:

¢ The value of the raw milk—
calculated on the basis of milk
with 4.2 per cent fatand 3.4 per
cent protein.

e Seasonal add-ons/reductions—
reductions of the raw milk
value during spring, add-ons of
the raw milk value during
autumn (notincluded in the
payment during the year butin
the yearly settlement).

¢ Add-ons for quality aspects —
equivalent to up to four per
cent of the milk value.

¢ Supplement for logistics —
Add-on corresponding to Arla’s
reduced costs when picking up
milkin large quantities (over
1,200 tonnes milk/yearin
Denmark and 550 tonnes milk/
yearinSweden). The Arla
quotation is based on delivery
5,000 tonnes milk/year.

¢ Supplement forindependent
retrieval —a farmer who allows
for Arlato collect the milk at
any hour of the day receives an
add-on of 0.02 DKK/kg milk.

* Addition for organic
production.

¢ Expected share of Arla’s results
—distributed on supplementary
payments, individual
consolidation, and collective
consolidation.

¢ Deductions for expenses
related to individual owners,
including costs of analysing the
milk and settlements.

® Reimbursement of additional
costs for GMO-free feed (only
in Sweden).

¢ Add-on for trailer extensions
(onlyin Sweden).
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Global Compact

The United Nations Global
Compactis a strategic policy
initiative for businesses that are
committed to aligning their
operations and strategies with
10 universally accepted
principlesin the areas of human
rights, labour, environment and
anti-corruption. Arla has
participated in Global Compact
since 2008, and our Code of
Conduct complements its 10
basic principles. We undertake to
incorporate this initiative and its
principlesin our strategy and
company culture, and to
communicate this commitment
to colleagues, owners, partners,
customers, and the world around
us. The commitment to Global
Compactalso means that every
year Arla hastoreport, inan
open and transparent way, on
how our company is adhering to
the Code of Conduct. The report
describes the progress Arla has
made over the year and where it
sees opportunities for
improvement.

Our

Responsibility report
Arla publishes every year a
corporate responsibility report.
This section in the consolidated
reportisan extract of the
complete CSR report that is
published on
http://csr2011.arla.com

CSR/Responsibility

Responsible business

Arla is an international business — operating in a large number of markets,
responsible for 70 production sites in 12 countries and offering a range of products
that are being distributed across the world. Guided by the Code of Conduct and the
overriding concept Closer to Nature® Arla aims to run and develop its business
sustainably, recognising the importance of environmental, social, and economic

variables.

ISSUE PURPOSE

Health

Suppliers

Food safety

Competition

Environment

People and
performance
(pp. 38-39)

Arlais committed to meeting consumer demand for healthy products and reliable nutritional
information. We inform our consumers about the ingredients in all our products so they can
choose those that best suit their tastes and fulfil their needs.

Arla sources goods and services across the world. Our ambition is for our suppliers to meet
our code of conduct for suppliers, which governs ethical, social and environmental
responsibilities. We encourage them to help us meet our aim of procuring goods and services
in a sustainable way.

Customers show an increasing interestin issues related to food safety. Together with our
customers we develop and improve our analysis methods and risk assessments.

The dairy market is growing and competition remains tough with local, regional and
international players. With a market leading position in several markets, Arla is careful never
to contravene applicable competition rules in any way.

Food production and transportation of products invariably affect the environment by
discharging substances into the air, the fields and the water. Our ambition is to minimise this
discharge and continually reduce our environmental impact within the entire supply chain.

Arla strives to continually improve the work environment and organisation. We also work to
strengthen our corporate culture. Our Character, which describes what Arla is and what we
stand for in our efforts to achieve common targets, unites us across differences in historical

and cultural backgrounds.

Performance and target summary 2011

Health

Arla’s mission is to provide modern consumers with
natural milk-based products that create inspiration,
confidence, and well-being. Arla is committed to
being as transparent as possible about the
nutritional content of our products. rlfgyl
Operating in several markets, Arla closely
witnesses how trends affect food consumption

and concerns. For example, in 2011, a special tax on
fat was introduced in Denmark, while, in the same
period in Sweden Arla noted an increase in demand
for fat products. Arla’s general understanding is
that a healthy diet contains a balance of many
different foods. Arla takes customers’ concerns
seriously and contributes to the public discussion
through investments in nutritional research.

Suppliers
Arla sources goods and services around the world.
The Arla Global Procurement department was, in
2011, responsible for 69 per cent of the total
procurement budget. During the year, the
department carried out a cross-company review of
all partners. Arla’s designated ‘preferred suppliers’
have signed Arla’s code of conduct for suppliers,
which establish ethical, social, and environmental
responsibilities. Arla’s target is to achieve 100 per
cent signoff from preferred suppliers.
Development of tools and processes for
sustainable sourcing has been ongoing since 2009
and, during 2011, Arla implemented those tools.
The Global Procurement department is currently
working towards a global supplier assessment
programme that applies to all Arla’s regions.
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Food safety

Food safety is a top priority at Arla. Colleagues are

pleased to note that customers show an increasing

interestinissues related to food safety, and exert

pressure on the industry to further improve tools

for analysis and risk assessments. In 2011, Arla

developed several new analysis methods. As of

31 December 2011, 51 of our 70 facilities have
been food safety certified in accordance

with 1SO 22000.

Competition

In 2011 Arla continued to grow, carrying through
several strategically important acquisitions and
mergers in its core markets. As a market leader,
Arlais continuously engaged with competition law.
In 2011, both the Swedish and German competition
authorities investigated Arla’s operationsin
connection with the merger and acquisition
processes. Naturally, Arla works hard to always
comply with the relevant regulations in all markets
where the company is present, and Arla does all it
can to cooperate with the authorities.

Environmental strategy 2020
Throughout the years, corporate responsibility in
large corporations has deepened and changed focus.

Increased knowledge has led to new insights, shifting
expectations on what corporate responsibility
includes and how far it extends. As a company with its
roots in the natural environment, Arla is determined
to be at the forefront of this development.

Inthe early 2000s, Arla’s environmental
efforts focused on production and transportation.
Limiting our environmental footprint as much as
possible, by continuously reviewing and evaluating
our transportation and the different stages of our
supply chain will continue to be of great
importance. However, recognising that 80 per cent
of the total greenhouse gas emissions of Arla come
directly from the farms, Arla realises it is possible to
do more good by broadening the focus.

In 2011, Arla launched its Environmental
strategy 2020, which asserts the company’s
responsibility across the entire lifecycle of Arla’s
products. The new strategy 2020 sets wide and
clear targets covering four broad focus areas.
Integrated with ‘Closer to Nature’ and our
corporate character, the key words of the strategy
are the life cycle approach, focus on farms,
increased efficiency, increased transparency, and
stakeholder involvement.
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Arla’s new environmental strategy
reaches from cow to consumer.
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SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE Arlawantsto source milk from
farms that are managed in a sustainable manner. In 2011, we initiated a
strategy with Arla farmers, aiming to develop and implement a standard for
sustainable dairy farming. Consumer UK has been the first
business group to implement the strategy. The new strategy
sets a 2020 target for all Arla-sourced milk.

ZERO WASTE Arla haslong worked to reduce the amount of food
thrown away, both by the company and by consumers. With the concept of
zero waste, Arla works to treat waste as a resource, to be reused or
recycled.

In 2011, Arlain Canada initiated cooperation with the
organisation Second Harvest to distribute products with a
short shelf life to hostels, schools, and the needy.
Similarinitiatives have been done in Germany with
the organisation Tafeln, in Finland with the
organisation Manna Pankkki and in the UK with

St George’s Crypt.

Arla has decided to accelerate its transition to

sustainable soy, and established that by 2015, all soy in
feed for cows belonging to Arla’s milk producers
must be grown in accordance with RTRS principles
and criteria.

" Sustainable
agriculture

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Arla wants to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

throughoutits entire supply chain—from cow to

consumer. With the launch of the new strategy,
Arla’s climate strategy has been integrated in the
environmental strategy. Arla’s target is to reduce CO,

emissions by 25 per cent within production, transportation,
and packaging before 2020 (from 2005 levels).

WATER & ENERGY Arla strives toreduce the
company’s energy and water consumption and
move from fossil fuels to renewable energy. Our
yearly targetis a three per cent reduction of water
and energy expenditure per year. Half of our energy
consumption will come from renewable sources by 2020.

Water &
energy

Greenhouse
gas emissions

One way that Arla has increased its share of renewable

energy is by using biogas. Arla is planning to invest in biogas for
the energy-intensive plantin Videbaek, Denmark. In 2011, Arla has made progress on several fronts, including, for
example, Hobro Dairy in Denmark, where Arla has begun to re-use heat
from the cooling water system, resulting in an approximate 10 per cent

reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.

Over the past three years, Arla has achieved 20 per cent savings on
water consumption in Danmark Protein, in Denmark, mainly due to
increased water recycling.

ARLA Annual Report 2011
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EMPLOYEES BY GENDER, %

2010 2011
80
60
40
20
0 All Top300 All Top300
. Men
I Women

The ratio of males and females
varies in different parts of the
organisation. There are
significantly fewer women than
men in senior to management
positions. Afocus areais to
recruit more women to senior
management positions.

ARLA COLLEAGUES, %

M penmark 43
I Sweden 20
UK 15
M Finland 3
Netherlands 2
[ Germany 3
Other countries 14

The total number of colleagues

is approximately 17,400,
representing anincrease of

1,200 people from last year’s level.

Name: Magnus Glennborn

Position: Business Development Manager
Based in: Stockholm, Sweden

Years at Arla: 3.5 years

People and performance

Leadership and diversity

Arla’s Code of Conduct clearly states that Arla shall offer a safe and beneficial
working environment for all its colleagues. With 17,400 employees in 30 countries,
this is a serious commitment that means Arla must continuously develop, implement
and rigorously test safe practices and procedures.

At Arla, everybody strives to continuously improve

the organisation and reinforce the business culture.

The company’s character, ‘Our character’, is
encapsulated in the concepts of lead, sense and
create. Operating in a range of countries and
cultural environments, Arla needs to ensure that
common goals and strategies are understood and
pursued in all contexts. Arla believes that if all
colleagues have fair service conditions and are
committed to their jobs then the fundamentals are
in place to perform and enjoy everyday work.
Arla’s human resources work is structured and
focused to align with the strategies and support
Arla’s goals. To help achieve this, Arla conducts a

tailored, annual, colleague survey, 'The Barometer’.

The survey maps perceptions and levels of
satisfaction inimportant areas such as leadership,
level of knowledge sharing, level of information,
and feeling of purpose. Having developed key
performance indicators (KPIs), the survey enables
progress tracking over the years, pinpointing
improvements and fallbacks. In 2010, the survey
identified two areas for special attention; the need
toincrease involvement among colleagues and the
need to reduce bureaucracy. Those areas have
thereby been given extra attention during 2011.

The enabler
Arla’s HR strategy is closely integrated in the
general business strategy —Arlais a farmer

cooperative, guided by the vision to pay the highest
possible milk price. Arla has high ambitions and the
main aim of the HR function is to help the company
realise its growth plans and strategies. To create a
sustainable organisation that delivers —now as well
asinthe future — Arla works with a range of
initiatives, which, for 2011, can be grouped in three
broad focus areas:

Focus: Leadership

Arla wants to have the best leaders in the industry.
Arlaistherefore building a strong leadership
culture, based on Our Character and further
supported by the company’s leadership
values: envision, engage, deliver. This means
that the Arla leaders should have ambitions for
themselves, for their team, and for Arla in general,
engaging their colleagues and business partners to
deliver on commitments and targets.

Furthermore, Arla develops superior
leadership through a range of development
initiatives. The business and working environment
is constantly evolving at an ever-accelerating pace,
so having the right people in the right roles at the
right time is never a given, but something that has
to be continuously re-assessed.

In 2011, Arlaimplemented an initiative aimed
at clarifying the link between Arla’s ambitious
growth plans and the areas of responsibility of
different managers. The initiative helped define

Ke
no.yl

Could you describe a
normal day at work?

“In my job—there are no normal days.
There’s always so much happening and
every day is new. Currently, we’re working
alot with the integration of Milko, and my
roleis alotabout coordinating the
different work streams and assuring
everything progresses in the right
direction. It’s very busy —but interesting
and fun.”

What is driving you professionally?

“To be a part of Arla’s progress and to
really build somethingis areal kickand it
stimulates me. The working environment

atArlais open and | always feel seen and
appreciated by both colleagues and
managers.”

Have you gone through any training
provided by Arla during 2011?

“Yes, | have attended Arla’s ‘Commercial
Academy’, which is an internal
development programme focused on
sales and marketing. It’s on-going, with
new courses being presented all the time.
It’s offered to everyone at Arla, which is
great as we get to meet people from all
across the organisation. During the year,

I have also attended various courses
within strategy, M&A and integration”.

ARLA
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exceptions and
increase
accountability. Arla
has also focussed on
the concept of
change management
and training leaders
to handle change,
both with regards to
business expansion and organisational
restructuring. Arla also has introduced forecasts
instead of budgets, creating incentives for leaders
to stretch ambitions and expand the view for their
team.

Name: Nina Hagbarth Bjerring
Position: Head of Yellow cheese innovation
Based in: Aarhus, Denmark
Years at Arla: 5.5 years

Focus: A flexible and efficient organisation
Considering that change in the dairy industry
continues to accelerate, Arla needs to ensure it has
a flexible and fast-moving organisation, ready to
adapt to and succeed in new conditions. This
necessitates a simple and transparent
organisational structure —one that is easy to
understand from internal and external points of
view.

Making an international organisation efficient
is about striking the right balance between local
and global perspectives. During 2011, Arla has
implemented two major re-structuring initiatives,
aimed at improving this balance.

From our growth strategy, Arla enjoys a
regularinput of new colleagues —not least
following on from mergers and acquisitions. The
aimis to be as open and welcoming as possible,
ensuring new colleagues feel at ease and part of
Arla. Organisational changes and transformational
demands may also —from time to time —lead to
Arla having to give colleagues notice. This is never
easy and is always a last resort when all other
options have been evaluated.

To speed up decision making and create an
agile company, in 2011 Arla established the
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Describe your role at Arla. Have you gone through any training

“I work in the business group Global provided by Arla during 2011?

Categories & Operations (GCO) where I'm
heading Yellow Cheese Innovation. Our
roleis tounderstand consumer user needs
and translate these into products,
services, activations and other initiatives
toincrease value for the users.”

“I'm currently undergoing two training
programmes. One is the Arla Leadership
Programme (ALP), for which | was
recommended by a colleague, and am
really satisfied with. The aim of the ALP is
to develop leaders internally. The
programme compromises three modules,
which are spread over a period of six
months. During the year, | have also
attended a diversity training programme.
In line with the new Diversity and Inclusion
strategy, managers at Arla are provided
with a toolbox on how to take advantage
of and work with diversity”.

How are you developing through work?
“What | like most about my job is that | can
really make a visible impact. | feel | develop
alot through working at Arla—the
challenges never cease to emerge”.

our workforce Arla believes the teams are better
equipped to perform and generate innovative
solutions and creative ideas.

The Diversity and Inclusion strategy has long-
term objectives, which can be grouped in three
overriding dimensions: objectives for the
workforce, objectives for the marketplace, and
objectives for the workplace. Having defined clear
targets for each category, implementation of the
strategy is set to be fulfilled over a ten-year period.

As Arla has not previously worked with
diversity and inclusion in a structured way, the new
strategy will change Arla’s general policies for
colleagues and recruitment. It will ensure that
teams are well composed with regards to national
and ethnic background, gender, age, educational
and disciplinary background, and personality type.
The strategy applies at all levels of Arla.

Name: Jens S. Ingvardsen
Position: Vice President, Supply
Chain - Consumer Denmark
Based in: Aarhus, Denmark
Years at Arla: 16 years

What are you working with?

“I’'m head of our supply chain
organisation in Consumer Denmark.
Basically, this means that I'm responsible
for running our dairies and distribution
centres, and for developing the right

to become a dairy engineer, and during
my years at Arla, my managers have

supply chain strategy on the Danish

inspired me to do part time studying

Key concept ‘span of control’, specifying that each
no.’s manager shall be responsible for at least five

along with my work responsibilities. This

market. In my role | really feel I help to

staff. The implementation of the concept caused
amajor review of the leadership structure, strongly
reducing the range of management levels and
increasing transparency and execution.

Focus: Diversity and inclusion

In 2011, Arla launched the Arla Global Diversity and
Inclusions strategy, with the aim of working
systematically with inclusion and diversity as
business imperatives. Arla sees diversity as a key
source of potential and a lever to deliver on the
corporate strategy. By increasing the diversity of
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drive Arla’s strategy forward. Currently,
we’re working a lot with implementing
Lean principles around all our sites in
Denmark.”

How are you developing through work?

“I’'m very result oriented and | like to
improve the performance of our
company and my team. From a very
young age | was interested in the dairy
business, and training as a dairyman was
anatural first step for me. I then decided

hasresulted inan MBA.”

How would you
describe Arla as an employer?

“As aleaderin Arla, you’re given lots of
responsibility and freedom — presenting
great opportunities to develop
professionally. | have learnt to manage
people, manage organisations and
manage relations. For me, these three
are the most import disciplines you need
to master being a leader.
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Preparing these financial statements, the format and layout have been changed to
make Arla’s financial statements less complex and more relevant to readers of the
report. The general financial review is stated in this section, but for accounting areas
explained in notes, there is an additional and more detailed financial review
regarding that accounting item in the notes.

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information required by
statute or accounting standards for a specific accounting item. The notes will also
provide explanations and additional disclosure to assist readers’ understanding and
interpretation of the financial statements. Every note is structured the same way —
starting with accounting policies, continuing with the numbers, and finishing with
the financial review comments. The purpose of these changes is to provide the
readers with a complete overview of an accounting area by just looking in one place.

4

Results compared to expectations

Arla delivered a strong financial performance in
2011 with net revenues and performance price
significantly up compared to the prior year. This has
been driven largely by increasing prices.

The continued focus on cost effectiveness,
alongside higher revenues, has led to a significantly
increased performance price. Performance price
per kg milk weighed in by co-operative members
reached 2.80 DKK/3.74 SEK/ 37.3 EUR cent, as
compared to 2.52 DKK/3.49 SEK in 2010.

Expectations compared to actual results

Expected Actual

Organic growth percentage 5-6% 6,1%

Weighed in milk volumes for the year totalled 9,241
million kg (8,713 million kg in 2010) of which
co-operative member milk accounts for 6,508
million kg (6,174 million kg in 2010). The majority of
non-co-operative member milk relates to the UK,
Finland and the Netherlands.

Income statement

The Group generated total net revenue of DKK 54.9
billion (DKK 49.0 billion in 2010), an increase of 12%
compared to 2010, of which 6.1% was due to
organic growth. Net revenue related to mergers
and acquisitions in 2011 was DKK 2.7 billion.
Revenue was significantly increased by higher
prices for dairy products, which are deemed to
have impacted positively by approximately DKK 2.4
billion.

Production costs include an on-account
payment to co-operative members of DKK 17.5
billion, compared to DKK 14.9 billion in 2010. The
increases in on-account payments compared to last
year cause an effect on the result of DKK 2.6 billion,
of which DKK 1.6 billion is paid out to the existing

—

members and DKK 0.9 billion is paid out to the new
members from Hansa.

Operating profit totalled DKK 1.7 billion, which
is unchanged compared to 2010.

The Group’s EBITDA — defined as earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation —amounted to DKK 3.6 billion,
compared to DKK 3.7 billion in 2010.

Balance sheet

The balance sheet total amounted to DKK 34.9
billion at 31 December 2011, compared to DKK 30.1
billion in 2010. The increase was mainly caused by
the mergers and acquisitions in 2011 — primarily
Hansa Milch, Allgduland and Milko. The effect of the
higher exchange rates for, mainly relating to GBP
and SEK, compared to 2010, contributes to an
increase in the balance sheet total of DKK 0.3
billion.

For 2011 the total CAPEX budget was DKK 1.7
billion plus 0.5 billion for the new dairy in
Aylesbury, London. A large part of the remaining
CAPEX budget was attributed to capacity increases
mainly in GCO —yellow cheese.

Supplementary payments amount to DKK 0.5
billion compared to DKK 0.6 billion the previous
year. Consolidation based on the year’s profits is
DKK 0.8 billion, which is allocated to the capital
account by DKK 0.5 billion (8,4 Danish gre per kg
weighed in co-operative member milk) and DKK 0.3
billion (4,2 Danish gre per kg weighed in
co-operative member milk) that is allocated as
contributed capital.

The gross interest-bearing debt amounted to
DKK 15.0 billion and net interest-bearing debt
amounted to DKK 10.0 billion. The difference of DKK
5.0 billion consists of interest-bearing assets,
including DKK 0.5 billion in cash and cash
equivalents. Of the gross interest-bearing debt,
60% (DKK 9.0 billion) is long term, that is, with
maturity more than one year from 31 December

ARLA Annual Report 2011



2011, and consists primarily of facilities in DKK, SEK
and EUR. During 2011, the Group issued bonds of
SEK 1.5 billion corresponding to DKK 1.3 billion and
obtained a 30 year mortgage loans of
approximately DKK 1.0 billion. The subordinated
loan of DKK 1.0 billion was redeemed in May 2011.
Following the bond issue, the maturity profile of
the debt has been extended further.

Cash flow

During 2011 Arla has worked on improving working
capital and, thereby, cash flows from operating
activities. However the effect is not directly visible
in the financial statements because of mergers and
acquisitions, consolidation of former associated
companies as well as reclassifications made.
However the specific efforts related to reducing net
working capital amounted to a positive
contribution of approximately DKK 1 billion.

Cash flow from operating activities in 2011 was
DKK 2.3 billion, compared to DKK 2.6 billion for
2010.

Cash flow from investing activities was DKK
—2.5 billion, compared to DKK—1.6 billion in 2010.
Operational capital expenditure was DKK 2.2
billion, an increase of DKK 0.6 billion, impacted by
the increased CAPEX expenditures.

Cash flow from financing activities was affected
by the bond issue, mortgage loans and repayment
of subordinated loan in 2011. Total cash flow from
financing activities are DKK 1.4 billion compared to
DKK—2.4 billion in 2010.

Mergers and acquisitions have influenced the
cash flows by approximately DKK 0.1 billion.

Expected developments

Arla expects growth in revenue as well as in results.
The acquisition strategy continues and the revenue
is expected to move in the area of DKK 59 billion in
2012.

Cost and efficiency throughout the
organisation are priorities and Arla continuously
works to keep costs down and adabt to the
competition and the general economic climate.
Through new initiatives steps are taken to reduce
costs and improve efficiency with an expected
sustainable savings of DKK 0.5 billion.

According to the newly agreed policy, the
results under IFRS is expected to be 3% of net
revenue as described on page 29.

With a view to achieving the Arla Foods Group’s
growth targets up to 2015, the Group’s investment
budget for 2012 contains expected CAPEX
investments of DKK 2.3 billion. The investments are
to a large extend related to increased efficiency and
rationalisation that support the longer-term
competitiveness.
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Transition to IFRS

From 2012 Arla has decided to report according to
the international accounting standards, IFRS. An
analysis of the differences between the current
accounting policies and IFRS has been finalised. The
effect of the implementation on the results of
operations, the financial position and cash flow will
be published in connection with the half-year
reportin2012.

Events after the balance sheet date

In 2012, Arla is taking a significant step into the
Russian market under an agreement regarding joint
production of yellow cheese with Molvest Group,
Russia’s third largest dairy. For Arla this means an
investment of DKK 25 million. Joint production is
expected to begin earlyin 2013.

Due to the ongoing restructuring of yellow
cheese, it has been decided in the beginning of
2012, that the dairies in Klovborg and Hjgrring will
be closed.

In January it was decided that the Danish
employers’ association Mejeribrugets
Arbejdsgiverforening would join Dansk Industri
during 2012. Arla has the right to a part of the
assets when this happens.
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Consolidated
annual report

This consolidated reportis
according to the Danish
Financial Statements Act §149
an excerpt from the company’s
complete annual report. To
make this report more
manageable and user-friendly
Arla Foods group has chosen to
publish a consolidated annual
report, which does not contain
the annual report for the parent
company, Arla Foods amba.

The annual report for the
parent company is an
integrated part of the complete
annual reportand is available in
Danish at www.arlafoods.dk.

The profit appropriation and
supplementary payments from
the parent company appearin
the consolidated income
statement.

The complete annual report has
the following statements by the
Board of Directors and
Executive Management Board
and Independent auditors’
report.

STATEMENTS BY THE MANAGEMENT AND THE AUDITORS
Statement by the board of directors and executive management board

Statement by the board of directors
and executive management board

The Board of Directors and Executive Board have results of the operations and consolidated cash
today discussed and approved the annual reportof  flows for the financial year, 1 January —
Arla Foods amba for the financial year, 1 January — 31 December 2011.
31 December 2011. Further, in our opinion, the management’s

The annual report has been prepared in report gives a fair review of the development of the
accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Group and company’s operations and its financial
Act and the company’s Articles of Association. Itis position.
our opinion that the financial statements give a We recommend that the annual report be
true and fair view of the Group and company’s approved at the Board of Representatives meeting.

financial position at 31 December 2011 and of the

Aarhus, 22 February 2012

Executive Board

Peder Tuborgh Povl Krogsgaard
CEO Vice CEO

Board of Directors

Ake Hantoft Jan Toft Ngrgaard
Chairman Vice Chairman

Viggo @. Bloch Bjgrn Jepsen Bjarne Hass Nielsen

Palle Borgstrom Thomas Johansen Gunnar Pleijert
Bjarne Bundesen Uwe Krause Anders Ramstrom

Jonas Carlgren Steen Ngrgaard Madsen Ingela Svensson
Leif Eriksson Torben Myrup Pejter Sgpndergaard
Heléne Gunnarson Anne-Lie Nielsen Bent Juul Sgrensen
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Management report |——

Statement by the management and auditors

Consolidated financial statements ——
Management overview +—————

Independent auditors’ report

To the members of Arla Foods amba
Independent auditors’ report on the consolidated
financial statements and the parent company
financial statements

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements of Arla Foods amba for the financial year
1January—31 December 2011. The consolidated
financial statements and the parent company
financial statements comprise income statement,
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity,
accounting policies and other notes for the Group
as well as for the parent company and consolidated
cash flow statement. The consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the
Danish Financial Statements Act.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements and the parent company
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements and parent
company financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the Danish Financial
Statements Act and for such internal control that
Management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial
statements and parent company financial
statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements and the parent
company financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing and additional
requirements under Danish audit regulation. This
requires that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements and the parent
company financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements

and the parent company financial statements.

The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements
and parent company financial statements that give
atrue and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’sinternal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by Management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements and the parent
company financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s
and the parent company’s financial position at 31
December 2011 and of the results of the Group’s
and the parent company’s operations and
consolidated cash flows for the financial year
1January—31December 2011 in accordance with
the Danish Financial Statements Act.

Statement on the Management’s review
Pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act,
we have read the Management’s review. We have
not performed any further procedures in addition
to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements. On this basis, it is our opinion that the
information provided in the Management’s review
is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements and the parent company financial
statements.

Aarhus, 22 February 2012

KPMG
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab

Finn L. Meyer
Statsaut. revisor
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KPMG AB, Sverige

Carl Lindgren
Auktoriserad revisor
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Consolidated income statement

DKK million Note 2011 2010
NET REVENUE 2 54,893 49,030
Production costs 3/5 —43,983 -39,154
Gross profit 10,910 9,876
Sales and distribution costs 3/5 -6,781 -5,926
Administration and joint costs 3/5 -2,514 -2,313
Other operating income 5 137 123
Other operating costs 5 -87 -76
Operating profit 1,665 1,684
Results in joint ventures 10 17 0
Results in associates 10 15 23
Financial income 6 143 147
Financial costs 6 -448 -441
Profit before tax 1,392 1,413
Tax 7 -60 -160
Profit for the year 1,332 1,253
Minority interests 13 =21 15
ARLA FOODS AMBA’S SHARE

OF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,311 1,268
Proposed profit appropriation:

Supplementary payment for milk 483 569
Interest on contributed capital 8 0
Supplementary payment, total 491 569
Transferred to equity:

Capital account 547 466
Contributed capital 273 233
Transferred to equity, total 820 699
APPORTIONED PROFIT, TOTAL 1,311 1,268
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Consolidated balance sheet

Assets
Balance at Balance at

DKK million Note 31.12.11 31.12.10
FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets

Goodwill 3,731 3,744
Licences and trademarks etc. 450 328
IT development 401 380
Total intangible assets 8 4,582 4,452
Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 4,897 4,728
Plant and machinery 5,688 5,189
Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 667 649
Assets in course of construction 1,270 652
Total property, plant and equipment 9 12,522 11,218
Financial assets

Investments in joint ventures 10 421 0
Investments in associates 10 264 634
Deferred tax assets 14 148 150
Other securities and investments, etc. 10 560 550
Total financial assets 1,393 1,334
TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 18,497 17,004
CURRENT ASSETS

Total inventories 11 5,367 4,385
Receivables

Trade receivables 12 5,756 4,781
Amounts owed by associates 50 65
Other receivables 394 304
Derivatives 67 36
Prepayments 180 186
Total receivables 6,447 5,372
Total securities 4,088 2,888
Total cash at bank and in hand 504 448
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 16,406 13,093
TOTAL ASSETS 34,903 30,097
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Balance at Balance at
DKK million Note 31.12.11 31.12.10
EQUITY
Capital account 7,892 7,082
Delivery-based owner certificates 826 838
Contributed capital 676 231
Reserve fund B 500 500
Value adjustments of hedging instruments -566 -71
Total equity 9,328 8,580
MINORITY INTERESTS 13 168 116
PROVISIONS
Deferred tax 14 214 194
Pension liabilities 15 1,465 1,584
Other provisions 16 323 204
Total provisions 2,002 1,982
LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities
Subordinate bond loan 0 1,000
Issued bonds 1,251 0
Mortgage credit institutions 5,952 4,932
Credit institutions, etc. 1,828 1,427
Total long-term liabilities 17 9,031 7,359
Short-term liabilities
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities 17 108 104
Bank loans and overdrafts 5,830 4,587
Supplementary payments 491 1,031
Trade payables 4,910 4,475
Amounts owed to joint ventures B 0
Amounts owed to associates 14 1
Tax 29 51
Other payables 1,939 1,492
Derivatives 920 138
Deferred income 130 181
Total short-term liabilities 14,374 12,060
TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,405 19,419
TOTALEQUITY AND LIABILITIES 34,903 30,097
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Consolidated statement of equity

2011
Additions & Exchange
Balance at Resultsfor paymentto Other rate Balance at
DKK million 01.01.11 the year members adjustments adjustments 31.12.11
Capital account 7,082 547 214 0 49 7,892
Delivery-based
owner certificates 838 0 -14 0 2 826
Contributed capital 231 273 161 0 11 676
Reserve fund B 500 0 0 0 0 500
Value adjustments
of hedging
instruments -71 0 0 -495 0 -566
Total equity 8,580 820 361 -495 62 9,328
2010
Additions & Exchange
Balanceat Resultsfor paymentsto Other rate Balance at
DKK million 01.01.10 the year members adjustments adjustments 31.12.10
Capital account 6,471 466 0 38 107 7,082
Delivery-based
owner certificates 857 0 -54 0 35 838
Contributed capital - 233 -2 0 0 231
Strategy fund 462 0 -462 0 0 0
Reserve fund B 500 0 0 0 0 500
Value adjustments
of hedging
instruments -9 0 0 -62 0 =71
Total equity 8,281 699 -518 =24 142 8,580

ACCOUNTING ITEMS

Capital account

The capital account consists of the undistributed
equity of the company.

Delivery-based owner certificates

These were established in accordance with Section
19, sub-section 1 (ii) of the Articles of Association and
accompanying regulations. Deposits on the
certificates of each owner are payable on termination
of membership of Arla Foods amba, in accordance
with the provisions of the regulations and subject to
the approval of the Board of Representatives. The
accountis held in DKK and SEK.

Contributed capital

This was established in 2010 in accordance with Section
19, sub-section 1, (iii) of the Articles of Association and
accompanying regulations. The individual member’s
balance as contributed capital is only payable on
termination of membership of Arla Foods amba, in
accordance with the provisions of the regulations and
subject to the approval of the Board of Representatives.
The accountis held in DKK, SEK and EUR.

Reserve fund B

Reserve fund B comprises the reserves set aside on
the incorporation of the company. Following a
proposal by the Board of Directors, the Board of
Representatives can decide to use the fund to cover
extraordinary losses or write-downs, but solely in
respect of such activities or business that are not
primarily based on the milk volumes sourced from
co-operative members and only if such losses are not
covered by other reserves under the equity.

Value adjustments of hedging instruments

The item comprises the fair value of derivative
financial instruments designated as and qualifying for
recognition as a hedge of future cash flows.

Deterioration clause

According to the articles of associations, no payments
shall be made to the members of Arla Foods amba
that reduce the total of the company’s capital account
and any transfers from the annual profits
appropriation are subject to net revaluation under the
equity method. Changes to the articles of associations
have been made with effect from 2012 (please refer to
page 29).
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FINANCIALREVIEW

Equity at 31 December 2011 was DKK 9.328 million,
representing a rise of DKK 748 million compared to
31 December 2010. The equity ratio measured as
equity in proportion to the balance sheet total
declined to 27 % as at 31 December 2011 compared
to 29 % last year.

In accordance with the consolidation policy
4.5% of the performance price for the year is
consolidated with 1/3rd to individual member
accounts (contributed capital account) and 2/3rds
to the collective capital (capital account).
Consolidated results from previous years on
contributed capital entitle members to a yearly
interest of Cibor + 1.5 %. Interest is paid out in
connection with the supplementary payment. If a
member leaves or retires deposits on individual
accounts (delivery-based owner certificates and
contributed capital) will be paid out, if approved by
the Board of Representatives.

Result for the year

In 2011 the performance price was 2.80 DKK
compared to 2.52 DKKin 2010. Profits for
consolidation amounts to DKK 820 million with DKK
273 million to be consolidated on contributed
capital and DKK 547 million to be consolidated on
the capital account (2010: DKK 233 million on
contributed capital and DKK 466 million on capital
account).

Additions

During 2011 Arla Foods merged with Hansa Milch in
Germany and Milko in Sweden. As a consequence of
the transactions the contributed capital account
has increased with DKK 167 million and the capital
with DKK 214 million totalling DKK 381 million.

On 1 April 2011 Arla Foods amba merged with
Hansa Milch. With the merger Hansa Milch became
amember of Arla Foods amba. As part of the
transaction Arla Foods amba issued DKK 110 million
DKK on the contributed capital account and DKK
214 million on the capital account. As part of the
agreement Hansa Milch is entitled to consolidation
on contributed capital as if they had become
member from 1 January 2011. The issue of
additional DKK 6 million contributed capital related
to this part of the agreement has been considered
part of the acquisition cost in the opening balance.

On 1 November 2011 Arla Foods merged with
the dairy activities of Milko and the majority of that
company’s former members entered into Arla
Foods amba. As part of the transaction members
entering Arla Foods amba have to contribute with
DKK 51 million on the contributed capital. The
amount will be paid in upon liquidation of Milko
Ekonomisk Férening, which is expected to occurin
the middle of 2012.
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Payments to members

During 2011 a few of members have decided to
leave Arla Foods amba. Subject to approval by the
Board of Representatives the deposits on individual
member accounts will be paid out in March 2012.
As a consequence DKK 14 million on delivery based
owner certificates and DKK 6 million on contributed
capital has been transferred to other payables.

Other adjustments

The value adjustments of hedging instruments in
2011 amount to DKK—495 million relating primarily
to the value adjustment of interest rate hedging
instruments DKK —428 million (2010: DKK—75
million). Hedging of interest rates is done to secure
flexibility in interest and to balance risk according
to the finance policy approved by the Board. This is
done using interest swaps and options. An interest
rate increase of 1% point will influence the
marketvalue positively by DKK 400 million.

The value adjustment of foreign currency hedges
amounts to DKK—159 million (2010: DKK -5 million)
and value adjustment of raw material hedges
amounts to DKK 14 million (2010: DKK 5 million).
This is done using financial fixed price contracts
covering the use of energy and diesel. Related tax
effects amounts to DKK 78 million.

Exchange rates adjustments

Exchange rate adjustments have increased the
equity by DKK 62 million compared to DKK 142
millionin 2010. This relates primarily to translation
of net assets in foreign reporting units, including
subordinated loans considered part of the
investment. Deposits on delivery based owner
certificates and contributed capital are
denominated in DKK, SEK and EUR. The effect of the
year’s exchange rate adjustment is transferred to
the capital account.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

DKK million Note 2011 2010
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Arla Foods amba’s share of profit for the year 1,311 1,268
Depreciation and impairment 3 2,036 2,059
Other operating items without cash impact -310 -285
Share of results in joint ventures and associates 10 -32 -23
Change in deferred taxes -78 96
Change ininventories —-380 -618
Change in trade and other receivables -160 -316
Change in provisions -389 =272
Change in trade and other payables etc. 381 795
Tax paid -78 -152
Total Cash flow from operating activities 2,301 2,552
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in intangible fixed assets 8 -144 -110
Investment in property, plant and equipment 9 2,165 -1,508
Sale of property, plant and equipment 6 3
Investments in financial assets 10 -30 -11
Acquisition of enterprises 18 -149 0
Total Cash flow from investing activities -2,482 -1,626
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Supplementary payment regarding the previous financial year -1,031 -660
Paid out from equity regarding terminated member contracts -56 -34
Change in long-term liabilities 1,492 -102
Change in short-term liabilities 969 -1,596
Total Cash flow from financing activities 1,374 -2,392
Change in cash funds and securities 1,193 -1,466
Cash funds and securities at 1 January 2,508 3,889
Exchange rate adjustments of cash funds 17 85
Cash funds and securities at 31 December 3,718 2,508
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ACCOUNTING ITEMS

Operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities are calculated
as the Group’s share of the profit/loss for the year
adjusted for non-cash operating items, such as
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses,
provisions and changes in working capital.

Cash flows from acquisitions of enterprises are
recognised in the cash flow statement from the
date of acquisition. Cash flows from disposals of
enterprises are recognised up until the date of
disposal.

Investing activities

Cash flows for investing activities comprise
payments in connection with acquisitions and
disposals of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and financial assets. The cash flow
effect of acquisitions and disposals of enterprises is
shown separately in cash flows from investing
activities.

Financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities comprise
incurrence and repayment of current and non-
current liabilities to credit institutions, mortgage
credit institutions, additional payment to members
regarding the previous financial year and payments
from equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank

and in hand and marketable listed bonds which are

subject to aninsignificant risk of changes in value.
The cash flow statement cannot be derived

solely from the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Cash flow from operating activities totalled DKK
2,301 millionin 2011 compared to DKK 2,552
million in 2010. The reduction in cash flow from
operating activities amounts to DKK 251 million.

Working capital defined as the sum of
inventories and trade receivables less payables
amount to DKK 6,213 million at 31 December 2011
compared to DKK 4,691 million in 2010. Arla Foods
has strengthened the focus on improving cash flow
from operating activities (Programme Zero). The
focus on improving working capital is assessed to
have released approximately DKK 1 billion which
primarily relates to higher trade payables. The
positive impact on cash tied up, has been off-set by
growth, mergers and acquisitions, consolidation of
former associated companies and increasing
revenue.

Cash flow for investing activities totalled DKK —
2,482 million compared to DKK—1,626 millionin
2010. The year’s investments in property, plant and
equipment amounts to DKK 2,165 million.

Free cash flow totalled DKK—181 millionin 2011
compared to DKK + 926 million in 2010. The free
cash flow is calculated as the cash flow from
operating activities less cash flow for investing
activities. The development primarily relates to
increased capital expenditures.

Cash flow from financing activities totalled DKK
1,374 million. Securities and cash at bank and in
hand together amount to DKK 3,718 million
compared to DKK 2,508 million the previous year.
Thisincludes bonds used in sale and repurchase
agreements at a value of DKK 3,950 million
compared to DKK 2,765 million in 2010. In the cash
flow statement, bank overdrafts are offset against
cash and cash equivalents with a total of DKK 873
million (2010: DKK 828 million).
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Accounting policies

Notel Accounting policies

General information
The annual report of the Arla Foods Group for 2011 has been
prepared in accordance with the provisions applying to reporting
class Clarge enterprises under the Danish Financial Statements Act.

The accounting policies set out below are unchanged. However,
the control definition has been changed in the Danish Financial
Statements Act. As a consequence a number of Arla’s companies,
that were previously classified as associates, now are classified as
subsidiaries and are, thus, fully consolidated in the financial
statements as from 1 January 2011. Furthermore, other companies
which were previously associated companies are now considered
joint ventures. In accordance with the Danish Financial Statements
Act, the comparative numbers are not adjusted.

The annual reportis presented in Danish kroner, the functional
currency of the parent company.

In note 1, the general accounting policies are described. For
accounting areas with more details in the notes, the
accounting policies for that area are moved to the note. The
description of accounting policies in the notes are part of the
complete description of accounting policies.

Net revenue —note 2

Functional split of costs —note 3

Other operating income and other operating costs —note 5
Financial income and financial cost—note 6

Tax—note 7

Intangible assets —note 8

Property, plant and equipment —note 9

Leases—note 9

Financial assets —note 10

Inventory —note 11

Trade receivables —note 12

Minority interests —note 13

Deferred tax —note 14

Pension liabilities — note 15

Other provisions —note 16

Long-term liabilities —note 17

Business combinations —note 18

Derivatives —note 19

Contingent liabilities - note 20

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise Arla Foods amba
(the parent company) and the subsidiaries in which the parent
company directly or indirectly holds more than 50% of the voting
rights or which it, in some other way, controls. Jointly controlled
enterprises are considered joint ventures. Enterprises over which the
Group exercises significant influence, but which it does not control,
are considered associates. Significant influence is generally obtained
by direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 20% but less
than 50% of the voting rights. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared as a consolidation of the parent company’s and
the individual subsidiaries’ financial statements in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policies. Intra-group income and expenses,
shareholdings, intra-group balances and dividends and realised and
unrealised gains and losses on intra-group transactions are
eliminated. Unrealised gains on transactions with joint ventures and
associates are eliminated in proportion to the Group’s ownership
share of the enterprise. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way, to the extent that impairment has not taken place.

Foreign currency translation

On initial recognition, transactions denominated in foreign

currencies are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction

date. Foreign exchange differences arising between the exchange

rates at the transaction date and at the date of payment are

recognised in the income statement as financial income or costs.
Receivables, payables and other monetary items denominated in

foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the balance
sheet date. The difference between the exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period and at the date on which the receivable or
payable arose or the rates in the latest annual report is recognised in
profit or loss as financial income or costs.

Onrecognition in the consolidated financial statements of joint
ventures and associates with functional currency other than DKK, the
income statements are translated at average exchange rates per
month to the extent that this does not significantly distort the
presentation compared to the situation, if the exchange rates at the
transaction date had been applied. Balance sheet items are
translated to the exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

Any translation differences arising on translation of the foreign
operations’ opening equity at the exchange rates at the balance
sheet date and the translation differences arising on translation of
the foreign operations’ income statements at average exchange
rates are recognised directly in equity.

Correspondingly, foreign exchange adjustments on loans and
derivative financial instruments which are designated as hedges of
investments in foreign operations are recognised directly in equity to
the extent that they effectively hedge against foreign currency risks
related to the netinvestment.

Government grants

Government grants include grants and funding for R&D activities,
investment grants and similar items. Government grants are not
recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be
received. Grants for costs, etc., recognised directly in the income
statement are recognised as other operating income. Forgivable
grants are recognised as liabilities until there is reasonable assurance
that the terms for remission have been met.

Prepayments

Prepayments comprise costs incurred concerning subsequent

financial years, including prepaid rent and insurance costs, etc.
Prepayments are measured at amortised cost, which is usually

equivalent to the nominal amount.

Securities
Securities primarily consist of listed Danish bonds. On initial
recognition, securities are measured at cost, and, subsequently, they
are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement as
financial income or costs.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date.

Equity and supplementary payments offered to the members
Supplementary payments to the members are recognised as
payables by the share of profit or loss for the year that the Board of
Directors proposes to the Board of Representatives that they pay to
the members. The amount is recorded via the profit appropriation.

Other liabilities

Trade payables, payables to joint ventures and associates and other
payables are measured at amortised cost, which is usually equivalent
to the nominal amount.

Deferred income

Deferred income comprises among other things payments received
concerning income in subsequent years and negative goodwill.
Deferred income is measured at amortised cost, which is usually
equivalent to the nominal amount.

Consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement for the Group is presented in accordance
with the indirect method, based on the Group’s share of profit/loss
for the year. The cash flow statement shows the cash flows divided by
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operating, investing and financing activities and how these cash
flows have affected cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flows from operating activities are calculated as the Group’s
share of the profit/loss for the year, adjusted for non-cash operating
items.

Cash flows for investing activities comprise payments in
connection with acquisitions and disposals of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and financial assets.

Cash flows from financing activities comprise incurrence and
repayment of current and non-current liabilities other than
provisions to credit institutions, mortgage credit institutions,
supplementary payment to members regarding the previous
financial year, and payments from equity.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and
marketable listed bonds which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Uncertainty regarding recognition and measurement

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management
makes various estimates and assumptions, that form the basis of
presentation, recognition and measurement of the Group’s assets
and liabilities. The most significant accounting estimates and
judgements are presented below. The estimates and assumptions
made about future events are based on historical experience and
other factors, which by management are considered reliable, but
which by nature are associated with uncertainty. The assumptions
may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unexpected events or
circumstances may arise.

Sometimes itis necessary to change previous estimates due to
changes in the conditions on which they were based, or due to new
information or subsequent events. Changes to accounting estimates
are recognised in the accounting period in which the change takes
place, and also in future accounting periods if the change affects both
the period in which it was made and subsequent accounting periods.

Fixed assets: Estimated useful lives for intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment that are amortised on a continuous
basis are reviewed periodically.

If there are indications of impairment, an impairment test for
goodwill and other intangible assets is performed. An estimate is
made of whether the parts of the business to which the asset is
allocated (cash generating units) will be capable of generating
sufficient positive net cash flows in the future (value in use) to
support the carrying amount of the asset and other net assets in the
relevant part of the business. Due to the nature of the business, an
estimate must be made of expected cash flows for many years in the
future, as well as a reasonable discount rate, which naturally leads to
some uncertainty. Intangible assets are specified in note 8 and
property, plantand equipmentin note 9.

Inventory: The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises the cost of raw materials, consumables, direct labour and
indirect production overheads. Indirect production overheads
comprise indirect supplies, wages and salaries as well as
maintenance and depreciation of the machinery, plant and
equipment used for production and costs of plant administration and
management.

Entities in the Group, that use standard costs in the measurement
of inventories review these costs at least once a year. The standard
costis also revised if it deviates materially from the actual cost of the
individual product. Indirect production overheads are calculated on
the basis of relevant assumptions as to capacity use, production time
and other factors pertaining to the individual product.

The net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the selling
price less costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Furthermore it is determined taking into account marketability,
obsolescence and developments in expected selling price. The
calculation of net realisable value is mainly relevant to discount
products. Inventory is specified in note 11.
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Receivables: Writedowns on receivables are based on an individual
assessment of indication of impairment in connection with customer
insolvency, expected insolvency, and a mathematical calculation
based on grouping of receivables after a number of days’ of maturity.
Note 15 shows movements for the year in writedowns arising from
receivables relating to sales and services.

Deferred tax: Deferred tax reflects judgments of actual future tax
payable concerning items in the financial statements, taking into
account timing and probability. In addition, these estimates reflect
expectations of future taxable earnings and the Group’s tax planning.
Actual future tax may differ from these estimates due to changesin
expectations with regard to future taxable earnings, future statutory
changes in income tax or the outcome of tax authorities’ final review
of the Group’s tax returns. Recognition of deferred tax assets is also
subject to estimation of future use of the assets. Deferred tax is
specified in Note 14.

Pension commitments: Assessment of the value of defined
benefit plans is based on a number of actuarial assumptions including
discount rates, expected yield on plan assets, and expected rate of
increase in pay and pensions. The value of Arla’s defined benefit
plansis based on assessments by external actuaries. Further
information on these plansis contained in Note 15.

Other provisions: relate principally to restructuring and insurance
provisions. In connection with restructurings management
reassesses useful lives and residual values for non-current assets
used in the entity undergoing restructuring. The extent and amount
of onerous contracts, as well as employee and other obligations
arising in connection with the restructuring, are also estimated.
Other provisions are specified in Note 16.

Financial instruments: When entering into financial instruments,
management assesses whether the instrument is an effective hedge
of recognised assets and liabilities, expected future cash flows, or
financial investments. The effectiveness of recognised hedge
instruments is assessed at least quarterly, and any ineffectiveness is
recognised in the income statement.

Leases: Arla has entered into a number of lease contracts. When
entering into these agreements, management considers the
substance of the contracts in order to classify the leases as either
finance leases or operating leases. The Group has mainly entered into
operating leases for standardised assets with a short duration
relative to the life of the assets and, accordingly, the leases are
classified as operating leases.

Business combinations: In the case of mergers and acquisitions
where Arla gains control over the company concerned, the purchase
method is applied. Uncertainty is related to identification of assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities, and to measurement of their fair
value at the acquisition date. On business combinations and
establishment of new collaborative agreements, assessment is made
in order to classify the acquired business as a subsidiary, joint
venture or associate. The assessment is made against the
background of the constituent agreements relating to acquisition of
ownership or -voting interest in the business, and against the
background of constituent shareholder agreements or other issues,
that regulate the actual control in the business. This classification is
significant because subsidiaries are consolidated, while joint
ventures and associates are not consolidated but recognised on one
line with the proportional share of the equity value and of its profit
for the year. Joint ventures and associates are shown in Note 10. Note
18 shows the fair value at the time of acquisition for assets and
liabilities for business combinations in the year.
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Note2 Netrevenue

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Net revenue is recognised in the income statement when risks and
rewards have been transferred to the buyer. It comprises the
invoiced sales for the year less sales discounts, cash discounts, VAT
and duties. Refunds and production aid received from the EU are
includedin revenue.

Information is provided on business areas, including geographical
markets and product categories, in respect of the break-down of
revenue. The information is based on the Group’s accounting policies
and internal financial management.

Revenue split by Business group/market

2011 2010

Organic Organic
DKK million Revenue growth Revenue growth
Consumer:
Denmark* 6,766 2.5% 7,059 2.0%
Sweden 10,668 3.4% 9,606 2.1%
Finland 2,250 5.0% 2,142 -7.4%
United
Kingdom 12,751 6.0% 12,184 3.2%
Germany 4,443 4.4% 2,021 0.4%
Netherlands 1,574 2.5% 1,535 6.5%
Core markets 38,452 2.8% 34,547 n/a
Growth
markets 3,786 22.7% 3,227 n/a
Value markets 4,014 5.3% 3,699 n/a
Others 8,641 n/a 7,557 n/a
Total revenue 54,893 6.1% 49,030 3.0%

*Organic growth for Consumer Denmark concerns only dairy related products

Revenue split by product category

2011 2010

Revenue Revenue
DKK million Revenue share Revenue share
Fresh dairy
products 22,370 41.3% 19,678 40.1%
Cheese 13,206 24.1% 12,168 24.8%
Butter and
spreads 7,614 13.9% 6,691 13.6%
Other 11,703 20.7% 10,493 21.5%
Total revenue 54,893 100% 49,030 100%

FINANCIALREVIEW

Net revenue in 2011 totalled DKK 54.9 billion compared to DKK 49.0
billion in 2010 equating to a rise of 12.0 %. The organic growth for
2011 accounts for 6.1%.

Mergers and acquisitions has effected the net revenue by DKK 2.7
billion split on Hansa DKK 2.1 billion, Allgduland DKK 0.3 billion and
Milko with DKK 0.2 billion. Sales prices has increased the net revenue
with DKK 2.4 billion mainly effected by increasing market prices.
Furthermore the net revenue hasincreased with DKK 0.8 billion due
to higher volumes and changed productmix.

Markets

Looking at the net revenue by business group/market DKK 39 billion
was realised on the core markets covering approximately 70 % of the
netrevenue.

Consumer International mainly have business in the growth
markets in Poland, Russia, USA and Middle East and North Africa. Net
revenue from growth markets of DKK 4 billion has increased by 23%
in 2011 and is now 6% of total net revenue. Especially Russia and the
Middle East show good growth rates.

The net revenue on the value markets in 2011 was DKK 4 billion
equalling 8% of total net revenue.

Product categories

The net revenue growth in 2011 is realised throughout the product
categories. The major growth comes from Fresh Dairy Products (FDP)
with atincreasing net revenue of DKK 3 billion and Cheese with DKK 1
billion.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Production costs

Production costs include goods purchased (including the purchase of
milk from the members) and direct and indirect costs (including
depreciation and impairment losses on production assets, and wages
and salaries paid) generating the revenue for the year. Purchase of
milk from the members is recognised at the on-account prices for the
year and thus does not comprise supplementary payment.

Sales and distribution costs

Costs incurred during the year in selling and distributing goods sold
and in conducting initiatives such as sales campaigns, are recognised
as sales and distribution costs. Moreover, costs relating to sales staff,
write-down of trade receivables, costs relating to sponsorships,
advertising and exhibitions and depreciation and impairment losses
are recognised as sales and distribution costs.

Administrative and joint costs

Administrative expenses and overhead costs comprise expenses
incurred during the year for management and administration,
including expenses for administrative staff, office premises and office
expenses, and depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

DKK million 2011 2010
Intangible assets -436 —485
Property, plant and equipment -1,600 -1,574

Staff costs

DKK million 2011 2010
Wages, salaries and remuneration -5,797 -5,411
Pensions =522 =520
Other social security costs -659 -623
Total staff costs -6,978 -6,554
Staff costs relate to:

Production costs -3,949 -3,780
Sales and distribution costs -2,232 -2,006
Administration and joint costs -797 -768
Total staff costs -6,978 -6,554

Fees to parent company’s

Board of Representatives -6 -5
Fees to the parent company’s

Board of Directors -5 -5
Fees to parent company’s

Executive Management Board =20 -18
Average number of full-time employees 17,417 16,215
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Total depreciation, amortisation
and impairment -2,036 -2,059

Depreciation/amortisation and
impairment relate to:

Production costs -1,439 -1,436
Sales and distribution costs -152 -185
Administration and joint costs —445 —438

Total depreciation, amortisation
and impairment -2,036 -2,059

FINANCIALREVIEW

Total costs

Total production costs, sales and distribution and administration and
joint costs have increased by 12%, which is about the same level as
theincrease in revenue. Of the increase, DKK 2.7 billion
corresponding to 6% is due to the mergers and acquisitions of Hansa,
Allgduland and Milko. Average exchange rates for SEK and GBP have
increased in 2011, which have influenced total costs by DKK 0.2
billion.

The split of total costs in production costs, sales and distribution
and administration and joint costs has not changed significantly
compared to 2010.

Production costs include an on-account payment to co-operative
members of DKK 17.5 billion compared to DKK 14.9 billion in 2010.
The relation between revenue and production costs as well as
distribution costs has not changed significantly.

Administration costs have increased mainly due to the mergers
and acquisitions.

Staff costs

Arla Foods operates a bonus programme applying to a number of
employees in leading positions. Under the programme an employee
can earn up to 20% or 30% of their yearly salary based on defined
targets. In the financial statements the amount of DKK 46 million
(2010: DKK 36 million) is recognised as accrued bonus to employees.
Thisis based on an estimated average bonus percentage of 17%
(2010: 11%).

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Amortisation of intangible assets amount to DKK 436 million,
compared to DKK 485 million in 2010. The decrease is caused by
several assets being fully amortised or written down to DKK 0 in 2010
mainly on goodwill and IT development.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment amount to DKK
1,600 million, which is anincrease of DKK 26 million from 2010.
Impairment write-downs of DKK101 million remain on the same level
asin 2010.
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Note4 Feesto auditors appointed by the Board of Representatives

Fees to auditors

DKK million 2011 2010
Statutory audit -13 -14
Tax assistance =7/ -5
Other services -10 -4
Total fees to auditors -30 =23

KPMG has been appointed as auditors by the Board of
Representatives.

Fees are specified according to the demands in the Danish
Financial Statements Act. Other services comprise, fees related to
due diligence in connection with mergers and acquisitions of
companies.

Note5 Otheroperating income and other operating costs

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Other operating income and costs comprise items that are secondary

compared to the Group’s principal activities. These items include
gains/losses on sale of intangible assets and property, plant and

equipment, etc.

Other operating income and other operating costs

DKK million 2011 2010
Other operating income:

Gain on disposal of intangible assets

and property, plant and equipment 13 13
Sale of electricity 64 54
Rental and other secondary income 7 12
Otheritems 53 44
Total other operating income 137 123
Other operating costs:

Loss on disposal of intangible assets

and property, plant and equipment -10 -13
Costs related to sale of electricity -37 -37
Otheritems -40 -26
Total other operating costs -87 -76
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Excluding
otherincome and
costs and special

Including
otherincome and
costs and special

Otherincome and
costs and special

DKK million items items items
2011

NET REVENUE 54,893 0 54,893
Production costs —43,983 +60 —43,923
Gross profit 10,910 +60 10,970
Sales and distribution costs -6,781 0 —6,781
Administration and joint costs -2,514 -52 -2,566
Other operatingincome 137 =137 0
Other operating costs -87 +87 0
Operating profit 1,665 -42 1,623

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Other operating income and costs

Other operating income and costs relate to items of a secondary
nature.

Included in this are revenue and cost in connection to the sale of
surplus electricity from the condensation plants. In 2011 total net
result related to this activity amounts to DKK 27 million (2010: DKK 17
million). In 2011 profitable contracts regarding delivery of electricity
was entered, which caused the profitincrease.

Gains and losses related to disposed fixed assets are recognised in
operating income, with a profit of DKK 13 million (2010: 13 million),
and in operating costs, with a loss of DKK 10 million (2010: DKK 13
million).

Special items

In addition to other operating income and costs, the note also
specifies other special items. These items are included in the income
statement as production costs, sales and distribution costs as well as
administrative and joint costs.

In production cost DKK 60 million can be referred to as special
items. In 2010, fixed assets in Poland were written-down. This write-
down was reversed in 2011 which has caused a positive effect on the
income statement of DKK 23 million.

Atotal of DKK 83 million are related to restructuring costs,
including impairment write-downs. In 2011 a restructuring of yellow
cheese in Denmark and Sweden began. This led to both impairment
write-downs of assets and redundancy provisions totalling DKK 53
million. The remaining parts relates to other restructurings in
Denmark and Sweden.

In administration and joint costs DKK +52 million can be referred to
as special items. This mainly relates to recognition of costs in assets,
which has not previously met the requirements for recognition. This
has led to a positive impact of DKK 42 million.
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Note 6 Financial income and financial costs

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interest income and cost as well as capital gains and losses, etc., are
included in the income statement in the amounts attributable to the
financial year.

Moreover, financial income and cost comprise realised and
unrealised value adjustments of securities and foreign currency,
amortisation of financial assets and liabilities as well as the interest
element of finance lease payments. Furthermore, realised and
unrealised gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, that
are not designated as hedging instruments are included. Accounting
policies for leases are described in note 9 and for derivative financial
instrumentsin note 19.

Financial income and financial costs

DKK million 2011 2010
Financial income:

Interest, cash at bank and in hand 26 21
Interest, securities 53 40
Exchange rate gains (net) 61 77
Other 3 9
Total financial income 143 147
Financial costs:

Interest, bank loans etc. -437 -441
Other =ilil 0
Total financial costs -448 -441
Net financial cost -305 -294
Note7 Tax

FINANCIALREVIEW

Net financial items are recognised in the income statementin 2011 as
DKK 305 million (2010: DKK 294 million). The rise in the Group’s
financial expenses can primarily be attributed to lower gains on
foreign currency.

Net financials include the Group’s net interest costs excluding
interest relating to pensions at DKK 315 million compared to DKK 338
millionin 2010 are recognised as staff costs. The average interest
rate decreased to 3.1% in 2011 compared to 3.7% in 2010.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Taxable income is determined based on the national rules applicable
to the enterprises. Tax is computed based on cooperative taxation or
company taxation. Cooperative taxation is based on capital, while
company taxation is based on income for the year.

Tax for the year comprises current tax for the year and changes in
deferred tax for the year. The tax cost relating to the profit/loss for
the year is recognised in the income statement. The tax cost relating
toincome and expenses recognised in equity is recognised directly in
equity. Full distribution of tax between the jointly taxed enterprises
is made.

Current tax liabilities

Current tax payable and receivable are recognised in the balance
sheet as tax computed on the taxable income for the year, adjusted
for tax regarding the taxable income of prior years, if any, and for tax
paid on account.

Tax for the year
DKK million 2011 2010
Cooperative tax -35 =57
Tax on taxable income for the year -34 -125
Adjustment, deferred tax =20 -7
Change in tax rate -18 -5
Adjustment of tax from previous year 47 34
Total tax for the year -60 -160

FINANCIALREVIEW

Expensed tax declined during the year, primarily attributable to a
lower taxable income for the year. The tax rate in UK will reduce from
1 April, 2012, from 27% to 25%. The tax rate in Finland was lowered
on 1January, 2012, from 26% to 24.5%. The deferred tax for these
countries has been reduced accordingly.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Intangible assets are measured at purchase price/cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised at cost as described under “Business
combinations” in note 18.

Licences and trademarks etc.

Alicenceis an authorisation to use the licensed material. A
trademark is a distinctive sign or indicator used by a company to
identify that the products or services to consumers with which the
trademark appears originate from a unique source, and to distinguish
its products or services from those of other companies.

Product development costs

Research and development costs comprise direct costs, salaries and
amortisation directly or indirectly attributable to the Group’s
development activities.

Capitalisation of product development costs is commenced only
when the criterias in this respect have been met. Development
projects that are clearly defined and identifiable, and where the
technical use, sufficient resources and a potential market or
development opportunities are evidenced, and where the Group
intends to produce, market or use the product commercially, are
recognised as intangible assets. Usually, the criterias are met late in
the development stage.

Product development costs meeting the criterias for recognition in
the balance sheet are measured at cost, including any indirect costs
incurred.

Product development costs that do not meet the criterias for
capitalisation in the balance sheet are recognised as costs in the
income statement on an ongoing basis.

Intangible assets 2011

IT development costs

IT development is the application of research findings or other
knowledge to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved IT processes, systems or services before the
start of commercial use. For IT development projects, mainly
external costs for the establishment of the group’s IT systems are
recognised.

Amortisation of assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated economic life. The estimated economic lives are as
follows:

e Goodwill —up to 20 years

¢ Licences and trademarks, etc.,—up to 20 years

e Product development—3years

¢ |Tdevelopment—5-8years

Intangible assets are amortised from the date of acquisition or -entry
into service.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amount of intangible assets is assessed annually for
indications of impairment. Impairment tests are conducted of
individual assets or groups of assets when there is an indication that
they may be impaired. Assets are written down to the lower of the
recoverable amount and carrying amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s value in use and
its fair value. The value in use is determined as the present value of
the expected future net cash flows from the use of the asset or
-group of assets and expected net cash flows from the disposal of the
asset or -group of assets after the end of their useful life.

Licences and Product

DKK million Goodwill trademarks etc. development IT development
Costat 1January 2011 5,070 587 86 1,038
Exchange rate adjustments 90 3 0 7
Additions 0 0 0 144
Mergers and acquisitions 178 183 1
Reclassification 0 0 87
Disposals -159 -1 -86 -17
Cost at 31 December 2011 5,179 772 0 1,260
Amortisation and impairment

at 1January 2011 -1,326 -259 —-86 —-658
Exchange rate adjustments -29 -1 0
Amortisation for the year -252 -63 -121
Reclassification 0 0 -87
Amortisation on disposals 159 1 86 7
Amortisation and impairment

at 31 December 2011 -1,448 -322 0 -859
Carrying amount at

31 December 2011 3,731 450 0 401
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Intangible assets 2010

Licences and Product

DKK million Goodwill trademarks etc. development IT development
Costat 1January 2010 5,133 548 111 1,248
Exchange rate adjustments 168 41 5 0
Additions 0 0 0 110
Disposals -231 -2 -30 -320
Cost at 31 December 2010 5,070 587 86 1,038
Amortisation and impairment

at 1January 2010 -1,237 -188 -78 -809
Exchange rate adjustments -47 -19 -4 0
Amortisation for the year —265 -53 21 -163
Impairment for the year -8 -1 -13 0
Amortisation on disposals 231 2 30 314
Amortisation and impairment

at 31 December 2010 -1,326 -259 86 -658
Carrying amount

at 31 December 2010 3,744 328 0 380

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Intangible assets amount to DKK 4,582 million compared to DKK
4,452 million last year. Amortisation amounts to DKK 436 million.
There were no impairment write-downs in 2011. Additions amount
to DKK 506 million of which DKK 362 million relates to mergers and
acquisitions. These are specified in note 18.

Goodwill

Opening balances for goodwill comprise mainly goodwill related to
Arla Foods UK, AFF, Tholstrup and Arla Ingman. From the mergers
with Milko, goodwill of DKK 122 million is recognised.

Impairment tests have not indicated a need for impairment write-
downs of goodwill in 2011. However the risk of impairment write-
downs in Finland is increasing due to the difficult competitive
situation and operating losses. The total amount of goodwill related
to Finland is approximately DKK 280 million.

Note 9 Property, plant and equipment

Licences and trademarks etc.

Opening balances for licences and trademarks etc. comprise mainly
the trademarks Cocio, Anchor, licences in Canada and God Morgon.
Additions from mergers and acquisitions of DKK 183 million mainly
comprise the trademark Hansano.

Product development

In 2011 no product development costs were considered to comply
with the definition of recognition in the balance sheet. The book
value is DKK 0 million and remaining value of accumulated cost and
amortisation has been disposed of in 2011.

IT development
Additions were part of the normal business and there are no special
developmentsin 2011.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Construction in
progress, land and decommissioned plants written down to net
realisable value are not depreciated.

Cost comprises the purchase price and any costs directly
attributable to the acquisition until the date when the asset is
available for use. Interest expenses for the period of production are
notincluded.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis from the date of acquisition or entry into service based on an
assessment of the expected useful life. The expected useful lives are
as follows:

o Office premises—50 years

e Production buildings —20 years

e Plantand machinery—5-20years

e Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment —3—7 years

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement as production
costs, sales and distribution costs and administrative and joint costs.
Gains and losses are determined as the difference between the
selling price less selling costs and the carrying amount at the date of

disposal.

Leases
For accounting purposes, leases are divided into finance and
operating leases.

Leases regarding property, plant and equipment that transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership to the
Group are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Oninitial recognition, finance leases are recognised in the balance
sheet at the lower of the fair value and present value of the future
lease payments. In calculating the present value, the discount factor
isthe interest rate implicit in the lease or an approximation thereof.

Assets held under finance leases are subsequently depreciated in
line with other property, plant and equipment.

Operating lease payments are recognised in the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, is assessed
annually for indications of impairment. Impairment tests are
conducted of individual assets or groups of assets when there is an
indication that they may be impaired. Assets are written down to the
lower of the recoverable amount and carrying amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s value in use and
its fair value. The value in use is determined as the present value of
the expected future net cash flows from the use of the asset or
-group of assets and expected net cash flows from the disposal of the
asset or -group of assets after the end of their useful life.
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Property, plant and equipment 2011

Land and Plantand Fixture and fittings, Assets in course

DKK million buildings machinery tools and equipment of construction
Costat 1January 2011 7,046 11,262 2,652 652
Exchange rate adjustment 52 59 32 17
Additions 49 220 41 1,855
Mergers and acquisitions 342 343 48 17
Transferred from assets in course

of construction 101 1,037 107 —1.245
Disposals -96 -384 -81 -26
Cost at 31 December 2011 7,494 12,537 2,799 1,270
Depreciation and impairment

at 1January 2011 -2,318 -6,073 -2,003 0
Exchange rate adjustments -14 -26 =23 0
Depreciation for the year -330 -1,019 -173 0
Impairment for the year -14 -87 0 0
Impairment reversal 17 0 6 0
Depreciation on disposals 62 356 61 0
Depreciation and impairment

at 31 December 2011 -2,597 -6,849 -2,132 0
Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 4,897 5,688 667 1,270
Of which assets held under finance lease 42 145 0 0
Property, plant and equipment 2010

Land and Plant and Fixture and fittings, Assets in course

DKK million buildings machinery tools and equipment of construction
Costat 1January 2010 6395 10,885 1,196 916
Exchange rate adjustment 268 480 110 41
Additions 93 535 102 883
Transferred from assets in course

of construction 267 748 169 -1,184
Reclassification 30 —-895 1,202 0
Disposals -7 -491 -127 -4
Cost at 31 December 2010 7,046 11,262 2,652 652
Depreciation and impairment

at 1January 2010 -1,812 -5913 -924 0
Exchange rate adjustments -66 -265 -93 0
Depreciation for the year -336 -934 -191 0
Impairment for the year -60 -53 0 0
Reclassification —44 609 -902 0
Depreciation on disposals 0 483 107 0
Depreciation and impairment

at 31 December 2010 -2,318 -6,073 -2,003 0
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 4,728 5,189 649 652
Of which assets held under finance lease 46 170 1 0
FINANCIALREVIEW

Property, plant and equipment amount to DKK 12,522 million in 2011 Depreciation amounts to DKK 1,522 million compared to 1,461 in
compared to DKK 11,218 million in 2010. Opening balances comprise 2010. Impairment amounts to DKK 101 million compared to DKK 113
mainly production facilities in Denmark, Sweden and the UK. million in 2010. Impairments include assets in the yellow cheese

The year’s additions of DKK 2,165 million primarily comprise restructuring in Denmark and Sweden as well as other property,

investments related to GCO in Denmark and Sweden and the new plant and equipments. Impairment regarding operations in Poland of
dairy in Aylesbury, London. DKK 23 million has been reversed in 2011.

Additions from the mergers and acquisitions of Hansa, Milko and
Allgduland amount to a total of DKK 750 million.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures are recognised in the balance sheet
according to the equity method at the proportionate share of the
enterprises’ net asset values, calculated in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. Goodwill related to joint ventures is
recognised under “Investments in joint ventures”.

Joint ventures with a negative net asset value are measured at nil,
and any amounts owed by such entities are written down by the
Group’s share of the negative net asset value if the amount owed is
deemed irrecoverable. If the negative net asset value exceeds the
amount owed, the remaining amount is recognised under provisions
only if the Group has a legal or a constructive obligation to cover the
joint venture’s negative balance.

The proportionate share of the results of the joint ventures after
taxis recognised in the Group’s income statement.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates are recognised in the balance sheet
according to the equity method at the proportionate share of the
enterprises’ net asset values calculated in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. Goodwill related to associates is
recognised under “Investments in associates”.

Associates with a negative net asset value are measured at nil, and
any amounts owed by such entities are written down by the Group’s
share of the negative net asset value if the amount owed is deemed
irrecoverable. If the negative net asset value exceeds the amount

Financial assets excluding deferred tax asset 2011

owed, the remaining amount is recognised under provisions only if
the Group has a legal or a constructive obligation to cover the
associate’s negative balance.

The proportionate share of the results after tax of the associates is
recognised in the Group’s income statement.

Other securities and investments

Other securities and investments, etc., are measured at fair value at
the balance sheet date. Changes in fair value are carried as financial
income or costs. Other securities under non-current assets primarily
comprise bonds where the Group intends to hold the securities to
maturity. These are measured at amortised cost. Other bonds are
included in current assets.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amount of financial assets is assessed annually for
indications of impairment. Impairment tests are conducted of
individual assets or groups of assets when there is an indication that
they may be impaired. Assets are written down to the lower of the
recoverable amount and carrying amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s value in use and
its fair value. The value in use is determined as the present value of
the expected future net cash flows from the use of the asset or -r
-group of assets and expected net cash flows from the disposal of the
asset or -group of assets after the end of their useful life.

DKK million Investments in joint ventures Investments in associates Other securities etc.
Costat1January 2011 0 667 610
Reclassification 389 —440 0
Additions regarding mergers

and acquisitions 0 57 25
Additions 16 0 14
Disposals 0 0 -5
Costat 31 December 2011 405 284 644
Adjustments at 1 January 2011 0 =33 -60
Dividends -6 0

Results for the year 17 15

Exchange rate adjustments 3

Other adjustments -5 24
Adjustments at 31 December 2011 16 -20 -84
Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 421 264 560

Financial assets excluding deferred tax asset 2010

DKK million Investments in joint ventures Investments in associates Other securities etc.
Costat1January 2010 0 665 591
Additions 0 2 29
Disposals 0 0 -10
Cost at 31 December 2010 0 667 610
Adjustments at 1 January 2010 0 -80 -80
Dividends 0 -12 0
Results for the year 0 23 10
Exchange rate adjustments 0 34 10
Other adjustments 0 2 0
Adjustments at 31 December 2010 0 -33 -60
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 0 634 550
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2011 2010
Results Ownership Results Ownership
DKK million after tax Equity share DKK million after tax Equity share
Arla Foods Ingredients SA, Arla Foods Ingredients SA,
Argentina 13 103 50% Argentina 5 87 50%
Arla Foods UK Farmers, UK 0 86 50% Arla Foods UK Farmers, UK 0 84 50%
Biolac GmbH, Germany 20 102 50% Biolac GmbH, Germany 9 88 50%
Dan Vigor Ltda., Brazil 12 56 50% Dan Vigor Ltda., Brazil 10 48 50%
Others -28 74 40-50% Svensk Mjolk, Sweden -1 77 42%
Total investments in joint Immobilien K/S, Denmark 0 72 35%
ventures i il AgriNorcold, Denmark 5 43 50%
Others -5 135 40-50%
Investments in associates consists of Total investments in
2011 associates 23 634
Results Ownership
DKK million after tax Equity share FINANCIAL REVIEW
Svensk Mjélk, Sweden 2 84 53% Investments in joint ventures and associates
Immobilien K/S, Denmark 8 77 35% The change of the control definition has caused changes for the
. ’ 5 former associated companies. A number of the companies in the
AgriNorcold, Denmark 7 48 50%  Middle East are now considered subsidiaries and are fully
Others -2 55 30-50% consolidated in the financial statements.
Total investments in Other companies are considered joint ventures. These are
associates 15 264 separately presented but otherwise accounted for the same way as

Note 11 Inventory

associated companies.

Transfer of carrying amount related to companies reclassified to
subsidiaries is DKK 51 million and transfer related to joint ventures is
DKK 389 million.

In 2011 Arla Foods Group in connection with the mergers and
acquisitions acquired investments in entities that are classified as
associates. These are Bergland Naturkdase GmbH and Milei GmbH.

In note 24 the total group chartincluding joint ventures and
associated companies is presented.

Other securities etc.

Other securities consists mainly of listed shares and bonds held by
Mejeriforeningen. In 2011 these contributed positively to the net
financials by DKK 8 million compared to DKK 15 million in 2010.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Raw materials and consumables as well as goods for resale are
measured at cost, comprising purchase price plus delivery costs. The
on-account price plus expected supplementary payment to Arla
Foods amba’s members is used as the cost of milk delivered by
membersincluded in inventories.

Work in progress and finished goods are measured at cost,
comprising the costs of raw materials and consumables plus costs of
conversion and other costs directly or indirectly attributable to the
individual goods. Indirect production costs comprise costs relating to
indirect materials, wages and salaries and depreciation of capital
equipment. Borrowing costs are not included in the cost.

Inventories are measured in accordance with the FIFO method. If
cost exceeds the net realisable value, a write-down is made to this
lower value. The net realisable value of inventories is determined
taking into consideration marketability, obsolescence and estimated
sales price less costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

ARLA Annual Report2011

Inventory

DKK million 2011 2010
Raw materials and consumables 1,601 1,281
Work in progress 570 530
Finished goods and goods for resale 3,196 2,574
Total inventory 5,367 4,385

FINANCIALREVIEW

Inventories total DKK 5.367 million at 31 December 2011 compared
to DKK 4,385 million in 2010. The increase can be explained by
increasing prices for milk and also increasing volumes in 2011, which
has caused an increase of approximately DKK 400 million. Mergers
and acquisitions has affected invenories by approximately DKK 450
million, and also the change of investments in associates to
subsidiaries has caused an increase of approximately 100 DKK
million.
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Note 12 Trade receivables

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Receivables are measured at amortised cost less write-down for bad
debtlosses based on anindividual assessment or a write-down on a
portfolio basis. Large receivables are assessed individually. If there is
no objective indication of impairment, an assessment is made ona
portfolio basis of receivables on similar markets based on the
maturity of the receivables.

Substantially, amortised cost corresponds to nominal values.

Trade receivables

DKK million 2011 2010
Trade receivables before provision

for bad debt 5,838 4,861
Provision for bad debt -82 -80
Total trade receivables, net 5,756 4,781

Trade receivables split by market

DKK million 2011 2010
Denmark 1,140 1,315
Sweden 848 800
Finland 210 189
United Kingdom 1,038 978
Germany 536 215
Netherlands 166 92
Others 1,900 1,272
Total trade receivables 5,838 4,861

FINANCIALREVIEW

Trade receivables total DKK 5,765 compared to DKK 4,781 million the
previous year. The increase can primarily be attributed to higher
revenue, but also mergers and aquisitions, which has increased the
trade receivables by DKK 450 million. The change of associated
companies has added DKK 120 million to the receivables.

Trade receivables in Germany increased by DKK 321 million
compared to 2010. The increased is primarily related to Allgauland
and Hansa Milch which were acquired during the course of the year.

The provision for bad debt has remained stable compared to prior
year. There has been no material write-offs in 2011.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the consolidated financial statements, the items of subsidiaries are
recognised in full. On initial recognition, non-controlling interests are
measured at the proportionate share of the acquired business’ s
identified assets and liabilities. The minority interests’ proportionate
shares of the subsidiaries’ results and equity are recognised
separately in the income statement and balance sheet, respectively.

Minority interests

DKK million 2011

Minority interests at 1 January 116 128
Share of results 21 -15

Additions and disposals, changes in
ownership shares etc. 31 3

Minority interests at 31 December 168 116

Note 14 Deferred tax

FINANCIALREVIEW

Minority interests have increased DKK 52 million in 2011. The
majority of the increase is related to the changed status of a number
of companies in the Middle East because of a change in the definition
of parent/subsidiary relationship in the Danish Financial Statements
Act. These companies are now being accounted for as subsidiaries
which means that they are now fully consolidated in the consolidated
statements and consequently a minority interest share is calculated.
The related effect amounts to DKK 42 million on 1 January 2011.
Minority share of net results in 2011 amounts to DKK 21 million.
Other equity movements amount to DKK—11 million.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Deferred tax and adjustment of deferred tax for the year are
measured using the balance sheet liability method as the tax value of
alltemporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax
base of assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets, including tax value of tax loss carryforwards,
are recognised under other non-current assets at the expected value
of their use; either as an off-set against tax on future income or as an
off-set against deferred tax liabilities in enterprises in the same legal
tax entity and jurisdiction.

Deferred tax is measured according to the tax rules and at the tax
rates applicable in the respective countries at the end of the
reporting period when the deferred tax is expected to crystallise.

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities due to changes in the
tax rate are recognised in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets

DKK million 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets at 1 January 150 215
Exchange rate adjustments 4 11
Acquisition of enterprises 8 0
Other changes during the year -14 -76
Deferred tax assets at 31 December 148 150
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Deferred tax liabilities

DKK million 2011 2010
Deferred tax liabilities at 1 January 194 229
Exchange rate adjustments 1 21
Acquisition of enterprises 33 0
Other changes during the year -14 -56
Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 214 194

FINANCIALREVIEW

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets relate predominantly to pension liabilities in the
UK. A deferred tax asset of DKK 92 million (2010: DKK 82 million) has
not been recognised as it is not expected to be used.

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities predominantly relates to property, plant and
equipmentin Sweden.
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Note 15 Pension liabilities

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Pension plans

The Group has entered into pension plans with a significant number
of its employees. The pension plans comprise both defined
contribution plans and defined benefit plans.

Under the defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to independent pension companies on a regular basis.
The Group is not obliged to make any additional payments.

Defined benefit plans are characterised by the fact that the Group
is obligated to pay a specific benefit from the date of retirement
dependent on for example the employees’ seniority and final salary.

The liability regarding defined benefit plans is calculated annually
by means of actuarial calculations based on assumptions regarding
the future development in interest rate, inflation and average life
expectancy, etc.

Costs for the year regarding defined benefit plans are based on
actuarial calculations.

The actuarial present values less the fair value of any plan assets
are recognised in the balance sheet under pension provisions.

If the actuarial assumptions change, gains and losses are thus only
recognised in the income statement if they exceed 10% of either the
present value of the pension obligation or the fair value of the
pension fund’s assets and, in that event, over the relevant
employees’ average expected number of remaining working years in
the Group (the corridor method).

The provision comprises defined benefit schemes in UKand
Sweden. The defined benefit schemes ensure pensions to the
employees covered, based on seniority and final salary.

The net pension liability is recognised in the balance sheet as
follows:

DKK million 2011 2010
Present value of defined benefit schemes 7,782 7,042
Fair value of plan assets -5,636 -5,218
Net pension liabilities 2,146 1,824
Non-recognised actuarial

gains/losses, net -681 -240
Net pension liabilities recognised in

balance sheet 1,465 1,584
Development in net pension liability:

DKK million 2011 2010
Net pension liability recognised in

balance sheet at 1 January 1,584 1,670
Exchange rate adjustments 17 161
Expensed in the income statement, net 72 74
Additions from mergers and acquisitions 118 0
The Group’s payments to the schemes -326 -321
Net pension liabilities recognised in the

balance sheet at 31 December 1,465 1,584

Assets invested in pension funds comprise:

DKK million % 2011 % 2010
Equities 36 2,018 39 2,048
Bonds 45 2,553 40 2,075
Properties 12 678 13 653
Other assets 7 387 8 442
Total assets 100 5,636 100 5,218
Return on pension assets:
DKK million 2011 2010
Expected return on plan assets 324 327
Actuarial gains/losses on plan assets
for the year (not recognised) -76 110
Actual return on plan assets 248 437

The Group expects to pay DKK 277 million to defined pension
schemesin 2012 compared to DKK 326 in 2011.

Assumptions for the actuarial calculations at the balance sheet
date are:

2011 2010
Discounting rate, Sweden 3.8% 3.9%
Discounting rate, UK 5.0% 5.6%
Expected payrollincrease Sweden 3.0% 3.0%
Expected payrollincrease UK 4.4% 4.7%
Expected average return on plan assets 6.3% 6.7%

Expected return on plan assets is determined by external actuaries
on the basis of the composition of the assets and general
expectations of economic developments.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Net pension liabilities in the UK and Sweden are recognised at DKK
1,465 million compared to DKK 1,584 million the previous year.

The present value of defined benefit schemes has decreased due
to the Group’s payments to the schemes and increased due to the
merger with Milko.

The provision comprises defined benefit schemes in UKand
Sweden. The defined benefit schemes ensure pensions to the
employees covered, based on seniority and final salary.

UK

The defined benefit schemes in the UK are administered by
independent pension funds that invest the amounts paid to cover the
liabilities. The actuarial present value of the liabilities (DKK 6,355
million at 31 December 2011 compared to DKK 5,846 million at 31
December 2010) less the fair value of the assets (DKK 5,636 million at
31 December 2011 compared to DKK 5,218 million at 31 December
2010) amounts to DKK 719 million (2010: DKK 627 million).

Following the use of the corridor method, the actuarial loss of
DKK 302 million (gain of DKK 51 million at 31 December 2010) has not
increased the provision and consequently, the net commitment at
31 December 2011 is DKK 417 million (2010: DKK 679 million).

Note 16 Other provisions
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During the year Arla has performed a pension increase exercise with
the aim to reduce the pension liability and the future risk, resulting in
a past service cost income of DKK 4 million. Arla is closing the defined
contribution pension schemes for future accruals, with effect from 1.
February 2012 after reaching agreement with the pension funds
trustees and after a constructive dialog with active members.

Sweden
The defined benefit schemes in Sweden are not covered by payments
to pension funds.

The actuarial present value of the liability totals DKK 1,427 million
(2010: DKK 1,196 million), which is increased by DKK 118 million
because of the merger of Milko. Following the use of the corridor
method, the actuarial loss of DKK 379 million (DKK 291 million at 31
December 2010) has not increased the provision and consequently
the net liability at 31 December 2011 is DKK 1,048 million (2010: DKK
905 million).

In 2011 the method for deriving at the discount rate for pension
obligations in Sweden are changed. Accordingly the defined benefit
obligation decreased by approximately DKK 350 million. However, as
Arla Foods applies the corridor method the recognised net liability in
the balance sheet is not affected.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Other provisions comprise insurance provisions and liabilities in
relation to business combinations, restructurings, onerous contracts,
warranty commitments and litigation.

Other provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events,
the Group has a legal or a constructive obligation and it is probable
that there will be an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits to settle the obligation.

Other provisions are measured at net realisable value or at fair
value based on a best estimate of the costs necessary at the balance
sheet date to settle the liability.

Other provisions

DKK milllion 2011 2010
Other provisions at 1 January 204 202
Exchange rate adjustments 2 5
Additions regarding mergers

and acquisitions 92 0
New provisions during the year 88 66
Used during the year -63 -69
Other provisions at 31 December 323 204
Insurance provisions 128 117
Restructuring provisions 118 34
Other provisions 77 53
Total other provisions 323 204

ARLA Annual Report2011

FINANCIALREVIEW

Other provisions totalled DKK 323 million at 31 December 2011, an
increase from the previous year. Other provisions primarily relate to
insurance-related provisions (incurred but not reported) and
restructuring provisions.

The insurance provisions relates mainly to industrial injuries, for
which DKK 31 millions was paid out in 2011 (2010: DKK 18 million) and
DKK 6 million on other insurances (2010: DKK 7 million). New
provisions of DKK 8 million for industrial injuries and DKK 40 million
for otherinsurances were recognised in 2011.

The restructuring provisions relates to Falkenberg, and the merger
of Milko and acquisition of Allgduland in 2011.

All provisions except from industrial injuries are expected to be
used within 1 year.
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Note 17 Long-term liabilities

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Amounts owed to mortgage credit institutions and banks, etc., and

Long-term liabilities

! K X DKK million 2011 2010
issued corporate bonds are recognised at the date of borrowing, at -
the net proceeds received less transaction costs paid. In subsequent Subordinated bond loan 0 1,000
periods, the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, Issued bonds 1,251 0
corresponding to the capitalised value, using the effective interest ) T
method. Accordingly, the difference between the proceeds and the Mort.gz.age .cre.dlt institutes 5,985 4,965
nominal value is recognised in the income statement under financial Creditinstitutions, etc. 1,903 1,498
income or costs over the term of the loan. Recognised value 9,139 7,463
Amounts owed to credit institutions, etc., also include the - X -
capitalised residual obligation on finance leases. The interest Debt to credit institutions is recognised
. e as follows in the balance sheet:
element of the lease payment is recognised in the income statement
over the term of the lease. Long-term liabilities 9,031 7,359
Short-term liabilities 108 104
Recognised value 9,139 7,463
Nominal value 9,364 7,589
The Group’s net interest bearing debt excluding pension commitments
2011 Falls due (number of years after the financial year)
Equivalent value
DKK million Total 0-1 1-2 2-3 3-5 5-7 7-10 10+
DKK 5,756 -227 87 87 232 299 1,465 3,813
EUR 887 -63 8 574 15 353 0 0
GBP 554 54 14 486 0 0 0 0
SEK 2,409 1,126 20 0 1,251 0 0 12
Other 384 69 1 312 0 1 1 0
Total 2011 9,990 959 130 1,459 1,498 653 1,466 3,825
2010 Falls due (number of years after the financial year)
Equivalent value
DKK million Total 0-1 1-2 2-3 3-5 5-7 7-10 10+
DKK 5,727 =251 45 92 1,177 351 1,162 3,151
EUR 1,018 69 12 18 570 347 2 0
GBP 42 -46 33 14 29 12 0 0
SEK 1,354 1,322 20 0 0 0 0 12
Other 316 4 0 1 309 0 1 1
Total 2010 8,457 1,098 110 125 2,085 710 1,165 3,164

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Most of the Group’s long-term liabilities are based on Danish
mortgage loans with terms of up to 30 years with security in the
Group’s plantsin Denmark, Sweden and the UK.

In May 2011 Arla obtained additional 30 year mortgage funding of
approximately DKK 1,000 million.

InJune 2011 Arlaissued a SEK 1,500 million denominated bond
maturing in 2016, of which SEK 1,150 million are at a fixed interest of
5% and SEK 350 million are at a floating interest of Stibor 3 month +
1.8%. The bonds are listed on the exchange in Luxemburg. Via swaps
2/3rd of the loan is transferred into fixed EUR financing of 3,9% and
1/3rdis transferred into floating GBP financing.

As planned the subordinated loan of DKK 1,000 million with maturity
in 2014 was prepaid in May 2011.

To guarantee the debt with a nominal value of DKK 6,329 million
(compared to DKK 5,208 million at 31 December 2010), the Group
provided security in property. The book value of property is DKK
2,928 million compared to DKK 3,054 million at 31 December 2010.
With regard to open sales and repurchase transactions at 31
December 2011, bonds at a value of DKK 3,950 million have been
used in repurchase agreements. The corresponding amount for 2010
is DKK 2,756 million.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On acquisition of enterprises, business combinations are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements from the time of acquisition
and for the part of the year during which the enterprises have been
owned by the Arla Foods Group. Enterprises disposed of are
recognised in the consolidated income statements until the time of
disposal. The comparative figures are not restated for acquisitions
and divestments.

Acquisitions of enterprises are accounted for using the purchase
method, according to which the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition.
Provision is made for costs related to adopted and announced plans
to restructure the acquired enterprise in connection with the
acquisition. The tax effect of the fair value adjustments on assets and
liabilities is taken into account.

The cost of an acquired enterprise comprises the fair value of the
consideration agreed upon and costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. When a business combination agreement provides for an
adjustment to the cost of the combination contingent on future

Business combinations 2011

events, the amount of that adjustmentisincluded in the cost of the
combination if the adjustment is probable and can be measured
reliably.

Any excess of the cost of the acquired interest over the fair value
of the acquired assets and liabilities (goodwill) is recognised under
intangible assets. Goodwill is amortised in the income statement
based on anindividual assessment of the useful life of the asset, not
exceeding 20 years.

Any excess of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired over the cost of the acquisition (negative goodwill),
representing an anticipated adverse development in the acquired
enterprises, is recognised as deferred income and recognised in the
income statement as the adverse development is realised.

Gains or losses on full or partial disposal of subsidiaries, joint
ventures or associates are stated as the difference between the sales
amount and the carrying amount of net assets at the date of disposal
plus non-amortised goodwill and disposal costs. The gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement as gain on disposal of
enterprises, etc.

DKK million Hansa-Milch AG Allgduland Milko Other Total
Intangible assets (excl. goodwill) 130 4 3 47 184
Property, plant and equipment 415 137 159 39 750
Other assets 325 380 239 63 1,007
Provisions -33 -80 -160 -1 —274
Liabilities —-444 —425 —244 -40 -1,153
Total acquired net assets 393 16 -3 108 514
Goodwill 0 18 122 38 178
Purchase price incl. transaction

costs 393 34 119 146 692
Cashinacquired company 0 =28 0 0 =28
Issued capital -330 0 -51 0 -381
Other payment -28 -34 -68 -4 -134
Cash payments in the year 35 -28 0 142 149

FINANCIALREVIEW

Hansa-Milch (merger)

On 1 April 2011, Arla merged with the German Hansa Milch, located
inthe north of Germany with a weighed-in yearly volume of
approximately 500 million kg of milk. Hansa-Milch produces fresh
milk products both under its own brands and for private labels.

Arla acquired the dairy activities from Hansa Milch by paying DKK
35 million. In addition, Arla issued DKK 116 million of new
contributed capital and DKK 214 million in un-allocated collective
capital to Hansa Milch.

Allgduland (acquisition)
On 1 November, Arla acquired the Allgduland Group located in the
southern German Alps, with a weighed-in yearly volume of
approximately 230 million kg of milk. Allgduland produces specialty
cheeses.

Total consideration transferred amounted to DKK 34 million.
Based on the provisionally determined fair values of identifiable net
assets goodwill amounts to DKK 18 million.
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Milko (merger)

On 1 November, Arla merged with Sweden’s third largest dairy
cooperative, Milko located in the lower nothern region with a
weighed-in volume of approximately 230 million kg of milk. However
the competition authorities require that Arla divest the Grado dairy,
as well as a number of brands.

Arla acquired the dairy activities from Milko for a total purchase
price of DKK 119 million and Arla issued DKK 51 million of new
contributed capital to the former Milko-members. Based on the
provisionally determined fair values of identifiable net assets
goodwillamounts to DKK 122 million. The goodwill recognised is
expected to be deductable forincome tax purposes.

Other acquisitions

Other acquisitions consist of Boxholm Mejeri AB, Sundsvall Dairy and
Faurholt & Thrane I/S. For these acquisitions goodwill of DKK 38
million was recognised.

Business combinations in 2010
No company mergers or acquisitions were completed in 2010.
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Note 19 Derivatives

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at the date a
derivative contractis entered into and are measured in the balance
sheet at cost on initial recognition and, subsequently, at fair value.
Positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments
are recognised in separate line items in the balance sheet. Off-set of
positive and negative values is only made when the Group has the
right and the intention to settle several financial instruments net. The
fair value is computed on the basis of current market data and
generally accepted valuation methods.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
designated as, and qualifying for recognition as a fair value hedge of
recognised assets and liabilities are recognised in the income
statement together with changes in the value of the hedged asset or
liability as far as the hedged portion is concerned.

Cash flow hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
designated as, and qualifying for recognition as a hedge of future
cash flows are recognised directly in equity. Income and expenses
related to such hedges are transferred from equity by realisation of
the hedged item and recognised in the same financial statement item
asthe hedged item.

Net investment hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments used to
hedge netinvestments in foreign subsidiaries that are effective
hedges of currency fluctuations in these entities are recognised
directly in equity as foreign exchange adjustments.

For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss as
financial income or financial expenses.

Note 20 Contingent liabilities

DKK million 2011 2010
To cover exchange and interest rate risks,

the following forward contracts have

been entered into:

Cross currency swaps 2,142 867
Interest swaps 6,635 5,499
Securities through sales and repurchase

agreements (repo) 3,965 2,765
Net nominal sales on forward contracts

and options:

EUR 929 1,975
GBP 2,270 1,321
SEK 1,096 282
usb 2,750 1,873
RUB 93 37
Other 604 416

FINANCIALREVIEW

Cross-currency swap and interest rate swaps

In 2011, Arlaissued its first bond comprising SEK 1,500 million
denominated bond of which SEK 350 million is a floating interest rate
bond. The bond was issued as part of the funding of Arla’s activities in
non-SEK countries. Consequently, Arla has swapped the notional
amount into EUR with fixed interest and GBP with floating interest.

Repurchase agreements

Arla manages the liquidity risk by having sufficient cash resources to
fund the operating activities. In order to ensure sufficient cash
resources Arla has obtained new 30 year mortgage funding against
receiving the underlying mortgage bonds. As the mortgage bonds
are traded in an active market, they are readily convertible into cash.
In 2011, Arla have used the bonds to obtain a cost efficient short-
term funding by entering into a repurchase agreement (REPO) of the
mortgage bonds. The notional amount of repurchase agreements
has therefore increased compared to 2010.

Forward contracts and options

As described on page 32 of the management report Arla has
significant export activities and hence, Arla is exposed to changes in
the foreign currency rates. As at 31 December 2011 Arla has hedged
the majority of currency exposures to trade receivables and trade
payables in foreign currency. Furthermore 21% of the expected
foreign currency flow in 2012 are hedged.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Contingent liabilities comprises possible liabilities related to lawsuits,
disputes etc.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also
arisesinrare cases where there is a liability that cannot be
recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does
not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the
financial statements.

FINANCIALREVIEW

The group is party to a small number of lawsuits, disputes, etc. The
management believes that the outcome of these lawsuits will not
significantly impact on the Group’s financial position beyond what is
recognised in the balance sheet and/or disclosed in the annual
report.
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Contractual commitments

DKK million 2011 2010
Surety and guarantee commitments 111 129
Operational rent commitments 491 532
Operational leasing commitments 640 704
Commitmentsin relation to agreements

on the purchase of fixed assets 724 225

Note 22 Related parties

FINANCIALREVIEW

Surety and guarantee commitmentsin 2011 totalled DKK 111 million
compared to DKK 129 million in 2010. The decrease is mainly due to
EU garanties reduction.

Operational rent commitments are DKK 491 million compared to
DKK 532 million in 2010 mainly due to decrease of rent facilities in AF
UK.

Operational leasing commitments DKK 640 million compared to
DKK 704 million in 2010 due to decrease of leasing facilities in Arla
Foods AB. Commitments in relation to agreements on the purchase
of fixed assets are totalled DKK 724 million compared to DKK 225
million in 2010 mainly due to delays of the CAPEX projects

Arla Foods amba has no related parties exercising control. Related
parties exercising significant influence comprise the Board of
Representatives, the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management Board.

In addition, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are related
parties (see Group Chart in note 24).

Note 23 Co-operative members’ liability

Members of the Board of Representatives and the Board of Directors
are paid for milk supplies to Arla Foods amba on equal terms with
other members of the company. In addition, there have been no
other transactions with related parties during the year apart from
intra-group transactions that have been eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements.

Salaries and remuneration have been disclosed separately in Note
3 under staff costs.

No co-operative members are personally liable for the parent
company’s obligations.

ARLA Annual Report2011




72 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Other notes

Note 24 Group chart

Direct Group

Company name Country Currency Holding (pct.)
Arla Foods amba
Arla Foods Ingredients Group P/S Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Ingredients Energy A/S Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Ingredients KK Japan JPY 100
Arla Foods Ingredients Inc. USA usD 100
Arla Foods Ingredients Korea, Co. Ltd. Korea KRW 100
Arla Foods Ingredients S.A.* Argentina usb 50
Arla Foods Ingredients S.A. de C.V. Mexico MZN 100
AFl Partner ApS Denmark DKK 100
Cocio Chokolademaelk A/S Denmark DKK 50
Cocio Beverage International P/S Denmark DKK 100
CBIGP ApS Denmark DKK 100
AndelssmgrA.m.b.a Denmark DKK 97
Aktieselskabet J. Hansen Denmark DKK 100
J.P.Hansen Inc USA usb 100
Mejeriforeningen Denmark DKK 91
Agri-Norcold A/S ** Denmark DKK 50
Arla Foods Holding A/S Denmark DKK 100
Medlemsartikler ApS Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Distribution A/S Denmark DKK 100
Enigheden A/S Denmark DKK 100
@Bkomaelk A/S Denmark DKK 100
Danmark Protein A/S Denmark DKK 100
Cocio Chokolademalk A/S Denmark DKK 50
Arla Foods International A/S Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods UK Holding Ltd UK GBP 67
Arla Foods UK Farmers JV Company limited UK GBP 50
Arla Foods UK plc UK GBP 6
Arla Foods UK plc. UK GBP 94
Arla Foods Finance Ltd UK GBP 100
Arla Foods Holdings Co Ltd. UK GBP 100
Arla Foods UK Services Ltd UK GBP 100
Arla Foods Limited UK GBP 100
Westbury Dairies Ltd UK GBP 100
Arla Foods Westbury Ltd UK GBP 11
Arla Foods UK Property Co. Ltd UK GBP 100
Arla Foods Holding NLB.V. Netherlands EURO 100
Arla Foods B.V. Netherlands EURO 100
Arla Foods Ltda Brazil BRL 100
Dan-Vigor Ltda * Brazil BRL 50
Denmark Dairy Dev. Corporation Denmark DKK 100
Danya Foods Ltd Saudi Arabia SAR 75
AFA/S Denmark DKK 100
Thisted Dairy Foods ApS Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Finance A/S Denmark DKK 100
Danske Immobilien ApS** Denmark DKK 35
K/S Danske Immobilien ** Denmark DKK 35
Ravnsbjerg Finans ApS Denmark DKK 100
Kingdom Food Products ApS Denmark DKK 100
Ejendomsanpartsselskabet St.Ravnsbjerg Denmark DKK 100
A/S af05.06.92 Denmark DKK 100
ArlaInsurance Company Ltd Denmark DKK 100
Rynkeby Foods A/S Denmark DKK 50
Kinmaco ApS Denmark DKK 100
ArlaFoods Energy A/S Denmark DKK 100
Rynkeby Foods A/S Denmark DKK 50
Arla Foods Trading A/S Denmark DKK 100
Mejerianpartsselskabet Denmark DKK 100
Danapak Holding A/S Denmark DKK 100
Danapak A/S Denmark DKK 100
Danapak Flexibles A/S Denmark DKK 100
Fidan A/S Denmark DKK 100
Dairy FruitA/S Denmark DKK 100
Tholstrup International B.V. Netherlands EURO 100
Tholstrup Cheese Holding A/S Denmark DKK 100
Tholstrup Cheese A/S Denmark DKK 100
Tholstrup Cheese TC Sverige AB Sweden SEK 100
Arla Foods GmbH Germany EURO 100
Tholstrup Cheese USA Inc. USA usD 100
IradanS.A. Switzerland CHF 100
Tholstrup TaulovA/S Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Ingredients GmbH Germany EURO 100
Arla Tagatose Holding GmbH Germany EURO 100
Sweetgredients GmbH &Co. KG Germany EURO 50
Arla CoAr Holding GmbH Germany EURO 100
ArNoCo GmbH & Co. KG Germany EURO 50
ArlaBiolac Holding GmbH Germany EURO 100
Biolac Verwaltungs GmbH Germany EURO 50
Biolac GmbH & Co KG * Germany EURO 50
Arla Foods Kuwait Company LLC Kuwait KWD 49
Arla Kallassi Foods Lebanon S.A.L. Lebanon usb 50
Arla Foods Qatar WLL Qatar QAR 40
AFIQ, WLL Bahrain BHD 25
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Company name Country Currency Holding (pct.)
WLL Arla Foods Iraq Iraq 1ab 100
Arla Foods AB Sweden SEK 100
Boxholm Mejeri AB Sweden SEK 100
HB Grado Produktion Sweden SEK 100
Rynkeby Foods Férvaltning AB Sweden SEK 100
Rynkeby Foods HB Sweden SEK 100
Arlalngman Oy Ab Finland EURO 100
Ranuan Meijeri Oy Finland EURO 99
Kiteen Meijeri Oy Finland EURO 99
Halkivahan Meijeri Oy Finland EURO 97
JkJuusto Kaira Oy Finland EURO 58
Massby Facility & Services Oy Finland EURO 60
Arla Foods UK Holding Ltd UK GBP 33
Restaurang akademien Aktiebolag ** Sweden SEK 50
Arla Foods Russia Holding AB Sweden SEK 75
Arla Foods Artis Ltd Russia RUB 100

L&L International Aktiebolag Sweden SEK 100
Arla Foods Specialost AB Sweden SEK 100
Nordic Food Ingredients AB Sweden SEK 100
Nordic Soft Food AB Sweden SEK 50
FIMA Foods AB Sweden SEK 33
Aktiebolaget Solglass AB Sweden SEK 100
Svensk Ekologisk Mjolk AB Sweden SEK 100
Milko Utbildnings AB Sweden SEK 100
Silvadden AB Sweden SEK 100
Bull-Olles Bageri AB Sweden SEK 100
Milko Sverige AB Sweden SEK 100

AM Foods Hot ApS Denmark DKK 100
AFFP/S UK GBP 100
AFF Partner A/S Denmark DKK 100
Danish Food Consultants A/S Denmark DKK 100
Arla Foods Holding AB Sweden SEK 100
AM Foods AB Sweden SEK 100
Arla Foods Ingredients AB Sweden SEK 100
FIMA Foods AB Sweden SEK 67
Arla Foods Inc USA usD 100
Arla Foods Production LLC USA usD 100
Arla Foods Transport LLC USA usD 100
Arla Foods Sp. Z.0.0. Poland PLN 100
Arla Foods SA Poland PLN 100
Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd.* China CNY 49
Arla Foods Inc. Canada CAD 100
Arla Global Financial Services Centre Sp.Z.0.0. Poland PLN 100
Arla National Foods Products LLC UAE AED 40
Hansa Milch AG Germany EURO 100
Hansano GmbH Germany EURO 100
Gastoline GmbH Germany EURO 100
Molkerei Karstadt GmbH Germany EURO 100
Hahnheider Milch GmbH Germany EURO 100
Allgdulaund-Kasereien GmbH Germany EURO 98
Allgduland Frische GmbH Germany EURO 50
Molkerei-Zentrale Sidwest eG Germany EURO 99
Sengele SAS France EURO 100

MZ Sidwest Alsace SAS France EURO 99
Team-Pack GmbH Germany EURO 100

SOTO Tofu GmbH Germany EURO 100

ALDA GmbH Germany EURO 90
Bergland Naturkdse GmbH** Germany EURO 50
Milei GmbH** Germany EURO 30
Allgduland-Késereien Dienstleistungs GmbH Germany EURO 100
Allgduland Frische GmbH Germany EURO 50
Allgduluer Molkerei produkts GmbH Germany EURO 100
Gesellschaft Allgduer Molkereien GmbH Germany EURO 100

Hansa Verwaltungs und Vertriebs GmbH Germany EURO 100
Hansa Logistik eG Germany EURO 100
Arla Foods Srl Italy EURO 100
ArlaFoodsS.a.r.l. France EURO 100
Arla Foods AS Norway NOK 100
ArlaFoods S.A. Spain EURO 100
Arla Foods Hellas S.A. Greece EURO 100
Svensk Mjolk Ekonomisk férening ** Sweden SEK 53

*Joint venture
** Associate companies

The Group also owns a number of companies without material commercial activities
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MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW
Board of Directors

Board of D

ELECTEDBY MEMBERS

irectors

The Board of Directors comprises 16 regularly elected milk producers, 8 from Denmark, 7 from Sweden and 1 from Germany. In Denmark
and Sweden the number of members is based on the volume of milk and the number of milk producers in the two countries. The Danish
regions each appoint a member of the Board of Directors and the remaining Swedish and Danish members are elected by the Board of
Representatives. In Sweden, the electoral committee proposes candidates. All elected members have to stand for re-election in uneven

years.

Ake Hantoft

Chairman

Laholm, Sweden

Born 1952

Board Member since 1998.
Chairman since May 2011.

Viggo @. Bloch

Varde, Denmark

Born 1955

Board Member since 2003

Bjgrn Jepsen

Borris, Denmark
Born 1963

Board Member since
May 2011

Jan Toft Ngrgaard

Vice Chairman

Ribe, Denmark

Born 1960

Board Member since 1998.
Vice chairman since

May 2011.

Palle Borgstrom Jonas Carlgren

Alvingen, Sweden Link6ping, Sweden

Born 1960 Born 1968

Board Member since 2008 Board Member since
October 2011

Thomas Johansen Uwe Krause

Egtved, Denmark Schwerin, Germany

Born 1959 Born 1952

Board Member since 2002 Board Member since
May 2011

Heléne Gunnarson
Tvaaker, Sweden

Born 1969

Board Member since 2008

Steen Ngrgaard Madsen
Silkeborg, Denmark

Born 1956

Board Member since 2005
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Torben Myrup Gunnar Pleijert Anders Ramstrom Ingela Svensson

Gundersted, Denmark Morlunda, Sweden Sunne, Sweden Gamleby, Sweden

Born 1956 Born 1949 Born 1968 Born 1957

Board Member since 2006 Board Member since 2003 Board Member since Board Member since 2007
November 2011

Pejter Sgndergaard BentJuul Sgrensen
Vestervig, Denmark £rg, Denmark

Born 1947 Born 1958

Board Member since 2002 Board Member since 1998

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

There are four employee representatives on the Arla Board of Directors: two from Denmark and two from Sweden. In Denmark, the
employees, assisted by an election committee, elect six employees to seats on the Board of Representatives. These six people then select
two among them to represent the employees on the Board of Directors. In Sweden, employee representatives are elected to seats on the
Board of Directors and the Board of Representatives at a joint annual meeting for all the union organisations. An election committee
provides a list of candidates. The Danish employee representatives are elected for a two-year period, while the Swedish employee
representatives are elected for a three-year period.

Anne-Lie Nielsen Bjarne Bundesen Leif Eriksson Bjarne Hass Nielsen
Employee at Link6ping Employee at Christiansfeld Employee at Gotene, Employee at Brabrand,
Dairy, Sweden Mejericenter, Denmark Sweden Denmark

Born 1970 Born 1958 Born 1951 Born 1956

Board Member since 2010 Board Member since 2003 Board Member since 1998 Board Member since 2011
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Executive Management Group

Peder Tuborgh Povl Krogsgaard
CEO Vice CEO

Jais Valeur
Executive Vice President

Global Categories & Operations

Christer Aberg
Executive Vice President

Consumer Sweden (and Finland)

Frederik Lotz
Executive Vice President

CFO

FinnS. Hansen
Executive Vice President

Consumer International
FromJanuary 1, 2012

Peter Gigrtz-Carlsen
Executive Vice President

Consumer Denmark

Ola Arvidsson
Executive Vice President

Corporate Human
Resources

Peter Lauritzen
Executive Vice President

Consumer UK

F

Tim @rting Jgrgensen
Executive Vice President

Consumer Germany & Netherlands
FromJanuary 1, 2012

See page 14— Organisation — for further information regarding for example responsibilities within Business groups.
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ARLA FOODS DENMARK
Arla Foods amba
Sgnderhgj 14

DK-8260 Viby J.

Telephone +45 89 38 10 00
Fax +45 86 28 16 91

E-mail arla@arlafoods.com
www.arla.com

CVR-No. 25313763

Closer to Nature"




